Richmond Board of Trustees
Regular Meeting
Thursday, January 11, 2024
Open Session 6:00 P.M.
The meeting will be held in the Resource Room.

The Board of Trustees of the Richmond School District welcomes you to this meeting. Members of the

public may be heard on any item on the Board’s agenda. Comments of the public on an item that appears

on the agenda will be allowed during consideration of that item by the Board. While not required, the
Board would appreciate it if you would identify yourself with your name and your address when
addressing the Board.

1.

Open Session Call to Order at 6:00 p.m.
1.1 Flag Salute

Public Comments
This is an opportunity for any member of the public to address the Governing

Board on any matter not on the agenda but which is within the jurisdiction of the

Board.
Approval of Agenda

Reports from Richmond Organizations and Staff
41 RCA
4.1.1 RCA Report

4.2 Superintendent/Principal Report
4.2.1 School Events/ Activity report
4.2.2 Healthy Kids Survey Results
4.2.3 LCAP Mid-year Update

4.3 Director of Buildings and Grounds
4.3.1 Director of Buildings and Grounds report

4.4 Certificated Staff and Classified Staff Report
4.4.1 Certificated Staff Report
4.4.2 C(lassified Staff Report

Curriculum/Student Performance

51  Upcoming Winter MAPS testing (Grades 3-8)

52 NAEDP pilot test; Math or Reading, February 1 (Grade 4, 8)
5.3 2023 CAASPP Comparisons

Business
6.1  Acceptance of 2021/2022 Audit Report by Stephan Roatch
Accountability ACTION

Richmond Board Agenda
January 11, 2024
Posted January 8, 2024



6.2  Approval/ Discussion of MOU with Richmond Classified

ELOP Services during non-contract school day(s) ACTION
6.3  Approval/ Discussion of Renewing Operation & Maintenance with
SiteloglQ, Inc. regarding School’s Solar System ACTION
6.4  Approval/Discussion of Year 2 of 3-year contract with Stephen
Roatch Accountancy Corporation ACTION
6.5  Approval/Discussion of Consolidated Application ACTION
7. Minutes
7.1 Approval of minutes of the regular meeting on
December 14, 2023 ACTION
8. Policy
9. Warrants
9.1  Approval of warrant list(s) for January ACTION
10.  Correspondence
11.  Information: Comments from Board Members
12.  Closed Session
12.1 Board Consideration of Appeal - District Employee Complaint
(Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 1312.1)
The Board will hear and vote on whether to grant the appeal of
Complainant regarding a Superintendent Level Response to a
Confidential Complaint against District Employee(s) ACTION
12.2  Pursuant to Government Code Section 54954.5, the Board will meet
regarding Public Employee Evaluation of Performance -
- Superintendent/Principal
13. Reconvene to Open Session
13.1 Announcement of action taken in Closed Session
14.  Adjournment
February Meeting
- SARC Report
- Safety Plan

Williams Quarterly Statement
Review of programs/ staffing levels for 23/24

Richmond Board Agenda
January 11, 2024
Posted January 8, 2024



2024 Meeting Calendar

February 8, 2024 June 20, 2024 (Special) October 10, 2024
March 14, 2024 June 27, 2024 November 14, 2024
April 11, 2024 August 8, 2024 December 19, 2024
May 9, 2024 September 12, 2024

Richmond Board Agenda

January 11, 2024
Posted January 8, 2024



Smarter Summative ELA and Math
2023-2024
District Comparison

ELA - Grade 3

School District Not Met Nearly Met Met Exceeded Met & Exceeded
Janesville 41.18% 23.53% 17.65% | 17.65% 35.30%
Johnstonville 33.33% 38.10% 28.57% 0.00% 28.57%
Long Valley Charter 50.00% 27.78% 5.56% 16.67% 22.23%
Mt. Lassen Charter * * * * g
Richmond 19.05% 52.38% 14.29% | 14.29% 28.58%
Shaffer 52.17% 26.09% 8.70% 13.04% 21.74%
Susanville 32.74% 28.32% 26.55% | 12.39% 38.94%
Thompson Peak * ¥ % 4 *
Westwood 54.55% 9.09% 27.27% 9.09% 36.36%

| Statewide | 34.64% | 22.40% | 19.56% | 23.40% | | 42.96%

Math - Grade 3

School District Not Met Nearly Met Met Exceeded Met & Exceeded
Janesville 29.41% 35.29% 32.35% 2.94% 35.29%
Johnstonville 42.86% 14.29% 33.33% 9.52% 42.85%
Long Valley Charter 44.44% 33.33% 16.67% 5.56% 22.23%
Mt. Lassen Charter & * u . L
Richmond 23.81% 23.81% 47.62% 4.76% 52.38%
Shaffer 47.83% 21.74% 21.74% 8.70% 30.44%
Susanville 39.82% 30.97% 23.89% 5.31% 29.20%
Thompson Peak o N * . &
Westwood 63.64% 18.18% 18.18% 0.00% 18.18%

| Statewide | 3297% | 21.92% |2475% | 2036% | | 45.11% |




ELA - Grade 4

School District Not Met Nearly Met Met Exceeded Met & Exceeded
Janesville 54.05% 21.62% 16.22% 8.11% 24.33%
Johnstonville 30.43% 26.09% 30.43% | 13.04% 43.47%
Long Valley Charter 33.33% 33.33% 27.78% 5.56% 33.34%
Mt. Lassen Charter 58.33% 8.33% 8.33% 25.00% 33.33%
Richmond 50.00% 9.09% 18.18% | 22.73% 40.91%
Shaffer 50.00% 15.38% 23.08% | 11.54% 34.62%
Susanville 55.81% 15.12% 23.26% 5.81% 29.07%
Thompson Peak & * a e *
Westwood 43.75% 43.75% 6.25% 6.25% 12.50%

| Statewide 36.89% | 19.37% [19.74% | 24.00% | | 43.74%

Math - Grade 4

School District Not Met Nearly Met Met Exceeded Met & Exceeded
Janesville 32.43% 43.24% 24.32% 0.00% 24.32%
Johnstonville 8.70% 43.48% 30.43% | 17.39% 47.82%
Long Valley Charter 38.89% 44.44% 16.67% 0.00% 16.67%

Mt. Lassen Charter 58.33% 16.67% 25.00% 0.00% 25.00%
Richmond 31.82% 27.27% 22.73% | 18.18% 40.91%
Shaffer 46.15% 34.62% 15.38% 3.85% 19.23%
Susanville 40.00% 31.76% 24.71% 3.53% 28.24%
Thompson Peak * * * i *
Westwood 37.50% 43.75% 12.50% 6.25% 18.75%
| Statewide 31.06% | 28.14% | 22.12% | 18.68% | |  40.80%




ELA - Grade 5

School District Not Met Nearly Met Met Exceeded Met & Exceeded
Janesville 26.47% 26.47% 35.29% 11.76% 47.05%
Johnstonville 42.31% 15.38% 19.23% | 23.08% 42.31%
Long Valley Charter 47.62% 19.05% 28.57% 4.76% 33.33%
Mt. Lassen Charter 72.73% 18.18% 0.00% 9.09% 9.09%
Richmond 13.33% 13.33% 46.67% | 26.67% 73.34%
Shaffer 43.48% 21.74% 21.74% 13.04% 34.78%
Susanville 39.45% 22.02% 27.52% 11.01% 38.53%
Thompson Peak * * * * *
Westwood 45.45% 0.00% 45.45% 9.09% 54.54%

| statewide | 33.36% | 19.95% | 24.81% | 21.87% | [ 46.68%

Math - Grade 5

School District Not Met Nearly Met Met Exceeded Met & Exceeded
Janesville 23.53% 38.24% 26.47% 11.76% 38.23%
Johnstonville 30.77% 23.08% 23.08% 23.08% 46.16%
Long Valley Charter 42.86% 38.10% 4.76% 14.29% 19.05%
Mt. Lassen Charter 81.82% 9.09% 0.00% 9.09% 9.09%
Richmond 20.00% 26.67% 20.00% | 33.33% 53.33%
Shaffer 60.87% 17.39% 17.39% 4.35% 21.74%
Susanville 49.54% 23.85% 12.84% 13.76% 26.60%
Thompson Peak i * g . *
Westwood 45.45% 9.09% 27.27% 18.18% 45.45%

| Statewide | 4146% | 25.16% [15.09% | 18.29% | | 33.38%




ELA - Grade 6

School District Not Met Nearly Met Met Exceeded  Met & Exceeded
Janesville 34.29% 45.71% 17.14% 2.86% 20.00%
Johnstonville 50.00% 16.67% 27.78% 5.56% 33.34%
Long Valley Charter 53.33% 40.00% 6.67% 0.00% 6.67%
Mt. Lassen Charter 5 * i 4 i
Richmond 23.08% 19.23% 42.31% | 15.38% 57.69%
Shaffer 33.33% 42.86% 19.05% 4.76% 23.81%
Susanville 30.86% 34.57% 27.16% 7.41% 34.57%
Thompson Peak * * * g i
Westwood 15.38% 15.38% 53.85% | 15.38% 69.23%

| Statewide 30.82% 25.01% | 27.25% | 16.92% | | 44.17%

Math - Grade 6

School District Not Met Nearly Met Met Exceeded  Met & Exceeded

Janesville 48.57% 31.43% 11.43% 8.57% 20.00%
Johnstonville 50.00% 16.67% 16.67% 16.67% 33.34%
Long Valley Charter 93.33% 6.67% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Mt. Lassen Charter o N * = s
Richmond 19.23% 42.31% 15.38% | 23.08% 38.46%
Shaffer 47.62% 28.57% 19.05% 4.76% 23.81%
Susanville 40.74% 34.57% 13.58% 11.11% 24.69%
Thompson Peak i * i * &
Westwood 7.69% 46.15% 38.46% 7.69% 46.15%

| Statewide 41.03% 25.78% | 15.84% | 17.35% | | 33.19%




ELA - Grade 7

School District Not Met Nearly Met Met Exceeded Met & Exceeded
Janesville 32.35% 17.65% 41.18% 8.82% 50.00%
Johnstonville 28.57% 47.62% 14.29% 9.52% 23.81%
Long Valley Charter 30.30% 42.42% 24.24% 3.03% 27.27%
Mt. Lassen Charter 47.37% 26.32% 26.32% 0.00% 26.32%
Richmond 14.29% 23.81% 42.86% | 19.05% 61.91%
Shaffer 34.38% 34.38% 25.00% 6.25% 31.25%
Susanville 42.57% 23.76% 25.74% 7.92% 33.66%
Thompson Peak 45.00% 30.00% 20.00% 5.00% 25.00%
Westwood 30.77% 38.46% 23.08% 7.69% 30.77%

| Statewide 29.96% 22.60% |3051% | 16.93% | | 47.44%

Math - Grade 7

School District Not Met Nearly Met Met Exceeded Met & Exceeded

Janesville 39.39% 12.12% 27.27% 21.21% 48.48%
Johnstonville 71.43% 19.05% 0.00% 9.52% 9.52%
Long Valley Charter 48.48% 33.33% 12.12% 6.06% 18.18%
Mt. Lassen Charter 57.89% 26.32% 15.79% 0.00% 15.79%
Richmond 23.81% 33.33% 28.57% | 14.29% 42.86%
Shaffer 46.88% 28.13% 12.50% | 12.50% 25.00%
Susanville 48.51% 30.69% 11.88% 8.91% 20.79%
Thompson Peak 75.00% 15.00% 10.00% 0.00% 10.00%
Westwood 30.77% 46.15% 15.38% 7.69% 23.07%

| Statewide 42.33% 2450% | 16.25% | 16.92% | | 33.17%




ELA - Grade 8

School District Not Met  Nearly Met Met Exceeded Met & Exceeded
Janesville 20.00% 30.00% 30.00% | 20.00% 50.00%
Johnstonville 33.33% 33.33% 26.67% 6.67% 33.34%
Long Valley Charter 23.81% 19.05% 38.10% | 19.05% 57.15%
Mt. Lassen Charter i * N * 5
Richmond 17.65% 41.18% 23.53% | 17.65% 41.18%
Shaffer 38.89% 27.78% 27.78% 5.56% 33.34%
Susanville 39.22% 25.49% 27.45% 7.84% 35.29%
Thompson Peak 43.48% 43.48% 13.04% 0.00% 13.04%
Westwood 35.29% 17.65% 35.29% | 11.76% 47.05%

| Statewide | 29.65% | 24.68% |29.79% | 1587% | |  45.66%

Math - Grade 8

School District Not Met Nearly Met Met Exceeded Met & Exceeded
Janesville 30.00% 30.00% 30.00% | 10.00% 40.00%
Johnstonville 73.33% 6.67% 13.33% 6.67% 20.00%
Long Valley Charter 52.38% 23.81% 14.29% 9.52% 23.81%

Mt. Lassen Charter * a N al =

Richmond 29.41% 35.29% 5.88% 29.41% 35.29%
Shaffer 50.00% 22.22% 11.11% 16.67% 27.78%
Susanville 64.36% 15.84% 9.90% 9.90% 19.80%
Thompson Peak 75.00% 20.83% 4.17% 0.00% 4.17%
Westwood 47.06% 35.29% 11.76% 5.88% 17.64%

| Statewide | 4833% | 21.73% | 13.29% | 16.65% | |  29.94%




RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
COUNTY OF LASSEN
SUSANVILLE, CALIFORNIA
AUDIT REPORT

JUNE 30, 2023

-



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT

JUNE 30, 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FINANCIAL SECTION

Independent Auditor's Report
Management’'s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
Basic Financial Statements:
Government-wide Financial Statements:
Statement of Net Position
Statement of Activities
Fund Financial Statements:
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet
to the Statement of Net Position

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of
Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
to the Statement of Activities

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION SECTION

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balances - Budget and Actual - General Fund

Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - CalSTRS
Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - CalPERS
Schedule of Contributions - CalSTRS
Schedule of Contributions - CalPERS

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

47

48

49

50

51

52



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT

JUNE 30, 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONCLUDED)

Page
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION SECTION
Organization/Board of Trustees/Administration 55
Combining Statements:
Combining Balance Sheet - Non-Major Governmental Funds 56
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balances - Non-Major Governmental Funds 58
Schedule of Average Daily Attendance 60
Schedule of Instructional Time 61
Reconciliation of Annual Financial and Budget Report
with Audited Financial Statements 62
Schedule of Financial Trends and Analysis 63
Notes to Supplementary Information 64
OTHER INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORTS SECTION
Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing
Standards 65
Independent Auditor's Report on State Compliance and on
Internal Control over Compliance for State Programs 67
FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS SECTION
Scheduie of Findings and Questioned Costs:
Section] -  Summary of Auditor's Results 71
Section Il -  Financial Statement Findings 72
Section Ill -  State Award Findings and Questioned Costs 74

Status of Prior Year Recommendations 76



FINANCIAL SECTION



STEPHEN ROATCH ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION
Certified Public Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Board of Trustees
Richmond School District
Susanville, California

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Richmond School District, as of
and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

in our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Richmond School District, as of
June 30, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position thereof for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of Richmond
School District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant
ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the
Richmond School District's ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the
financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial
doubt shortly thereafter.

1
P.O. Box 2196 / Folsom, CA 95763 / Phone (916) 966-3883 / Fax (916) 966-3815




Board of Trustees
Richmond School District
Page Two

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they
would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Govemment
Auditing Standards, we:

» Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

« |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Richmond Schoal District’s internal control. Accordingly, no
such opinion is expressed.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

s Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Richmond School District’'s ability to continue as
a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal
control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, schedules of the
proportionate share of the net pension liabilities, and schedules of contributions be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management
and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because
the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide
any assurance.

2



Board of Trustees
Richmond School District
Page Three

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Concluded)

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise Richmond School District’s basic financial statements. The accompanying
combining nonmajor fund financial statements, reconciliation of annual financial and budget report
with audited financial statements, and other supporting schedules are presented for purposes of
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is
the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining
nonmajor fund financial statements, reconciliation of annual financial and budget report with
audited financial statements, and other supporting schedules are fairly stated, in all material
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The Schedule of Financial Trends and Analysis has not been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on it.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
December 14, 2023 on our consideration of the Richmond School District’s internal control over
financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Richmond
School District’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Govermment Auditing Standards in
considering Richmond School District’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

STEPHEN ROATCH ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION
Certified Public Accountants
December 14, 2023



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

(PREPARED BY DISTRICT MANAGEMENT)

This section of Richmond School District's annual financial report presents our discussion and
analysis of the District’s financial performance during the fiscal year that ended on June 30, 2023.
Please read it in conjunction with the Independent Auditor's Report presented on pages
1 through 3, and the District’s financial statements, which immediately follow this section.

USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The Statement of Net Position and
Statement of Activities, presented on pages 14 and 15, provides information about the activities of
the District as a whole and presents a longer-term view of the District’s finances. The fund
financial statements for governmental activities, presented on pages 16 through 19, provide
information about how District services were financed in the short-term, and how much remains
for future spending. Fund financial statements also report the District’s operations in more detail
than the government-wide statements by providing information about the District's most significant
funds.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

» The District's overall financial status improved over the course of the year, as total net
position increased 15%.

» On the Statement of Activities, total current year revenues exceeded total current year
expenses by $521,849.

> Net capital assets increased $28,723, due to the current year addition of $95,974 of new
capital assets and improvements, and the current year recognition of $124,697 of
depreciation expense.

» Total long-term liabilities increased $853,156 due to the current year increase in the
District’'s net pension liabilities related to its participation in the CalSTRS and CalPERS
pension plans.

> During fiscal year 2022-23, the District's General Fund produced an operating surplus of
$463,256 but reported a $890,657 decrease in its available reserves due to a larger
portion of the ending fund balance being assigned for other specific purposes.

» The District maintains sufficient reserves for a district its size. It meets the state required
minimum reserve for economic uncertainty of 5% of General Fund expenditures, transfers
out, and other uses (total outgo). During fiscal year 2022-23, General Fund expenditures
totaled $2,445,991. At June 30, 2023, the District had available reserves of $693,914 in
the General Fund which represents a reserve of 28.4%.



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

(PREPARED BY DISTRICT MANAGEMENT)

THE FINANCIAL REPORT

The full annual financial report consists of three separate parts, including the basic financial
statements, supplementary information, and management'’s discussion and analysis. The three
sections together provide a comprehensive overview of the District. The basic financial statements
are comprised of two kinds of statements that present financial information from different
perspectives, government-wide and funds.

» Government-wide financial statements, which comprise the first two statements, provide
both short-term and long-term information about the District's overall financial position.

> Individual parts of the District, which are reported as fund financial statements comprise
the remaining statements.

% Basic services funding is described in the governmental funds statements. These
statements include short-term financing and identify the balance remaining for
future spending.

Notes to the financials, which are included in the financial statements, provide more detailed data,
and explain some of the information in the statements. The required supplementary information
provides further explanations and provides additional support for the financial statements.
A comparison of the District's budget for the year is included.

Reporting the District as a Whole

The District as a whole is reported in the government-wide statements and uses accounting
methods similar to those used by companies in the private sector. All of the District's assets and
liabilities are included in the Statement of Net Position. The Statement of Activities reports all of
the current year’s revenues and expenses regardless of when cash is received or paid.

The District's financial health (net position) can be measured by the difference between the
District’s assets and liabilities.

» Increases or decreases in the net position of the District over time are indicators of
whether its financial position is improving or deteriorating, respectively.

» Additional non-financial factors such as the condition of school buildings and other
facilities, and changes in the property tax base of the District need to be considered in
assessing the overall health of the District.



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

(PREPARED BY DISTRICT MANAGEMENT)

THE FINANCIAL REPORT (CONCLUDED)

Reporting the District as a Whole (Concluded)

In the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities all amounts presented represent
governmental activities, since the District does not provide any services that should be
categorized as business-type activities.

The basic services provided by the District, such as regular education and administration are
included here, and are primarily financed by property taxes and state formula aid. Non-basic
services, such as child nutrition are also included here, but are financed by a combination of local

revenues and state and federal programs.

Reporting the District's Most Significant Funds:

The District’'s fund-based financial statements provide detailed information about the District’s
most significant funds. Some funds are required to be established by State law and bond
covenants. However, the District establishes many other funds as needed to control and
manage money for specific purposes.

Govemmental Funds

The major governmental funds of the Richmond School District are the General Fund and the
Capital Projects - Special Reserve Fund. Governmental fund reporting focuses on how money
flows into and out of the funds and the balances that remain at the end of the year.

A modified accrual basis of accounting measures cash and all other financial assets that can
readily be converted to cash. The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term
view of the District’s operations and services. Governmentatl fund information helps to determine
the level of financial resources available in the near future to finance the District's programs.



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

(PREPARED BY DISTRICT MANAGEMENT)

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT AS A WHOLE

The District's overall financial status improved over the course of the year, as total net position
increased 15%.

Comparative Statement of Net Position
Governmental
Activities
2022 2023

Assets
Deposits and Investments $ 3,113,497 % 3,180,592
Receivables 193,583 215,673
Capital Assets, net 2,092,210 2,063,487

Total Assets 5,399,290 5,459,752
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension Deferrals 496,902 931,610
Liabilities
Current 636,617 204,425
Long-Term 1,017,207 1,870,363

Total Liabilities 1,653,824 2,074,788
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Pension Deferrals 776,071 330,453
Net Position
Investment in Capital Assets 2,092,210 2,063,487
Restricted 338,966 650,850
Unrestricted 1,035,121 1,271,784

Total Net Position $ 3,466,297 % 3,986,121

Table includes financial data of the combined govermmental funds




RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

(PREPARED BY DISTRICT MANAGEMENT)

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT AS A WHOLE (CONTINUED)

The District's total current year revenues exceeded total current year expenses by $521,849.

Comparative Statement of Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities
2022 2023

Program Revenues

Charges for Services $ 1,887 $ 1,207

Operating Grants & Contributions 594,155 795,002
General Revenues

Taxes Levied 208,398 124,853

Federal & State Aid 1,776,944 1,968,406

Other Revenues (58,168) 202,683
Total Revenues 2,523,216 3,092,151
Expenses

Instruction 1,299,693 1,365,195

Instruction-Related Services 249,278 259,966

Pupil Services 185,648 279,979

General Administration 230,725 303,561

Plant Services 211,504 310,961

Other Expenses 51,484 50,640
Total Expenses 2,228,332 2,570,302
Change in Net Position 3 294,884 $ 521,849

Table includes financial data of the combined governmental funds




RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

(PREPARED BY DISTRICT MANAGEMENT)

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT AS A WHOLE (CONTINUED)

Comparative Schedule of Costs of Services

Total Cost of Services Net Cost (Revenues) of Services

2022 2023 2022 2023
Instruction $ 1,299,693 $ 1,365,195 § 902,107 $ 902,777
Instruction-Related Services 249,278 259,966 187,926 216,489
Pupil Services 185,648 279,979 82,664 29,308
General Administration 230,725 303,561 223,695 296,834
Plant Services 211,504 310,961 211,504 301,545
Other Expenses 51,484 50,640 24,394 27,140
Totals $ 2,228,332 $ 2,570,302 $ 1,632,290 $ 1,774,093

Table includes financial data of the combined govemmental funds

The table above presents the cost of major District activities. The table also shows each activity’s
net cost (total cost less fees generated by the activities and intergovernmental aid provided for
specific programs). The $1,774,093 net cost represents the financial burden that was placed on
the District’s general revenues for providing the services listed.

120.0% — - S ——

100,0% |

80.0%

60.0% |
@ Program Revenues
40.0% |

#
20.0% General Revenues

0.0%

During fiscal year 2022-23, program revenues financed 31% of the total cost of providing the
services listed above, while the remaining 69% was financed by the general revenues of the
District.



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

(PREPARED BY DISTRICT MANAGEMENT)

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT AS A WHOLE (CONTINUED)

Summary of Revenues For Governmental Functions

FYE 2022 Percent of FYE 2023 Percent of
Amount Total Amount Total
Program Revenues
Charges for Services $ 1,887 0.07% $ 1,207 0.04%
Operating Grants & Contributions 594,155 23.55% 795,002 25.71%
General Revenues
Taxes Levied 208,398 8.26% 124,853 4.04%
Federal & State Aid 1,776,944 70.42% 1,968,406 63.66%
Other Revenues (58,168) -2.31% 202,683 6.55%
Total Revenues 3 2,623,216 100.00% 3 3,092,151 100.00%

Table includes financial data of the combined governmental funds

$2,500,000 -

$2,000,000

$1,500,000

$1,000,000

$500,000

$-

$(500,000) —

Comparative Revenues

@ Charges for Services

@ Operating Grants & Contributions

@ Taxes Levied

[ Federal & State Aid

® Other Revenues

10




RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

(PREPARED BY DISTRICT MANAGEMENT)

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT AS A WHOLE (CONTINUED)

Schedule of Expenses For Governmental Functions

FYE 2022 Percent of FYE 2023 Percent of
Amount Total Amount Total

Expenses

Instruction $ 1,299,693 58.33% $ 1,365,195 53.11%

Instruction-Related Services 249,278 11.19% 259,966 10.11%

Pupil Services 185,648 8.33% 279,979 10.89%

General Administration 230,725 10.35% 303,561 11.81%

Plant Services 211,504 9.49% 310,961 12.10%

Other Expenses 51,484 2.31% 50,640 1.97%
Total Expenses $ 2,228,332 100.00% $ 2,570,302 100.00%

Table includes financial data of the combined governmental funds

Comparative Expenses

$1,600,000 —
$1,400,000
$1,200,000
@ Instruction
$1,000,000
| Instruction-Related Services
l SEROA0 Pupil Services
$600,000 8 General Administration
$400,000 dOPlant Services
B8 Other Expenses
$200,000
$-

11




RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

(PREPARED BY DISTRICT MANAGEMENT)

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT AS A WHOLE (CONCLUDED)

Comparative Schedule of Capital Assets
Governmental
Activities
2022 2023
Land $ 279,380 $ 279,380
Sites and Improvements 788,403 788,403
Buildings and Improvements 3,119,735 3,360,817
Furniture and Equipment 294,465 294,465
Construction-in-Progress 145,108 0
Subtotals 4,627,091 4,723,065
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (2,534,881) (2,659,578)
Capital Assets, net $ 2,092,210 § 2,063,487

Net capital assets increased $28,723, due to the current year addition of $95,974 of new capital
assets and improvements, and the current year recognition of $124,697 of depreciation expense.

Comparative Schedule of Long-Term Liabilities

Governmental
Activities
2022 2023
Net Pension Liabilities - CalSTRS $ 581,391 $ 757,129
Net Pension Liabilities - CalPERS 435,816 1,113,234
Totals 3 1,017,207 $ 1,870,363

Total long-term liabilities increased $853,156 due to the current year increase in the District’s net
pension liabilities related to its participation in the CalSTRS and CalPERS pension plans.

12



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

(PREPARED BY DISTRICT MANAGEMENT)

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF DISTRICT’S FUNDS

Comparative Schedule of Fund Balances
Fund Balances Fund Balances Increase
June 30, 2022 June 30, 2023 (Decrease)
General $ 2,054,861 § 2,518,117 § 463,256
Capital Projects - Special Reserves 508,662 517,216 8,554
Cafeteria 37,926 87,043 49,117
Student Activity 21,993 18,507 (3,486)
Bond Interest & Redemption 11,756 11,544 (212)
Tax Override 15,398 15,661 263
Capital Facilities 19,867 23,752 3,885
Totals $ 2,670,463 § 3,191,840 § 521,377

The fund balance of the General Fund increased $463,256, and the combined fund balances of all
other District governmental funds increased $58,121.

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

The District's budget is prepared in accordance with California law and is based on the modified
accrual basis of accounting. Over the course of the year, the District revises its budget based on
updated financial information. The original budget, approved at the end of June for July 1, is
based on May Revise figures, and updated 45 days after the State approves its final budget.
In addition, the District revises its budget at First and Second Interim.

ECONOMIC FACTORS BEARING ON THE DISTRICT’S FUTURE

Based on the 2023-24 Budget - Multiyear Budget Outlook, prepared by the Legislative Analyst’s
Office (LAO), it is very unlikely the State will be able to afford the May Revision spending
levels. Under their estimates, the State faces operating deficits throughout the multiyear window,
meaning revenues would need to come in above their projections for the budget to be balanced.
While the revenues required to balance the budget are optimistic, but plausible, in the budget
window, they are improbable in the out-years. In addition, based on their analysis, the required
level of revenue is very unlikely, and they project that there is less than a one-in-six chance the
State can afford the May Revision spending level across the five-year period. As a result, it is very
likely that the State will face more budget problems over the next few years.

Accordingly, the District's budget should continue to be managed with a great degree of
conservatism over the next few years. The District has an excellent track record in meeting this
challenge.

CONTACTING THE DISTRICT’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, parents, investors, and
creditors with a general overview of the District's finances and to show the District’s accountability
for the money it receives. If you have questions regarding this report or need additional financial
information, contact the District Office, Richmond School District, 700-585 Richmond Road, East,
Susanville, California 96130.

13



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2023

Governmental
Activities
Assets
Current Assets:
Deposits and Investments (Note 2) 3 3,180,592
Receivables (Note 3) 215,673
Non-Current Assets:
Capital Assets, Not Depreciated (Note 5) 279,380
Capital Assets, Net 1,784,107
Total Assets 5,459,752
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension Deferrals (Note 6) 931,610
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 931,610
Liabilities
Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities 117,173
Unearned Revenue (Note 1H) 87,252
Long-Term Liabilities:
Portion Due or Payable Within One Year:
Portion Due or Payable After One Year:
Net Pension Liabilities (Note 6) 1,870,363
Total Liabilities 2,074,788
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Pension Deferrals (Note 6) 330,453
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 330,453
Net Position
Investment in Capital Assets 2,063,487
Restricted:
For Capital Projects 23,752
For Debt Service 27,205
For Educational Programs 493,343
For Other Purposes 106,550
Unrestricted 1,271,784
Total Net Position $ 3,986,121

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS
14



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Net (Expense)
Revenue and
Changes in
Program Revenues Net Position
Operating Capital
Grants Grants
Charges for and and Governmental
Functions Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities
Governmental Activities
Instruction $ 1,365,195 $ 462,418 $  (902,777)
Instruction-Related Services:

Instructional Library and Technology 106,217 36,619 (69,598)

School Site Administration 153,749 6,858 (146,891)
Pupil Services:

Food Services 144,612 $ 1,168 249,503 106,059

Other Pupil Services 135,367 (135,367)
General Administration:

Other General Administration 303,561 32 6,695 (296,834)
Plant Services 310,961 7 9,409 (301,545)
Ancillary Services 52,665 23,500 (29,165)
Interest on Long-Term Debt (2,025) 2,025

Total Governmental Activities $ 2,570,302 $ 1,207 $ 795,002 $ 0 (1,774,093)
General Revenues

Taxes Levied for General Purposes 124,661
Taxes Levied for Debt Service 192
Federal and State Aid - Unrestricted 1,968,406
Interest and Investment Earnings 45,303
Miscellaneous 157,380
Total General Revenues 2,295,942
Change in Net Position 521,849
Net Position - July 1, 2022 3,464,272

Net Position - June 30, 2023 $ 3,986,121

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS
15



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2023

Capital
Projects - Non-Major Total
Special Governmental Governmental
General Reserve Funds Funds
Assets
Deposits and Investments (Note 2) $ 2,537,613 $ 517,216 $ 125,763 $ 3,180,592
Receivables (Note 3) 182,043 33,630 215,673
Due from Other Funds (Note 4) 2,624 2,624
Total Assets $ 2,722,280 $ 517,216 $ 159,393 $ 3,398,889
Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Accounts Payable $ 116,911 $ 262 $ 117,173
Due to Other Funds (Note 4) 2,624 2,624
Unearned Revenue (Note 1H) 87,252 87,252
Total Liabilities 204,163 2,886 207,049
Fund Balances: (Note 9)
Nonspendable 1,000 1,000
Restricted 493,343 156,507 649,850
Assigned 1,329,860 $ 517,216 1,847,076
Unassigned 693,914 693,914
Total Fund Balances 2,518,117 517,216 156,507 3,191,840
Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $ 2,722,280 $ 517,216 $ 159,393 $ 3,398,889

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS
16



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET TO THE
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2023

Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds $ 3,191,840

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are
different from amounts reported in governmental funds due to the following:

Capital assets: In governmental funds, only current assets are reported. In the
statement of net position, all assets are reported, including capital assets and
accumulated depreciation. Capital assets and accumulated depreciation are:

Capital Assets $ 4,723,065
Accumulated Depreciation (2,659,578)
Net 2,063,487

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources relating to pensions: In governmental
funds, deferred outflows and inflows of resources relating to pensions are not
reported because they are applicable to future periods. In the statement of net
position, deferred outflows and inflows of resources relating to pensions are
reported. The net of deferred outflows and inflows was: 601,157

Long-term liabilities: In governmental funds, only current liabilities are reported.
In the statement of net position, all liabilities, including long-term liabilities, are
reported. Long-term liabilities reported at the end of the period are:

Net Pension Liabilities (1,870,363)

Total Net Position - Governmental Activities $ 3,986,121

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS
17



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Revenues

LCFF Sources:
State Apportionment / Transfers
Local Taxes

Total LCFF Sources

Federal Revenue
State Revenue
Local Revenue

Total Revenues

Expenditures
Current:

Instruction

Instructional Library and Technology
School Site Administration

Food Services

Other Pupil Services

Other General Administration

Plant Services

Facilities Acquisition and Construction
Ancillary Services

Total Expenditures

Net Change in Fund Balances

Fund Balances - July 1, 2022

Fund Balances - June 30, 2023

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS

Capital

Projects - Non-Major Totat
Special Governmental Governmental

General Reserve Funds Funds
$ 1,897,306 $ 1,897,306
124,661 124,661
2,021,967 2,021,967
73,648 3 50,574 124,222
515,383 97,467 612,850
298,249 $ 8,554 26,309 333,112
2,909,247 8,554 174,350 3,092,151
1,328,899 1,328,899
100,960 100,960
151,055 151,055
40,520 95,853 136,373
124,483 124,483
284,764 2,738 287,502
290,981 608 291,589
95,974 95,974
28,355 25,584 53,939
2,445,991 0 124,783 2,570,774
463,256 8,554 49,567 521,377
2,054,861 508,662 106,940 2,670,463
$ 2,518,117 $ 517,216 3 156,507 $ 3,191,840

18




RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds $ 521,377

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different from amounts reported in governmental funds due to the following:

Capital outlay: In governmental funds, the costs of capital assets are reported as
expenditures in the period when the assets are acquired. In the statement of
activities, costs of capital assets are allocated over their useful lives as
depreciation expense. The difference between capital outlay expenditures and
depreciation expense for the period is:

Capital Outlays $ 95,974
Depreciation Expense (124,697)
Net (28,723)

Pensions: In governmental funds, pension costs are recognized when employer
contributions are made. In the statement of activities, pensions costs are
recognized on the accrual-basis. This year, the difference between accrual-basis
pension costs and actual employer contributions was: 27,170

Unmatured interest on long-term debt: In governmental funds, interest on long-
term debt is recognized in the period that it becomes due. In the government-wide
statement of activities, interest expense is recognized in the period that it is
incurred. Unmatured interest owed at the end of the period, less matured interest

paid during the period but owed from the prior period, was: 2,025
Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 521,849

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS
19



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A.

Financial Reporting Entity

The Richmond School District (the “District”) is a public educational agency operating under
the applicable laws and regulations of the State of California. It is governed by a five member
Board of Trustees elected by registered voters of the District, which comprises an area in
Lassen County. The District was established in 1864 and serves students in kindergarten
through eighth grade.

The District accounts for its financial transactions in accordance with the policies and
procedures of the Department of Education's California School Accounting Manual. The
accounting policies of the District conform to generally accepted accounting principles as
prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA).

A reporting entity is comprised of the primary government, component units, and other
organizations that are included to ensure the financial statements are not misleading. The
primary government of the District consists of all funds, departments, boards, and agencies
that are not legally separate from the District. For Richmond School District, this includes
general operations, food service, and student related activities of the District.

Component units are legally separate organizations for which the District is financially
accountable. Component units may also include organizations that are fiscally dependent
on the District in that the District approves their budget, the issuance of their debt or the
levying of their taxes. In addition, component units are other legally separate organizations
for which the District is not financially accountable but the nature and significance of the
organization’s relationship with the District is such that exclusion would cause the District’s
financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The District has identified no
organizations that are required to be reported as component units.

Basis of Presentation

Government-wide Financial Statements:

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the Statement of Net Position and the
Statement of Activities) report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the District.
Eliminations have been made to remove the double-counting of internal activities.

The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the economic resources
measurement focus. This is the same approach used in the preparation of the proprietary
fund and fiduciary fund financial statements but differs from the manner in which the
governmental fund financial statements are prepared. Governmental fund financial
statements, therefore, include a reconciliation with brief explanations to better identify the
relationship between the government-wide statements and the statements for the
governmental funds.

The government-wide statement of activities presents a comparison between direct
expenses and program revenues for each function or program of the District’'s governmental
activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service, program,
or department and are therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function. The District does
not allocate indirect expenses to functions in the statement of activities.

20



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

B.

Basis of Presentation (Concluded)

Government-wide Financial Statements (Concluded):

Program revenues include charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by a
program, as well as grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or
capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues which are not classified as program
revenues are presented as general revenues of the District, with certain exceptions. The
comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each
governmental function is self-financing or draws from the general revenues of the District.

Fund Financial Statements:

Fund financial statements report detailed information about the District. The focus of
governmental fund financial statements is on major funds rather than reporting funds by
type. Each major governmental fund is presented in a separate column, and all non-major
funds are aggregated into one column.

The accounting and financial treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement
focus. All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current financial resources
measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities
are generally included on the balance sheet. The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balances for these funds present increases (i.e., revenues and other
financing sources) and decreases (i.€., expenditures and other financing uses) in net current
assets.

Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures are recognized in the
accounts and reported in the financial statements. Government-wide financial statements
are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Governmental funds use the modified
accrual basis of accounting.

Revenues - Exchange and Non-exchange Transactions:

Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, in which each party gives and receives
essentially equal value, is recorded under the accrual basis when the exchange takes place.
Under the modified accrual basis, revenue is recorded in the fiscal year in which the
resources are measurable and become available. "Available” means the resources will be
collected within the current fiscal year or are expected to be collected soon enough
thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current fiscal year. For the District, “available”
means collectible within the current period or within 45, 60, 90 days after year-end,
depending on the revenue source. However, to achieve comparability of reporting among
California Districts and so as not to distort normal revenue patterns, with specific respect to
reimbursement grants and corrections to state apportionments, the California Department of
Education has defined available as collectible within one year.

21



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

C.

Basis of Accounting (Concluded)

Revenues - Exchange and Non-exchange Transactions (Concluded):

Non-exchange transactions, in which the District receives value without directly giving equal
value in return, include property taxes, grants, and entitlements. Under the accrual basis,
revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied.
Revenue from grants and entitlements is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility
requirements have been satisfied. Eligibility requirements include timing requirements, which
specify the year when the resources are to be used or the fiscal year when use is first
permitted; matching requirements, in which the District must provide local resources to be
used for a specific purpose; and expenditure requirements, in which the resources are
provided to the District on a reimbursement basis. Under the modified accrual basis, revenue
from non-exchange transactions must also be available before it can be recognized.

Unearned Revenue:

Unearned revenue arises when assets are received before revenue recognition criteria have
been satisfied. Grants and entitlements received before eligibility requirements are met
are recorded as unearned revenue. On governmental fund financial statements, receivables
associated with non-exchange transactions that will not be collected within the availability
period have also been recorded as unearned revenue.

Expenses/Expenditures:

On an accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time a liability is incurred.
On the modified accrual basis of accounting, expenditures are generally recognized in the
accounting period in which the related fund liability is incurred, as under the accrual basis
of accounting. However, under the modified accrual basis of accounting, debt service
expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and
judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. Allocations of cost, such as
depreciation and amortization, are not recognized in the governmental funds.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the District’s
policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

Fund Accounting

The accounts of the District are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered
to be a separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a
separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity or
retained earnings, revenues, and expenditures or expenses, as appropriate. District
resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purpose for
which they are to be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled. The
District maintains the following governmental fund types:

22



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

D.

Fund Accounting (Concluded)

General Fund - The General Fund is used to account for and report all financial resources
not accounted for and reported in another fund.

Special Revenue Funds - Special revenue funds are used to account for and report the
proceeds of specific revenue sources that are restricted, committed, or assigned to
expenditure for specified purposes other than debt service or capital projects.

Debt Service Funds - Debt service funds are used to account for and report financial
resources that are restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditure for principal and
interest.

Capital Projects Funds - Capital projects funds are used to account for and report financial
resources that are restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays,
including the acquisition or construction of capital facilities and other capital assets.

The District's accounts are organized into major and non-major funds, as follows:
Major Governmental Funds:
General Fund is the general operating fund of the District.

Capital Projects - Special Reserve Fund is used to account for funds that have been set
aside for current and future capital projects throughout the District.

Non-major Governmental Funds:

Cafeteria Fund is used to account for revenues received and expenditures made to operate
the District's cafeteria program.

Student Activity Fund is to account for the raising and expending of money to promote the
general welfare, and educational experience of the student body.

Bond Interest and Redemption Fund is used to account for District taxes received and
expended to pay bond interest and redeem bond principal and related costs.

Tax Override Fund is used for the repayment of voted indebtedness (other than Bond
Interest and Redemption Fund repayments) to be financed from ad valorem tax levies.

Capital Facilities Fund is used to account for resources received from developer impact fees
assessed under provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America for all governmental funds. By state law, the
District's Governing Board must adopt a final budget no later than July 1. A public hearing
must be conducted to receive comments prior to adoption. The District's Governing Board
satisfied these requirements.

23



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

E.

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting (Concluded)

These budgets are revised by the District's Governing Board and Superintendent during the
year to give consideration to unanticipated income and expenditures. The original and final
revised budgets are presented for the General Fund as required supplementary information
on page 47.

Formal budgetary integration was employed as a management control device during the
year for all budgeted funds. The District employs budget control by minor object and by
individual appropriation accounts. Expenditures cannot legally exceed appropriations by
major object account.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Encumbrances

Encumbrance accounting is used in all budgeted funds to reserve portions of applicable
appropriations for which commitments have been made. Encumbrances are recorded for
purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments when they are written. Encumbrances
are liquidated when the commitments are paid. All encumbrances are liquidated at June 30.

Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and
Fund Equity

1. Deposits and Investmenis

The District is authorized to maintain cash in banks and revolving funds that are insured
to $250,000 by the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC). The District is
considered to be an involuntary participant in an external investment pool as the District
is required to deposit all receipts and collections of monies with their County Treasurer
(Education Code Section 41001). The County is authorized to deposit cash and invest
excess funds by California Government Code Section 53648 et seq. The funds
maintained by the County are either secured by the FDIC or are collateralized.

The District is authorized under California Government Code to make direct investments
in local agency bonds, notes, or warrants within the State; U.S. Treasury instruments;
registered State warrants or treasury notes; securities of the U.S. Government, or its
agencies; bankers acceptances; commercial paper; certificates of deposit placed with
commercial banks and/or savings and loan companies; repurchase or reverse
repurchase agreements; medium term corporate notes; shares of beneficial interest
issued by diversified management companies; certificates of participation; obligations
with first priority security; and collateralized mortgage obligations.

24



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

H. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and

Fund Equity (Continued)

1.

Deposits and Investments (Concluded)

Investments with original maturities greater than one year are stated at fair value. Fair
value is estimated based on quoted market prices at year-end. All investments not
required to be reported at fair value are stated at cost or amortized cost.

Prepaid Expenses/Expenditures

Payments made to vendors for goods or services that will benefit periods beyond the
fiscal year ended, are recorded as prepaid items using the consumption method. A
current asset for the prepaid amount is recorded at the time of the purchase and an
expenditure/expense is reported in the year in which goods or services are consumed.
Reported prepaid expenses/expenditures are equally offset by a reserve, which indicates
that these amounts are not available for appropriation. The District had no prepaid
expenses/expenditures balance as of June 30, 2023.

Capital Assets

Capital assets purchased or acquired with an original cost of $5,000 or more are
reported at historical cost or estimated historical cost. Contributed assets are reported at
fair market value as of the date received. Additions, improvements, and other capital
outlays that significantly extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized. The costs of
normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the assets or materially
extend the asset’s lives are not capitalized but are expensed as incurred.

Depreciation on all capital assets is computed using a straight-line basis over the
following estimated useful lives:

Asset Class Years
Sites and Improvements 20-25
Buildings and Improvements 20-50
Furniture and Equipment 5-15

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the District will sometimes report a separate section for deferred
outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of
resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and
so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.

In addition to liabilities, the District will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred
inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future
period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources until that time.

25



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

H. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and
Fund Equity (Continued)

5. Unearned Revenue

Cash received for federal, and state special projects and programs is recognized as
revenue to the extent that qualified expenditures have been incurred. Unearned revenue
is recorded to the extent that cash received on specific projects and programs
exceeds qualified expenditures.

6. Compensated Absences

All vacation pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide financial statements.
The District had no compensated absences balance as of June 30, 2023.

Accumulated sick leave benefits are not recognized as liabilities of the District. The
District’s policy is to record sick leave as an operating expense in the period taken, since
such benefits do not vest, nor is payment probable; however, unused sick leave is added
to the creditable service period for calculation of retirement benefits when the employee
retires.

7. Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information
about the fiduciary net position of the California State Teachers’ Retirement System
(CalSTRS) and California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS), and
additions to/deductions from the CalSTRS’ and CalPERS’ fiduciary net position have
been determined on the same basis as they are reported by CalSTRS and CalPERS.
For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments
are reported at fair value.

8. Long-Term Liabilities

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term
obligations are reported as long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. Bond
premiums are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds when material. Bonds
payable are reported net of applicable bond premium or discount.

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums and
discounts as well as bond issuance costs, during the year of issuance. The face amount
of the debt issued, premiums, or discounts is reported as other financing sources or
uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received,
are reported as expenditures.

26



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

H. Assets, Deferred QOutflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and
Fund Equity (Continued)

9. Fund Balances

The governmental fund financial statements present fund balances based on
classifications that comprise a hierarchy that is based primarily on the extent to which
the District is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in
the respective governmental funds can be spent. The allowable classifications used in
the governmental fund financial statements are as follows:

Nonspendable Fund Balance consists of funds that cannot be spent due to their form
(e.g., inventories and prepaids) or funds that legally or contractually must be maintained
intact.

Restricted Fund Balance consists of funds that are mandated for a specific purpose by
external parties, constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

Committed Fund Balance consists of funds that are set aside for a specific purpose by
the District’s highest level of decision-making authority (Governing Board). Formal action
must be taken prior to the end of the fiscal year. The same formal action must be taken
to remove or change the limitations placed on the funds.

Assigned Fund Balance consists of funds that are set aside with the intent to be used for
a specific purpose by the District’s highest level of decision-making authority or a body or
official that has been given the authority to assign funds. Assigned funds cannot
cause a deficit in unassigned fund balance. In accordance with board policy, the
Superintendent and Business Manager have been given this authority.

Unassigned Fund Balance consists of excess funds that have not been classified in the
previous four categories. All funds in this category are considered spendable resources.
This category also provides the resources necessary to meet unexpected expenditure
and revenue shortfalls. In accordance with board policy, the District intends to maintain
a Reserve for Economic Uncertainties of at least three months of the total General Fund
operating expenditures (including other financing). In the event the fund balance drops
below the established level, the Governing Board will develop a plan to replenish the
fund balance to the established minimum level.

The District considers restricted fund balances to have been spent first when an
expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund
balance is available. Similarly, when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which
amounts in any of the unrestricted classifications of fund balance could be used, the
District considers committed amounts to be reduced first, followed by assigned amounts
and then unassigned amounts.

27



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONCLUDED)

H. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and
Fund Equity (Concluded)

10. Local Control Funding Formula (LCFF)/Property Tax

As part of the 2013-14 State Budget Act, the formula for determining the level of funding
per student changed from the “revenue limit” formula to the “Local Control Funding
Formula” (LCFF). The LCFF creates base, supplemental and concentration grants as
the new general-purpose entitlement to replace most existing funding streams, including
the State aid portion of the revenue limit and most State categorical programs from prior
years. District funding under the LCFF is generally provided by a mix of State aid and
local property taxes.

The County of Lassen is responsible for assessing, collecting, and apportioning property
taxes to the District. Taxes are levied for each fiscal year on taxable real and personal
property in the county. The levy is based on the assessed values as of the preceding
January 1, which is also the lien date. Property taxes on the secured roll are due on
November 1 and February 1, and taxes become delinquent after December 6 and
April 10, respectively. Property taxes on the unsecured roll are due on the lien date
(January 1) and become delinquent if unpaid by August 31.

Secured property taxes are recorded as revenue when apportioned, in the fiscal year of
the levy. The county apportions secured property tax revenue in accordance with the
alternative method of distribution prescribed by Section 4705 of the California Revenue
and Taxation Code. This alternate method provides for crediting each applicable fund
with its total secured taxes upon completion of the secured tax roll, approximately
October 1 of each year.

The County Auditor reports the amount of the District’s allocated property tax revenue to
the California Department of Education. Property taxes are recorded as local LCFF
sources by the District. The California Department of Education reduces the District's
LCFF entitlement by the District's local property tax revenue. Any balance remaining is
paid from the State General Fund and is known as LCFF State Aid.

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Deposits and investments as of June 30, 2023, consist of the following:

Governmental

Activities
Cash on Hand and in Banks $ 18,507
Cash in Revolving Fund 1,000
County Pool Investments 3,161,085
Totals $ 3,180,592

28



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

Cash on Hand and in Banks

Cash on hand and in banks consists of all cash held by the District and all cash maintained
in commercial bank accounts owned by the District, exclusive of amounts held in revolving
funds.

Cash in Revolving Fund

Cash in revolving fund consists of all cash maintained in commercial bank accounts that are
used as revolving funds.

County Pool Investments

County pool investments consist of District cash held by the Lassen County Treasury that is
invested in the county investment pool. The fair value of the District’'s investment in the pool
is reported in the financial statements at amounts that are based upon the District's pro-rata
share of the fair value provided by the County Treasurer for the entire portfolio (in relation to
the amortized cost of that portfolio). The balance available for withdrawal is based on the
accounting records maintained by the County Treasurer, which is recorded on the amortized
cost basis.

General Authorization

Limitations as they relate to interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of credit risk are
indicated in the schedule below:

Maximum Maximum Maximum
Authorized Remaining Percentage Investment
Investment Type Maturity of Portfolio in One Issuer

Local Agency Bonds, Notes, Warrants 5 years None None
Registered State Bonds, Notes, Warrants 5 years None None
U.S. Treasury Obligations 5 years None None
U.S. Agency Securities 5 years None None
Banker's Acceptance 180 days 40% 30%
Commercial Paper 270 days 25% 10%
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 5 years 30% None
Repurchase Agreements 1 year None None
Reverse Repurchase Agreements 92 days 20% of base None
Medium-Term Notes 5 years 30% None
Mutual Funds N/A 20% 10%
Money Market Mutual Funds N/A 20% 10%
Mortgage Pass-Through Securities 5 years 20% None
County Pooled Investment Funds N/A None None
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) N/A None None
Joint Powers Authority Pools N/A None None

29



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair
value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the
sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates. The District does not have a
formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing its
exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. The District manages its
exposure to interest rate risk by investing in the Lassen County Investment Pool.

Weighted Average Maturity

The District monitors the interest rate risk inherent in its portfolio by measuring the weighted
average maturity of its portfolio. Information about the weighted average maturity of the
District’s portfolio is presented in the following schedule:

Carrying Fair Weighted Average
Investment Type Value Value Days to Maturity
County Pool Investments $ 3,161,085 $ 3,161,085 782

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder
of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized
statistical rating organization. investments in the County Treasury are not required to be
rated.

Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits

This is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the District’s deposits may not be returned
to it. The District does not have a policy for custodial credit risk for deposits. However, the
Government Code requires that a financial institution secure deposits made by state or local
governmental units by pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool held by a depository
regulated under state law (unless so waived by the governmental unit). The market value of
the pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least 110 percent of the total
amount deposited by the public agencies.

California law also allows financial institutions to secure public deposits by pledging first trust
deed mortgage notes having a value of 150 percent of the secured public deposits and
letters of credit issued by the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco having a value of
105 percent of the secured deposits. As of June 30, 2023, the District's bank balance was
not exposed to custodial credit risk.

Fair Value Measurements

The District categorizes the fair value measurements of its investments based on the
hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The fair value hierarchy,
which has three levels, is based on the valuation inputs used to measure an asset’s fair
value. The following provides a summary of the hierarchy used to measure fair value:

30



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONCLUDED)

Fair Value Measurements (Concluded)

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets that the District has the ability
to access at the measurement date. Level 1 assets may include debt and equity securities
that are traded in an active exchange market and that are highly liquid and are actively
traded in over-the-counter markets.

Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar
assets in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets in markets that are not
active, or other inputs that are observable, such as interest rates and curves observable at
commonly quoted intervals, implied volatilities, and credit spreads. For financial reporting
purposes, if an asset has a specific term, a Level 2 input is required to be observable for
substantially the full term of the asset.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs should be developed using the best information available
under the circumstances, which might include the District's own data. The District should
adjust that data if reasonable available information indicates that other market participants
would use different data or certain circumstances specific to the District are not available to
other market participants.

Uncategorized - Investments in the Lassen County Treasury Investment Pool are not
measured using the input levels above because the District’s transactions are based on a
stable net asset value per share. All contributions and redemptions are transacted at $1.00
net asset value per share.

The District’s fair value measurements are as follows at June 30, 2023:

Fair
Investment Type Value Uncategorized
County Pool Investments $ 3,161,085 $ 3,161,085

All assets have been valued using a market approach, with quoted market prices.

NOTE 3 - RECEIVABLES

Receivables at June 30, 2023 consist of the following:

Non-Major
General Governmental
Fund Funds Totals
Federal Government $ 31,735 $ 9,989 $ 41,724
State Government 70,575 23,641 94,216
Local Governments 46,100 46,100
Miscellaneous 33,633 33,633
Totals $ 182,043 $ 33,630 $ 215673

31



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 4 - INTERFUND ACTIVITIES

Interfund transactions are reported as either loans, services provided, reimbursements, or
transfers. Loans are reported as interfund receivables and payables, as appropriate, and are
subject to elimination upon consolidation. Services provided, deemed to be at market or near
market rates, are treated as revenues and expenditures. Reimbursements occur when one
fund incurs a cost, charges the appropriate benefiting fund, and reduces its related cost as a
reimbursement. All other interfund transactions are treated as transfers.

Balances Due From/Due To Other Funds

Interfund Balances at June 30, 2023 consists of the following:

Interfund Interfund
Funds Receivables Payables
General $ 2,624
Cafeteria $ 2,624
Totals $ 2,624 $ 2,624

All interfund receivables and payables are scheduled to be paid within one year.

NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEPRECIATION

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2023, is shown below:

Balances Balances
July 1, 2022 Additions Deletions June 30, 2023

Capital Assets Not Being

Depreciated:

Land $ 279,380 $ 279,380

Construction-in-Progress 145,108 $ 95974 $ 241,082 0
Total Capital Assets Not Being

Depreciated 424,488 95,974 241,082 279,380
Capital Assets Being Depreciated:

Sites and Improvements 788,403 788,403

Buildings and Improvements 3,119,735 241,082 3,360,817

Furniture and Equipment 294,465 294 465
Total Capital Assets Being

Depreciated 4,202,603 241,082 0 4,443,685
Less Accumulated Depreciation:

Sites and Improvements 459,684 34,131 493,715

Buildings and Improvements 1,784,788 89,248 1,874,036

Furniture and Equipment 290,509 1,318 291,827
Total Accumulated Depreciation 2,534,881 124,697 0 2,659,578
Total Capital Assets Being

Depreciated, Net 1,667,722 116,385 0 1,784,107
Capital Assets, Net $ 2,092,210 $ 212,359 $ 241,082 $ 2,063,487

32



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEPRECIATION (CONCLUDED)

Depreciation expense was charged to governmental activities as follows:

Instruction $ 67,563
Instruction-Related Services 12,866
Pupil Services 13,856
General Administration 15,023
Plant Services 15,389

Total $ 124,697

NOTE 6 - RETIREMENT PLANS

Qualified employees are covered under retirement plans maintained by agencies of the
State of California. Certificated employees are eligible to participate under the multiple-
employer, cost-sharing defined benefit plan administered by the California State Teachers'
Retirement System (CalSTRS) and classified employees are eligible to participate under the
multiple-employer, cost-sharing defined benefit plan administered by the California Public
Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS).

The District reported net pension liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows
of resources, and pension expense in the accompanying government-wide financial
statements as follows:

Net Deferred Deferred
Pension Outflows of Inflows of Pension
Pension Plan Liabilities Resources Resources Expense
CalSTRS $ 757129 $ 278,037 $ 288,363 $ 114,721
CalPERS 1,113,234 653,573 42,090 175,643
Totals $ 1,870,363 $ 931,610 $ 330,453 $ 290,364

Plan Description

The California State Teachers Retirement System (CalSTRS) provides pension benefits,
including disability and survivor benefits, to California full-time and part-time public-school
teachers and certain other employees of the public school system. The Teachers’
Retirement Law (California Education Code Section 22000 et seq.), as enacted and
amended by the California Legislature and the Governor, established the plan and CalSTRS
as the administrator. The terms of the plan may be amended through legislation. CalSTRS
issues publicly available reports that include a full description of the pension plan that can be
found on the CalSTRS website.

Benefits Provided

The State Teachers’ Retirement Plan (STRP) is a multiple-employer, cost-sharing defined
benefit plan. The STRP holds assets for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to
members of these programs and their beneficiaries. CalSTRS also uses plan assets to
defray reasonable expenses for administering the STRP. Although CalSTRS is the
administrator of the STRP, the State of California is the sponsor and obligor of the trust. In
addition, the State is both an employer and nonemployer contributing entity to the STRP.

33



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 6 - RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

A

California State Teachers' Retirement System (CalSTRS)

Benefits Provided (Continued)

Membership is mandatory for all employees meeting certain statutory requirements and
optional for all other employees performing creditable services activities. The Defined
Benefit Program provides retirement benefits based on members’ final compensation, age,
and years of service credit. In addition, the program provides benefits to members upon
disability and to their survivors or beneficiaries upon the death of eligible members.

The STRP Defined Benefit Program has two benefit structures:

e CalSTRS 2% at 60: Members first hired on or before December 31, 2012, to perform
services that could be creditable to CalSTRS.

e CalSTRS 2% at 62: Members first hired on or after January 1, 2013, to perform services
that could be creditable to CalSTRS.

There are several differences between the two benefit structures and some of the
differences are noted below.

CalSTRS 2% at 60

CalSTRS 2% at 60 members are eligible for normal retirement at age 60, with a minimum of
five years of credited service. The normal retirement benefit is equal to a factor of 2.0% of
final compensation multiplied by the number of years of credited service. Early retirement
options are available at age 55 with five years of credited service or as early as age 50 with
30 years of credited service. The age factor for retirements after age 60 increases with each
quarter year of age to a maximum of 2.4% at age 63 or older. Members who have 30 years
or more of credited service receive an additional increase of 0.2% to the age factor, up to the
2.4% maximum.

CalSTRS calculates retirement benefits based on one-year final compensation for members
with 25 or more years of credited service, or for classroom teachers with fewer than 25 years
of credited service if the employer entered into, extended, renewed, or amended an
agreement prior to January 1, 2014, to elect to pay the additional benefit cost for all of its
classroom teachers. One-year final compensation is a member’s highest average annual
compensation earnable for 12 consecutive months based on the creditable compensation
that a member could earn in a school year while employed on a full-time basis. For most
members with fewer than 25 years of credited service, final compensation is the highest
average annual compensation earnable for any 36 consecutive months based on the
creditable compensation that a member could earn in a school year while employed on a
full-time basis.

CalSTRS 2% at 62

CalSTRS 2% at 62 members are eligible for normal retirement at age 62, with a minimum of
five years of credited service. The normal retirement benefit is equal to 2.0% of final
compensation multiplied by the number of years of credited service. An early retirement
option is available at age 55. The age factor for retirement after age 62 increases with each
quarter year of age to 2.4% at age 65 or older.

34



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 6 - RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

A

California State Teachers' Retirement System (CalSTRS) (Continued)

Benefits Provided (Conciuded)

CalSTRS 2% at 62 (Concluded)

All CalSTRS 2% at 62 members have their final compensation based on their highest
average annual compensation earnable for 36 consecutive months based on the creditable
compensation that a member could earn in a school year while employed on a full-time
basis.

Contributions

The parameters for member, employer and state contribution rates are set by the California
Legislature and the Governor and are detailed in the Teachers' Retirement Law. Current
contribution rates were established by California Assembly Bill 1469 (CalSTRS Funding
Plan), which was passed into law in June 2014, and various subsequent legislation.

The CalSTRS Funding Plan established a schedule of contribution rate increases shared
among members, employers and the state to bring CalSTRS toward full funding by 2046.

A summary of statutory contribution rates and other sources of contributions to the Defined
Benefit Program are as follows:

Members: The member contribution rate for 2% at 60 members is set in statute at 10.25%,
while 2% at 62 members are required to pay at least one-half of the normal cost of their
Defined Benefit Program benefit (rounded to the nearest quarter of 1%). The member
contribution rate for 2% at 62 members was 10.205% for fiscal year 2022-23.

Employers: Employers are required to contribute a base contribution rate set in statute at
8.25%. Pursuant to the CalSTRS Funding Plan, employers also have a supplemental
contribution rate to eliminate their share of the CalSTRS unfunded actuarial obligation by
2046. Beginning in fiscal year 2021-22, the CalSTRS Funding Plan authorizes the board to
adjust the employer supplemental contribution rate up or down by a maximum of 1% for a
total rate of no higher than 20.25% and no lower than 8.25%. In May 2022, the board voted
to keep the employer supplemental contribution rate at 10.85% for fiscal year 2022-23 for a
total contribution rate of 19.10%. The District contributed $110,282 to the plan for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2023.

State: The state is required to contribute a base contribution rate set in statute at 2.017%.
Pursuant to the CalSTRS Funding Plan, the state also has a supplemental contribution rate,
which the board can increase by up to 0.5% each fiscal year to help eliminate the state’s
share of the CalSTRS unfunded actuarial obligation by 2046. In May 2022, the board voted
to keep the state supplemental contribution rate at 6.311% for fiscal year 2022-23. Including
a 2.50% contribution for SBMA funding, the total state contribution to the defined benefit
program was 10.828% for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.

35



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 6 - RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

A

California State Teachers' Retirement System (CalSTRS) (Continued)

District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability. Pension Expense, Deferred
Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2023, the District reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net pension
liability that reflected a reduction for State pension support provided to the District. The
amount recognized by the District as its proportionate share of the net pension liability, the
related State support, and the total portion of the net pension liability associated with the
District was as follows:

District's proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 757,129
State's proportionate share of the net pension liability

associated with the District 379,167
Total net pension liability attributed to District $ 1,136,296

The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total pension liability
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of
June 30, 2021. The District's proportion of the net pension liability was based on the
District's share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all
participating employers and the State. The District's proportionate share of the net pension
liability as of June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2021 was as follows:

Proportion - June 30, 2022 0.0011%
Proportion - June 30, 2021 0.0013%
Change - Increase (Decrease) -0.0002%

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the District recognized pension expense of
$114,721, which includes $60,816 of support provided by the State. At June 30, 2023, the
District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
District contributions subsequent to the measurement date $ 110,282
Differences between expected and actual experience 650 $ 61,956
Changes of assumptions 39,474
Changes in employer's proportion and differences between the
employer's contributions and the employer's proportionate
share of contributions 127,631 135,671
Net differences between projected and actual earnings on
plan investments 90,736
Totals $ 278,037 $ 288,363

36



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 6 - RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

A

California State Teachers' Retirement System (CalSTRS) (Continued)

District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability, Pension Expense, Deferred
Qutflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (Concluded)

The deferred outflows of resources related to District contributions subsequent to the
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as
follows:

Year Ended
June 30

2024 $ (22,428)
2025 (55,000)
2026 (80,195)
2027 62,681
2028 (7,505)

Thereafter (18,161)

Other than differences between projected and actual earnings on plan investments, deferred
outflows and inflows of resources are amortized using a straight-line method over a closed
period equal to the average of the expected remaining service lives of all plan members who
are provided with pensions through CalSTRS (active and inactive), which is 7 years as of the
beginning of the measurement period. Deferred outflows and inflows related to differences
between projected and actual earnings on plan investments are netted and amortized over a
closed 5-year period.

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

The total pension liability for the STRP was determined by applying update procedures to a
financial reporting actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2021 and rolling forward the total
pension liability to June 30, 2022. Significant actuarial methods and assumptions used in the
financial reporting actuarial valuation to determine the total pension liability include:

Valuation Date June 30, 2021

Experience Study July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2018
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normai

Investment Rate of Return 7.10%

Consumer Price Inflation 2.75%

Wage Growth 3.50%

Post-retirement Benefit Increases 2.00% simple for DB (Annually)

Maintain 85% purchasing power level for DB

T Net of investment expenses, but gross of administrative expenses.

37



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 6 - RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

A

California State Teachers' Retirement System (CalSTRS) (Continued)

The sections that follow provide additional discussion on key assumptions and methods for
the valuation of the STRP.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.10%, which was
unchanged from the prior fiscal year. The projection of cash flows used to determine the
discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members and employers are made at
statutory contribution rates as previously described. Projected inflows from investment
earnings were calculated using the long-term assumed investment rate of return of 7.10%
and assume that contributions, benefit payments, and administrative expenses occur
midyear. Based on those assumptions, the STRP’s fiduciary net position was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments to current plan members. Therefore,
the long-term assumed investment rate of return was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

The long-term investment rate of return assumption was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected
returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major
asset class. The best-estimate ranges were developed using capital market assumptions
from CalSTRS investment staff and investment consultants as an input to the process.

The actuarial investment rate of return assumption was adopted by the board in January
2020 in conjunction with the most recent experience study. For each current and future
valuation, CalSTRS’ independent consulting actuary (Miliman) reviews the return
assumption for reasonableness based on the most current capital market assumptions. Best
estimates of expected 20-year geometrically linked real rates of return and the assumed
asset allocation for each major asset class as of June 30, 2022, are summarized in the
following table:

Assumed Long-Term

Asset Expected Real

Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return*
Public Equity 42% 4.80%
Real Estate 15% 3.60%
Private Equity 13% 6.30%
Fixed Income 12% 1.30%
Risk Mitigating Strategies 10% 1.80%
Inflation Sensitive 6% 3.30%
Cash / Liquidity 2% -0.40%

Total 100%

* 20-year average

38



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 6 - RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

A

California State Teachers' Retirement System (CalSTRS) (Concluded)

Moirtality

CalSTRS uses a generational mortality assumption, which involves the use of a base
morality table and projection scales to reflect expected annual reductions in mortality rates at
each age, resulting in increases of life expectancies each year into the future. The base
mortality tables are CalSTRS custom tables derived to best fit the patterns of mortality
among its members. The projection scale was set equal to 110% of the ultimate
improvement factor from the Mortality Improvement Scale (MP-2019) table, issued by the
Society of Actuaries.

Sensitivily of the District's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the
Discount Rate

The following table presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability as of
the measurement date, calculated using the current discount rate of 7.10%, as well as what
the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated
using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (6.10%) or one percentage point
higher (8.10%) than the current rate:

Discount Rate Discount Rate Discount Rate

1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase
6.10% 7.10% 8.10%
District's proportionate share of
the net pension liability $ 1,285,885 $ 757,129 $ 318,102

Pension Plan’s Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the
separately issued CalSTRS Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2022.

California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS)

Plan Description, Benefits Provided, and Employees Covered

The District contributes to the School Employer Pool under the California Public Employees’
Retirement System (CalPERS), a cost-sharing mulitiple-employer public employee retirement
system defined benefit pension plan administered by the CalPERS. All employees who work
at least half time or are appointed to a job that will last at least six months and one day are
eligible for CalPERS. Benefits vest after five years. Employees are eligible to retire at or
after age 50 having attained five years of credited service and are entitled to an annual
retirement benefit, payable monthly for life. Employees hired after January 1, 2013 with five
years of credit service must be at least age 52 to retire.

39



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 6 - RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

B.

California Public Emplovees' Retirement System (CalPERS) (Continued)

Plan Description, Benefits Provided, and Employees Covered (Concluded)

The Plan provides retirement, disability, and death benefits, and annual cost-of-living
adjustments to plan members and beneficiaries. Benefit provisions are established by State
statutes, as legislatively amended, within the Public Employees’ Retirement Law. CalPERS
issues publicly available reports that include a full description of the pension plans regarding
benefit provisions, assumptions and membership information that can be found on the
CalPERS website.

Contributions

Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that the
employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by the
actuary and shall be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. The total
plan contributions are determined through CalPERS’ annual actuarial valuation process.
The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of
benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any
unfunded accrued liability. The District is required to contribute the difference between the
actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees. Active plan members
who entered into the plan prior to January 1, 2013 are required to contribute 7.0% of their
salary, and new members entering into the plan on or after January 1, 2013 are required to
contribute the higher of 50.0% of the total normal cost rate for their defined benefit plan or
8.0% of their salary. The District’'s contractually required contribution rate for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2023 was 25.37% of annual payroll. The District's contribution to CalPERS
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 was $146,436.

District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liabilitv. Pension Expense. Deferred

Qutflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

As of June 30, 2023, the District reported a liability of $1,113,234 for its proportionate share
of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and
the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2021 rolled forward to June 30, 2022 using standard
update procedures. The District’'s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a
projection of the District’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the
projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined. The District's
proportionate share of the net pension liability as of June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2021 was
as follows:

Proportion - June 30, 2022 0.0032%
Proportion - June 30, 2021 0.0021%
Change - Increase (Decrease) 0.0011%

40



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 6 - RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

B.

California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) (Continued)

District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability, Pension Expense, Deferred
Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related fo Pensions (Concluded)

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the District recognized pension expense of
$175,643. At June 30, 2023, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
District contributions subsequent to the measurement date $ 146,436
Differences between expected and actual experience 2,494 $ 27579
Changes of assumptions 83,061
Changes in employer's proportion and differences between the
employer's contributions and the employer's proportionate
share of contributions 225,873 14,511
Net differences between projected and actual earnings on
plan investments 195,709
Totals $ 653573 $ 42,090

The deferred outflows of resources related to District contributions subsequent to the
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as
follows:

Year Ended
June 30
2024 $ 127,850
2025 129,402
2026 127,646
2027 80,149

Differences between expected and actual experience, changes in assumptions, and
changes in employer's proportion and differences in employer's contributions and
employer’s proportionate share of contributions are amortized over a closed period equal to
the average remaining service life of plan members, which is 3.9 years as of June 30, 2022.
The net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments is
amortized over a 5-year period on a straight-line basis.

41



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 6 - RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

B.

California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) (Continued)

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuations were determined using
the following actuarial methods and assumptions:

Valuation Date June 30, 2021
Measurement Date June 30, 2022
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Actuarial Cost Method
Actuarial Assumptions:
Discount Rate 6.90%
Inflation 2.30%
Wage Growth Varies by Entry Age and Service
Mortality Rate Table Derived Using CalPERS' Membership Data
For All Funds
Investment Rate of Return 6.90%

The Lesser of Contract COLA or 2.30% Until
Purchasing Power Protection Allowance
Floor on Purchasing Power Applies, 2.30%
Thereafter

Post Retirement Benefit Increase

Mortality rate table used was developed based on CalPERS specific data. The probabilities
of mortality are based on the 2021 CalPERS Experience Study for the period from 2001 to
2019. Pre-retirement and Post-retirement mortality rates include generational mortality
improvement using 80% of Scale MP-2020 published by the Society of Actuaries. For more
details on this table, refer to the CalPERS Experience Study and Review of Actuarial
Assumptions report from November 2021 that can be found on the CalPERS website.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.90%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan
members will be made at the current member contribution rates and that contributions from
employers will be made at statutorily required rates, actuarially determined. Based on those
assumptions, the Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all
projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term
expected rate of return on plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit
payments to determine the total pension liability.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a

building-block method in which expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.

42



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 6 - RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

B. California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) (Continued)

Discount Rate (Concluded)

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-
term and long-term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash
flows. Using historical returns of all of the funds’ asset classes, expected compound
(geometric) returns were calculated over the next 20 years using a building-block approach.
The expected rate of return was then adjusted to account for assumed administrative
expenses of 10 Basis points.

The expected real rates of return by asset class are as follows:

Assumed Asset
Real Return "2

Asset Class ' Allocation
Global Equity - Cap-weighted 30.0% 4.54%
Global Equity - Non-Cap-weighted 12.0% 3.84%
Private Equity 13.0% 7.28%
Treasury 5.0% 0.27%
Mortgage-backed Securities 5.0% 0.50%
Investment Grade Corporates 10.0% 1.56%
High Yield 5.0% 2.27%
Emerging Market Debt 5.0% 2.48%
Private Debt 5.0% 3.57%
Real Assets 15.0% 3.21%
Leverage -5.0% -0.59%
Total 100%

(1) An expected inflation of 2.30% used for this period.
(2) Figures are based on the 2021 Asset Liability Management Study.

Sensitivity of the District's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the
Discount Rate

The following presents the District's proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated
using the discount rate of 6.90%, as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage
point lower (5.90%) or one percentage point higher (7.90%) than the current rate:

Discount Rate Discount Rate Discount Rate

1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase
5.90% 6.90% 7.90%
District's proportionate share of
the net pension liability $ 1,608,123 $ 1,113,234 $ 704,227

43



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 6 - RETIREMENT PLANS (CONCLUDED)

B. California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) (Concluded)

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the
separately issued CalPERS financial report.

C. Sacial Security

As established by Federal law, all public sector employees who are not members of their
employer’s existing retirement system (CalSTRS or CalPERS) must be covered by social
security or an alternative plan. The District has elected to use Social Security as its
alternative plan. Contributions made by the District and participating employees vest
immediately. Both the District and participating employees were required to contribute 6.2%
of an employee’s gross earnings, up to the annual limit.

NOTE 7 - ON-BEHALF PAYMENTS MADE BY THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

The District was the recipient of on-behalf payments made by the State of California to the
State Teachers' Retirement System (CalSTRS) for K-12 Education. These payments consist
of state general fund contributions of $60,816 to CalSTRS. These contributions are recorded
in the General Fund as revenues and expenditures. The District is not legally responsible for
these contributions.

NOTE 8 - LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

A schedule of changes in long-term liabilities for the year ended June 30, 2023, is shown

below:
Balances Balances Due within
July 1, 2022 Additions Deductions June 30, 2023 One Year
Net Pension Liability - CalSTRS ~ § 581,391  § 175,738 $ 757,129
Net Pension Liability - CalPERS 435,816 677418 1,113,234
Totals $ 1017207 $§ 853156  § 0 § 1870363 § 0

The net pension liabilities are obligations of the General Fund and Cafeteria Fund.

44



NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT

NOTE 9 - FUND BALANCES

The District’s fund balances at June 30, 2023 consisted of the following:

Nonspendable:
Revolving Cash
Restricted:
Categorical Programs
Student Activities
Debt Service
Developer Fees
Total Restricted
Assigned:
Capital Projects
Mandated Cost
Technology
Curriculum
Cash Flow
Unexpected Expenses
Campus Upgrades

Total Assigned
Unassigned:

Reserve for Economic Uncertainties

Totals

NOTE 10 - RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital
Projects -
Special Non-Major
General Reserve Governmental
Fund Fund Funds Totals
3 1,000 $ 1,000
493,343 $ 87,043 580,386
18,507 18,507
27,205 27,205
23,752 23,752
493,343 156,507 649,850
$ 517,216 517,216
72,218 72,218
100,000 100,000
50,000 50,000
143,915 143,915
844,517 844,517
119,210 119,210
1,329,860 517,216 0 1,847,076
693,914 693,914
$ 2518117 § 517216 $ 156,507 $ 3,191,840

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to theft of, damage to, and destruction
of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. During fiscal
year 2022-23, the District participated in four joint powers authorities (JPAs) for purposes of
pooling for risk. There were no significant reductions in coverage during the year.
Settlements have not exceeded coverage for any of the past three years.

NOTE 11 - JOINT VENTURES

The District participates in four joint ventures under joint powers agreements (JPAs): (1) the
Northern California Schools Insurance Group, (NCSIG) for Property and Liability Insurance,
(2) the Schools Excess Liability Fund (SELF) for Excess Liability Insurance, (3) the Northern
California Regional Excess Liabilty Fund (RELIEF) for Excess Property & Liability
Insurance, and (4) Self-Insured School of California (SISC) for Workers' Compensation

Insurance.

45



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 11 - JOINT VENTURES (CONCLUDED)

The relationships between the District and the JPAs are such that the JPAs are not
component units of the District for financial reporting purposes. The JPAs arrange for and/or
provide coverage for its members. The JPAs are governed by a board consisting of a
representative from each member district. Each board controls the operations of their JPAs,
including selection of management and approval of operating budgets independent of any
influence by the member districts beyond their representation on the Board. Each member
district pays a premium commensurate with the level of coverage requested and shares
surpluses and deficits proportionately to their participation in the JPAs.

The JPAs are audited on an annual basis. Financial information can be obtained by
contacting each JPA’'s management.

NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

A.

State and Federal Allowances, Awards and Grants

The District has received state and federal funds for specific purposes that are subject to
review and audit by the grantor agencies. Although such audits could generate expenditure
disallowances under terms of the grants, it is believed that any required reimbursements will
not be material.

Litigation

The District is subject to various legal proceedings and claims. In the opinion of
management, the ultimate liability with respect to these actions will not materially affect the
financial position or results of operations of the District.

NOTE 13 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The District’'s management has evaluated events or transactions that occurred for possible
recognition or disclosure in the financial statements from the balance sheet date through
December 14, 2023, which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued.
Management has determined that there were no subsequent events or transactions that
require disclosure in or adjustment to the current year financial statements.

46



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION SECTION



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Revenues
LCFF Sources:

Variance with

State Apportionment / Transfers $

Local Sources

Total LCFF Sources

Federal Revenue
Other State Revenue
Other Local Revenue

Total Revenues

Expenditures
Current:

Certificated Salaries
Classified Salaries
Employee Benefits
Books and Supplies
Services and Other
Operating Expenditures

Capital Outlay

Other Expenditures

Total Expenditures

Net Change in Fund Balances

Fund Balances - July 1, 2022

Fund Balances - June 30, 2023 $

Final Budget
Original Final Favorable
Budget Budget Actual (Unfavorable)
1,762,977 $ 1,890,420 $ 1,897,306 $ 6,886
103,132 129,697 124,661 (5,036)
1,866,109 2,020,117 2,021,967 1,850
43,436 48,432 73,648 25,216
118,091 211,658 515,383 303,725
181,292 181,292 298,249 116,957
2,208,928 2,461,499 2,909,247 447,748
798,380 762,038 807,723 (45,685)
408,681 419,948 414,694 5,254
583,139 598,090 592,352 5,738
131,727 221,172 221,557 (385)
274,116 377,851 316,315 61,536
242,000 96,892 95,974 918
(2,497) (2,315) (2,624) 309
2,435,546 2,473,676 2,445,991 27,685
(226,618) (12,177) 463,256 $ 475,433
2,054,861 2,054,861 2,054,861
1,828,243 3 2,042,684 3 2,518,117

SEE NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

47



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF THE PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY - CALSTRS *

JUNE 30, 2023

Plan
State's District's Fiduciary
Proportionate Proportionate  Net Position
District's Share Share of the As a % of
Year District's  Proportionate  of the NPL Total NPL District's NPL as a % of Total
Ended  Proportion Share Associated Attributed Covered Covered Pension
June 30 ofthe NPL  of the NPL to District to District Payroll Payroll Liability
2023 0.0011% $ 757129 $ 379,167 $1,136,296 $ 631,950 119.81% 81.20%
2022 0.0013% 581,391 292 533 873,924 681,839 85.27% 87.21%
2021 0.0012% 1,135,703 585,455 1,721,158 631,696 179.79% 71.82%
2020 0.0011% 1,005,184 548,395 1,553,579 599,564 167.65% 72.56%
2019 0.0012% 1,125,803 644,575 1,770,378 650,776 172.99% 70.99%
2018 0.0011% 1,055,237 624,269 1,679,506 611,161 172.66% 69.46%
2017 0.0012% 945,716 661,998 1,607,714 586,831 161.16% 70.04%
2016 0.0012% 789,916 543,976 1,333,892 550,856 143.40% 74.02%
2015 0.0012% 701,241 469,738 1,170,979 550,860 127.30% 76.52%

*The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined based on a measurement date that was one year prior
to the year-end date. This is a 10-year schedule, however the information in this schedule is not required to be
presented retroactively. Additional years will be added to this schedule as information becomes available until 10
years are presented.

SEE NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
48



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF THE PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY - CALPERS *

JUNE 30, 2023

Plan
District's Fiduciary
Proportionate Net Position
District's Share of the As a % of
Year District's Proportionate District's NPL as a % of Total
Ended Proportion Share Covered Covered Pension
June 30 of the NPL of the NPL Payroll Payroll Liability
2023 0.0032% $ 1,113,234 $ 495,805 224.53% 69.76%
2022 0.0021% 435,816 307,077 141.92% 80.97%
2021 0.0022% 676,453 318,752 212.22% 70.00%
2020 0.0022% 646,218 306,306 210.97% 70.05%
2019 0.0017% 453,065 222,890 203.27% 70.85%
2018 0.0021% 494,291 266,424 185.53% 71.87%
2017 0.0022% 426,923 258,048 165.44% 73.90%
2016 0.0021% 312,805 235,995 132.55% 79.43%
2015 0.0021% 238,401 236,353 100.87% 83.38%

= The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined based on a measurement date that was one
year prior to the year-end date. This is a 10-year schedule, however the information in this schedule is not
required to be presented retroactively. Additional years will be added to this schedule as information
becomes available until 10 years are presented.

SEE NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
49



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS - CALSTRS *

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Contributions

In Relation to Contributions
Year Actuarially Contractually Contribution District's As a % of
Ended Determined Required Deficiency/ Covered Covered
June 30 Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll
2023 $ 110,282 $ 110,282 $ 0 $ 577,393 19.10%
2022 106,926 106,926 0 631,950 16.92%
2021 110,117 110,117 0 681,839 16.15%
2020 108,020 108,020 0 631,696 17.10%
2019 97,608 97,609 0 599,564 16.28%
2018 93,907 93,907 0 650,776 14.43%
2017 76,884 76,884 0 611,161 12.58%
2016 62,967 62,967 0 586,831 10.73%
2015 48,916 48,916 0 550,856 8.88%

* This is a 10-year schedule, however the information in this schedule is not required to be presented
retroactively. Additional years will be added to this schedule as information becomes available until 10
years are presented.

SEE NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
50



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS - CALPERS *

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Contributions

In Relation to Contributions
Year Actuarially Contractually Contribution District's As a % of
Ended Determined Required Deficiency/ Covered Covered
June 30 Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll
2023 $ 146,436 $ 146,436 $ 0 $ 577,201 25.370%
2022 113,589 113,588 0 495,805 22.910%
2021 63,565 63,565 0 307,077 20.700%
2020 62,861 62,861 0 318,752 19.721%
2019 55,325 55,325 0 306,306 18.062%
2018 34,617 34617 0 222,890 15.531%
2017 37,001 37,001 0 266,424 13.888%
2016 30,571 30,571 0 258,048 11.847%
2015 27,779 27,779 0 235,995 11.771%

* This is a 10-year schedule, however the information in this schedule is not required to be presented
retroactively. Additional years will be added to this schedule as information becomes available until 10

years are presented.

SEE NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
51



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 1 - PURPOSE OF STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES

A

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 34,
the District is required to present a Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in
Fund Balance budgetary comparison for the General Fund and each Major Special Revenue
Fund that has an adopted budget. This schedule presents the original adopted budget, final
adopted budget, and the actual revenues and expenditures of each of these funds by
object. The basis of budgeting is the same as Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(GAAP).

Excess of expenditures over appropriations as of June 30, 2023, were as follows:

Excess
General Fund Expenditures
Certificated Salaries $ 45,685
Books & Supplies 385

Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68, the
District is required to present separately for each cost-sharing pension plan through which
pensions are provided a 10-year schedule presenting certain information. The information
required to be presented includes the District's proportion and proportionate share of the
collective net pension liability, the portion of the nonemployer contributing entities’ total
proportionate share of the collective net pension liability associated with the District, if
applicable, the District's covered payroll, the District's proportionate share of the collective
net pension liability as a percentage of the District's covered payroll, and the pension plan’s
fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability.

Schedule of Contributions

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68, the
District is required to present separately for each cost-sharing pension plan through which
pensions are provided a 10-year schedule presenting certain information. The information
required to be presented includes the statutorily or contracted required District contribution,
the amount of contributions recognized by the pension plan in relation to the required District
contribution, the difference between the required District contribution and the amount
recognized by the pension plan, the District's covered payroll, and the amount of
contributions recognized by the pension plan in relation of the District as a percentage of the
District's covered payroll.

52



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF CHANGES FOR CALSTRS AND CALPERS

A

Benefit Changes

There were no changes to benefit terms since the previous valuation for either the State
Teachers’ Retirement Plan (CalSTRS) or the Public Employer's Retirement Fund B
(CalPERS).

Changes of Assumptions

There were no changes in assumptions since the previous valuation for CalSTRS.

In November 2021, the CalPERS Board of Administration adopted new investment portfolios
as well as several changes to actuarial assumptions. These changes were implemented in
the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation for funding purposes. Included in these changes were
assumptions for inflation, the discount rate, and administrative expenses, as well as
demographic assumptions including changes to mortality rates.

The discount rate changed from 7.15% at June 30, 2021, to 6.90% at June 30, 2022 for
CalPERS.

53



54



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION SECTION



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
ORGANIZATION/BOARD OF TRUSTEES/ADMINISTRATION
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

ORGANIZATION

The Richmond School District was established in 1864 and is located in Lassen County. There
was no change in District boundaries during the year. The District currently operates one
elementary school.

BOARD OF TRUSTEES
Name Office Term Expires
Sadie Albonico President December, 2026
Adam Runyan Clerk December, 2024
Nicholas McBride Member December, 2026
Tracy Langslet Member December, 2024
Daniel Bertotti Member December, 2026

ADMINISTRATION

Michael Cosgrove
Superintendent

Jeanette Goni
Business Manager

55



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2023

Student
Cafeteria Activity
Assets
Deposits and Investments $ 56,299 $ 18,507
Receivables 33,630
Total Assets $ 89,929 $ 18,507
Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Accounts Payable 3 262
Due to Other Funds 2,624
Total Liabilities 2,886
Fund Balances:
Restricted 87,043 $ 18,507
Total Fund Balances 87,043 18,507
Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $ 89,929 $ 18,507

SEE NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
56



Bond
Interest
and
Redemption

Tax
Override

Capital
Facilities

Total
Non-Major
Governmental
Funds

11,544

15,661

23,752

125,763
33,630

11,544

15,661

23,752

159,393

11,544

15,661

23,752

262
2,624

2,886

11,544

15,661

23,752

156,507

11,544

15,661

23,752

156,507

159,393




COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Revenues
Federal Revenue
State Revenue
Local Revenue

Total Revenues

Expenditures
Current:

Food Services

Other General Administration
Plant Services

Ancillary Services

Total Expenditures
Net Change in Fund Balances
Fund Balances - July 1, 2022
Fund Balances - June 30, 2023

SEE NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Cafeteria

Student
Activity

50,574
97,467
161

22,098

148,202

22,098

95,853
2,624
608

25,584

99,085

25,584

49,117
37,926

(3,486)
21,993

87,043

18,507

58



Bond
Interest
and

Redemption

Tax
Override

Capital
Facilities

Total
Non-Major

Governmental

Funds

(212)

263

3,999

50,574
97,467
26,309

(212)

263

3,999

174,350

114

95,853
2,738
608
25,584

114

124,783

(212)
11,756

263
15,398

3,885
19,867

49,567
106,940

11,544

15,661

23,752

156,507




RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF AVERAGE DAILY ATTENDANCE

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

P-2 Report
TK/K-3 4-6 7-8 Total
Regular ADA 79.68 62.86 37.57 180.11
Annual Report
TK/K-3 4-6 7-8 Total
Regular ADA 79.11 62.34 37.44 178.89

SEE NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
60



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF INSTRUCTIONAL TIME

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Number
Instructional Minutes Traditional Calendar Days of Days
Minutes J-13A Multitrack
Grade Level  Required Offered Credited Total Offered Total Calendar Status
Kindergarten 36,000 37,350 0 37.350 180 180 N/A In Compliance
Grade 1 50,400 61,650 0 61,650 180 180 N/A In Compliance
Grade 2 50,400 61,700 0 61,700 180 180 N/A In Compliance
Grade 3 50,400 61,700 0 61,700 180 180 N/A In Compliance
Grade 4 54,000 61,800 0 61,800 180 180 N/A In Compliance
Grade 5 54,000 61,800 0 61,800 180 180 N/A In Compliance
Grade 6 54,000 61,900 0 61,900 180 180 N/A In Compliance
Grade 7 54,000 61,900 0 61,900 180 180 N/A In Compliance
Grade 8 54,000 60,250 0 60,250 180 180 N/A In Compliance

SEE NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

61



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
RECONCILIATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL AND BUDGET REPORT
WITH AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Special
Deferred Revenue - Student
General Maintenance Special Reserve Activity
Fund Fund Fund Fund
June 30, 2023 Annual Financial and
Budget Report Fund Balances $ 2,254,993 $ 119,210 $ 143914 $ 20,802
Adjustments and Reclassifications
Increasing (Decreasing) Fund Balances:
Overstatement of Cash in Bank (2,295)
Reclassification of Fund Balances 263,124 (119,210) (143,914)
June 30, 2023 Audited Financial
Statements Fund Balances $ 2,518,117 $ 0 $ 0 $ 18,507

Auditor's Comments

The fund balances of the General Fund, Deferred Maintenance Fund and Special Revenue - Special Reserve
Fund have been combined for financial reporting purposes in accordance with GASB Statement 54.

The audited financial statements of all other funds were in agreement with the Annual Financial and Budget

Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.

SEE NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

62



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL TRENDS AND ANALYSIS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

GENERAL FUND

(Budget)

2023-24 2022-23 2021-22 2020-21
Revenues and Other Financial Sources $ 2,461,628 $ 2,909,247 $ 2,321,953 $ 2,160,549
Expenditures 2,460,278 2,445,991 2,338,456 1,789,395
Other Uses and Transfers Out 0 0 0 10,000
Total Outgo 2,460,278 2,445,991 2,338,456 1,799,395
Change in Fund Balance 1,350 463,256 (16,503) 361,154
Ending Fund Balance $ 2,519,467 $ 2,518,117 $ 2,054,861 $ 2,071,364
Available Reserves $ 708,722 $ 693914 $ 1,584,571 $ 1,617,828
Reserve for Economic Uncertainties * $ 708,722 $ 693,914 $ 124,506 $ 442,610
Available Reserves as a Percentage
of Total Outgo 28.8% 28.4% 67.8% 89.9%
Average Daily Attendance at P-2 179 180 182 N/A
Total Long-Term Liabilities $ 1,870,363 $ 1,870,363 $ 1,017,207 $ 1,902,156

*  Reported balances are a component of available reserves.

The fund balance of the General Fund increased $446,753 (21.6%) over the past two years. The fiscal year 2023-24
budget projects a slight increase of $1,350. For a district this size, the state recommends available reserves of at least
5% of total General Fund expenditures, transfers out, and other uses (total outgo).

The District incurred an operating deficit of $16,503 during 2021-22 and produced operating surpluses of $361,154 and
$463,256, during fiscal years 2020-21 and 2022-23, respectively.

Average daily attendance (ADA) decreased 2 ADA over the previous year. The Districts 2023-24 budget projects a
decrease of 1 ADA.

Total long-term liabilities decreased $31,793 over the past two years.

SEE NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
63



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

NOTE 1 - PURPOSE OF STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES

A

Combining Statements

Combining statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a
required part of the District's basic financial statements. These statements and schedules
present more detailed information about the financial position and financial activities of the
District’s individual funds.

Schedule of Average Daily Attendance

Average daily attendance is a measure of the number of pupils attending classes of the
District. The purpose of attendance accounting from a fiscal standpoint is to provide the
basis on which apportionments of state funds are made to school districts. This Schedule
provides information regarding the attendance of students at various grade spans and in
different programs.

Schedule of Instructional Time

This schedule presents information on the instructional days provided and the amount of
instructional time offered by the District and whether the District complied with Article 8
(commencing with Section 46200) of Chapter 2 of Part 26 of the Education Code.

Reconciliation of Annual Financial and Budaget Report with Audited Financial Statements

This schedule provides the information necessary to reconcile the fund balances of all funds
as reported in the Annual Financial and Budget Report to the audited financial statements.

Schedule of Financial Trends and Analysis

This schedule discloses the District's financial trends by displaying past years’ data along
with current year budget information. These financial trend disclosures are used to evaluate
the District’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

64



OTHER INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORTS SECTION



STEPHEN ROATCH ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION
Certified Public Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Trustees
Richmond School District
Susanville, California

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial
statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the Richmond School District, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District's basic financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 14, 2023.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’'s
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the
District’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented or
detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination
of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. We identified a certain deficiency in
internal control, described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs as
Finding 2023 - 001 that we consider to be a material weakness.

65
P.O. Box 2196 / Folsom, CA 95763/ Phone (916) 966-3883 / Fax (916) 966-3815




Board of Trustees
Richmond School District
Page Two

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District's financial statements are
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a
direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards, except as noted in
Finding 2023-002.

District's Response to the Findings

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on Richmond
School District's responses to the findings identified in our audit and described in the
accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs. Richmond School District's
responses were not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the responses.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

STEPHEN ROATCH ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION
Certified Public Accountants
December 14, 2023

66



STEPHEN ROATCH ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION
Cetrtified Public Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON STATE COMPLIANCE AND ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE FOR STATE PROGRAMS

Board of Trustees
Richmond School District
Susanville, California

Report on State Compliance

Opinion on State Compliance

We have audited Richmond School District’s (District) compliance with the requirements specified
in the 2022-23 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Educational Agencies and State
Compliance Reporting applicable to the District’s state program requirements identified below for
the year ended June 30, 2023.

In our opinion, Richmond School District complied, in all material respects, with the laws and
regulations of the state programs noted in the table below for the year ended June 30, 2023.

Basis for Opinion on State Compliance

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the
2022-23 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Educational Agencies and State Compliance
Reporting (Audit Guide). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Audit Guide are
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities,
in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. Our
audit does not provide a legal determination of the District's compliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements
applicable to Richmond School District’s state programs.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with
the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and
express an opinion on the District's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the 2022-23
Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Educational Agencies and State Compliance Reporting will
always detect material noncompliance when it exists.

67
P.O. Box 2196 / Folsom, CA 95763 / Phone (916) 966-3883 / Fax (916) 966-3815




Board of Trustees
Richmond School District
Page Two

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance (Concluded)

The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of
the report on compliance about the District's compliance with the requirements of the state
programs as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the
2022-23 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Educational Agencies and State Compliance
Reporting, we:

o Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit;

» Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the District's compliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances;

e Obtain an understanding of the District’'s internal control over compliance relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to
test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the 2022-23 Guide
for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Educational Agencies and State Compliance Reporting but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal
control over compliance. Accordingly, we express no such opinion; and

e Select and test transactions and records to determine the District's compliance with state
laws and regulations applicable to the following items:

Procedures
Description Performed
Local Education Agencies Other Than Charter Schools:
Attendance Yes
Teacher Certification and Misassignments Yes
Kindergarten Continuance Yes
Independent Study No (see below)
Continuation Education Not Applicable
Instructional Time Yes
Instructional Materials Yes
Ratio of Administrative Employees to Teachers Yes
Classroom Teacher Salaries Yes
Early Retirement Incentive Not Applicable
Gann Limit Calculation Yes
School Accountability Report Card Yes
Juvenile Court Schools Not Applicable

68



Board of Trustees
Richmond School District

Page Three
Procedures
Description Performed

Local Education Agencies Other Than Charter Schools (Concluded):

Middle or Early College High Schools
K-3 Grade Span Adjustment
Transportation Maintenance of Effort
Apprenticeship: Related and Supplemental Instruction
Comprehensive School Safety Plan
District of Choice
Home To School Transportation Reimbursement
Independent Study Certification For ADA Loss Mitigation
School Districts, County Offices of Education, and Charter Schools:
California Clean Energy Jobs Act
After/Before School Education and Safety Program
Proper Expenditure of Education Protection Account Funds
Unduplicated Local Control Funding Formula Pupil Counts
Local Control and Accountability Plan
Independent Study-Course Based
Immunizations
Educator Effectiveness
Expanded Learning Opportunities Grant (ELO-G)
Career Technical Education Incentive Grant
Transitional Kindergarten
Charter Schools:
Attendance
Mode of Instruction
Nonclassroom-Based Instruction/Independent Study
Determination of Funding for Nonclassroom-Based Instruction
Annual Instructional Minutes - Classroom Based
Charter School Facility Grant Program

Not Applicable
Yes

Not Applicable

Not Applicable
Yes

Not Applicable

Not Applicable
Yes

Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Yes
Yes
Yes
Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Yes
Yes
Not Applicable
Yes

Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Not Applicable

We did not perform procedures for the independent study program because the average daily
attendance claimed by the District does not exceed the threshold that requires testing.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Other Matters

The results of our auditing procedures disclosed instances of noncompliance, which are
described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, as noted in Finding
2023 - 002.

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the
District's response to the noncompliance finding identified in our audit and described in the
accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs. The District's response was not
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we
express no opinion on the response.

69



Board of Trustees
Richmond School District
Page Four

Report on Internal Control over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance on a timely basis.
A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program will not be
prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control
over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program that is less severe than a
material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by
those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to
identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our
audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be
material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies
in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of
our testing of internal control over compliance and the resulits of that testing based on the 2022-23

Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Educational Agencies and State Compliance Reporting.
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

STEPHEN ROATCH ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION
Certified Public Accountants

December 14, 2023

70



FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS SECTION



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

SECTION | - SUMMARY OF AUDITOR'S RESULTS

Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weaknesses identified? X  Yes No
Significant deficiencies identified not considered
to be material weaknesses? Yes X  None reported
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? X  Yes No
State Awards

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for
state programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings required to be reported in accordance
with the 2022-23 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local

Educational Agencies and State Compliance Reporting? X  Yes No
Internal control over state programs:
Material weaknesses identified? Yes X No
Significant deficiencies identified not considered
to be material weaknesses? Yes X  None reported

71



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

2023 - 001/ 30000

MATERIAL WEAKNESS

SECTION Il - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

MEAL REIMBURSEMENT CLAIM REPORTING

Criteria:

Condition:

Questioned Costs:

The number of meals reported on monthly meal reimbursement
claims, which are the basis for the amount of State and Federal
funding received to operate the District's child nutrition programs,
should be reviewed very carefully to ensure that the District
receives the correct amount of funding, especially since the window
for making revisions is limited to 60 days from the last day of the
claim month.

Meal counts reported for the month of March 2023 were not
reviewed in sufficient detail to discover that the reported amounts
were based on the April 2023 meal count summary, instead of
the March 2023 meal count summary. As a result, the District
understated the number of meals claimed for reimbursement by
1,122 lunches and 310 breakfasts.

None. Federal reimbursements received for the month of March
were understated by $2,089. State reimbursements received for
month of March were understated by $4,842. The understated
amounts were determined as follows:

Federal Lunch Counts

March Claim Free Reduced Paid Total
Unaudited 342 51 1534 1927
Audited 546 82 2421 3049
Understated Counts (204) (31) (887) (1,122)
Federal Rates § 433 $ 303 S 0.77 $ 008

Understated Funding $ (883) $§ (1220 5 (B83) & (80) % (1,778)

Federal Breakfast Counts

March Claim Free Reduced Paid Total
Unaudited 153 31 453 637
Audited 234 40 673 947
Understated Counts (81) (9) (220) (310)
Federal Rates $ 226 $ 196 $ 0.50
Understated Funding $§ (183) § (18) $ (110) (311)
Total $ (2,089)

72



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS (CONCLUDED)

MEAL REIMBURSEMENT CLAIM REPORTING (CONCLUDED)

Questioned Costs (Concluded):

Context:

Effect:

Cause:

Recommendation:

District Response:

State Lunch Counts

March Claim Free Reduced Paid Total
Unaudited 342 51 1534 1927
Audited 546 82 2421 3049
Understated Counts (204) (31) (887) (1,122)
State Rates $ 090 3 1.30 $ 446
Understated Funding $ (183) % (40) % (3,952) $ (4,174)

State Breakfast Counts

March Claim Free Reduced Paid Total
Unaudited 153 31 453 637
Audited 234 40 673 947
Understated Counts (81) (9) (220) (310)
State Rates $ 090 $ 1.20 $ 266
Understated Funding $ (72) % (1) $ (584) (667)
Total $ (4,842)

The District does not currently qualify to receive the one-time-only
exemption to file a revision after the 60-day window period.

The District did not claim reimbursement for all of the federal and
state revenues that it entitled to receive.

The meal reimbursement claims were not reviewed in sufficient
detail to discover that the wrong monthly summary was used to
prepare the claim.

The District should modify its review procedure to specifically verify
that monthly reimbursement claim is completed based on the
corresponding monthly meal count summary.

The District concurs with this finding. The District will establish a
procedure of checks and balances prior to submitting a final
reimbursement claim based on the corresponding monthly meal
count summary.

73



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

SECTION Ill - STATE AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

2023 - 001 / 40000

INDEPENDENT STUDY CERTIFICATION FOR ADA LOSS MITIGATION

Criteria:

Condition:

Questioned Costs:

To
on

be eligible for the 2021-22 ADA Loss Mitigation funding, based
a certification that the district provided a compliant independent

study program, the district must meet the following requirements:

(1)

(2)

Th

By no later than November 1, 2021, the District must offer an
independent study program to all students for the 2021-22
school year, that is consistent with the requirements of
Education Code Section 51745, and provide notification to
parents and guardians of all enrolled pupils pursuant to
paragraph (1) of subdivision (h) of Education Code Section
51747 and subparagraph (A) of paragraph (8) of subdivision
(b) of Education Code Section 51749.6 [Education Code
Section 42238.023(c)(1)(A)]

By no later than November 1, 2021, the District must adopt
written policies for providing instruction to pupils through
independent study, and have verifiable documentation
substantiating the provision of opportunities for live interaction
and synchronous instruction pursuant to Education Code
Section 51745.5, if applicable, or provision of activities or pupil
work product of a pupil while out on independent study that is
equivalent to in-person instruction pursuant to Education
Code Sections 51747 and 51749.5 [Education Code Section
42238.023 (c)(1)(B)]

e District was unable to provide evidence that it had provided the

required notification to parents and guardians of all enrolled pupils

of

their options to enroll their child in in-person instruction or

independent study during the 2021-22 school year.

$54,912. The amount of additional funding received for 2021-22
ADA Loss Mitigation funding, computed as follows:

Grade Span
TK/K-3 4-6 7-8 Total

2021-22 P-2 ADA - Adjusted for

2021-22 ADA Loss Mitigation 82.06 66.65 40.39 189.10
2021-22 P-2 ADA - Reported 79.34 64.44 39.05 182.83
Disallowed ADA 272 2.21 134 6.27
Derived Value of ADA $ 912103 § 8386.04 $ 863410
Questioned Costs $ 2480920 $ 1853315 $ 11,569.69  $ 54,912.04

74



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

SECTION Ill - STATE AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONCLUDED)

INDEPENDENT STUDY CERTIFICATION FOR ADA LOSS MITIGATION

Context:

Effect:

Cause;

Recommendation:

District Response:

The independent study program offered by the District for the
2021-22 school year was used primarily for short-term agreements
related to student travel.

The District did not comply with Education Code Section 41372.

Records, which must be retained as a condition of receiving
apportionments, were not shared with the business office. The
individual responsible for implementing the independent study
program is no longer employed by the District. District personnel
have been unable to locate the required documentation in the
various files left by the previous administration.

The District should establish procedures to ensure that the
business office has access to all records that substantiate
compliance with requirements that are a condition of receiving
apportionments. The District should also contact the California
Department of Education to determine if any further action is
required by the District to resolve this noncompliance.

The District concurs with this finding. The district will establish
procedures to ensure that the business office has access to all
records that substantiate compliance with requirements that are a
condition of receiving apportionments. The District will also contact
the California Department of Education to determine if any further
action is required by the District to resolve this noncompliance.

75



RICHMOND SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR RECOMMENDATIONS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Explanation if Not
Recommendations Current Status Fully Implemented

STATE AWARDS

2022 - 001 /10000
KINDERGARTEN CONTINUANCE

The District should establish procedures to Implemented
ensure that state compliant kindergarten

continuance forms are used to support all

future retentions of kindergarten students.

The District should also submit a revised

P-2 attendance report that reflects the

audit determined P-2 ADA.

76



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
between the
RICHMOND ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT
and the
CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION
and its Richmond Chapter #810

Classified Services During the Holiday Break

The Richmond Elementary School District (“District”) and the California School Employees
Association, and its Richmond Chapter #810 (“CSEA”) are parties to a collective bargaining
agreement (“CBA”) which expires on June 30, 2024. The Parties enter into this Memorandum of
Understanding governing the provision of classified services during the upcoming Holiday Break.

TERMS

1. The District desires to provide certain classified services between July 1, 2023, and June
30, 2024, (hereinafter, this period shall be referred to as the “Holiday Break™). The District
intends to use existing employees to perform such services.

2 The Superintendent of the District shall determine the classified services which shall be
provided by the District during the Holiday Break and make a list of the desired services
available to CSEA.

2: Following the Superintendent’s determination of required services, employees may contact
the Superintendent to volunteer to provide the identified service(s). The Superintendent
shall determine, in his sole and absolute discretion, which, if any, volunteering employee(s)
will provide the service(s) in question.

4. Any volunteer services performed pursuant to this Agreement shall not be considered a
contracted day, or part of the employee’s regular work year. Employees chosen to provide
volunteer services pursuant to this Agreement shall instead be compensated at their regular,
hourly rate.

5 This Agreement, and its execution, shall not be considered a past practice or be deemed
precedential in any many whatsoever.

FOR THE CALIFORNIA SCHOOL FOR THE RICHMOND ELEMENTARY

EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION, and its SCHOOL DISTRICT

Richmond Chapter #810

By: By:

Date: Date:

00245860.1

b1



OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT COVER PAGE

Customer Name

Richmond Elementary School District

Customer Address

700-585 Richmond Road, Susanville CA 96130

Customer County

Lassen

Customer Type

Owner

Customer Contact

Jeanette Goni

Customer Title

Business Manager

Version Date / Executed Date 11/6/2023
(when final)

Number of Sites 1

Aggregate System Size (kW) 78.00

First Year O&M Fees ($/Year) $5,600.00
Term of Agreement (Months) 120 Months
Performance Guarantee (%) 90%

First Year True-Up Fee (3/kWh) $0.17

Escalation Rate (%/Year)
Applied to O&M Fee and True-Up
Fee

Economic price adjustments to match the annual percent
change shown on The Consumer Price Index for All Urban
Consumers (CPI-U); Western Region; All Items; not

seasonally adjusted,
(https://www.bls.gov/regions/west/news-
release/consumerpriceindex_west.htm. ).

Site Inspection Frequency

Annual




OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT

by and between

Richmond Elementary School District

and

SiteloglQ, Inc.
1651 Response Rd., Suite 300

Sacramento, California 95815



TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEFINITIONS........csoismsiinmissessrstaiiias oo siivsnvie s wiairiviee
2.1, SYStem SEIrVICES .......cireerureeemoiitit st iis i esiesas v s e v
2.2.  Annual Reports and MEEINEG ......cccvivuiiriniriisinnnisie it sas s sssssnsss s ssssnsnes
2.3.  Warranty on Repair or Replacement Work ........cccceiiiiiiiinnnas
2.4, INSUFANCE..,..n s epmsemengeessmesmmibsssiismissin s R e
2.5.  General Obligations of OWNET .........ccoeieiminiiinianniineninercnninnn
2.6, PEIMILS .....ooimmsisssisimsiessivgiosmessvonimonsios ronsiiils S0 Sa st i b s T35
2.7. Telephone & Data ComMmMUNICAION ...ecvviiiiiriuiniiiisiinninsiessesinse s escns
2.8.  SOTage ............... issitisatisisnmtmiesasasictiseias S i o Saaii
2.9.  Duty to COOPEIate ....couereiuiisrvreirriesnreeransimssssneeerineseasseseneeesanesnne
31, TOrMaeenne e S R R RS s R SE e A R A w3 SON e 83
3.2, Termination......cocoeveeeeueersmssomnasanersasssnssssssnnesssrasssassnansssssssenssns
4.1,  COMPENSALION ....coccursrnrerssernporopsssrersitsapsnsmmyissiassassasasesssssssanies
4.2.  Late Payments..........cccoererersimssimapiosssmessionise sivssesetssinsmsienisne
4.3. Disputed Payments............... oiusdussissssissssnosisvosssionsssssnsivissivasonss
OPERATOR’S GUARANTEE .....c.ooriiiitiinniiimiinsiniissssnessisssessasssessassssssssssrssassrasssssssnns
6.1.  NO Partnership ...cooccoeeeiiiiiiiciiimisiriniiis s sne s s e s sa e sneen
6.2.  Party RepreSentatives. .. s s s sin biasts s sssssiassssstssssssssisaessbassissesseasrsresssnse
6.3. Notices and Demands. .;.iasicsimsmmemmsnissmniin

6.4.  Force Majeure EVENt.....cocooiiiiiiiianrirciciieien et erae s

.10

11

11

12



6.5.

6.6.

6.7.

6.8.

6.9.

6.10.
6.11.
6.12.
6.13.
6.14.
6.15.
6.16.
6.17.
6.18.
6.19.
6.20.

EXHIBITS

Exhibit A
Exhibit B
Exhibit C
Exhibit D
Exhibit E
Exhibit F

Dispute ReSOIUION ......ciiiiiiiieiiiit ittt sins st resrer e s s sras s sban e nnnes
IndemnifiCatioN. .....cccvieeriereece et
Consequential Damages.............irsmamsnnssmyimiavsi
Limit of Liability......cocooieiiieii i e
Governing Law. .......o.cooeeeeeeee i savisiiiaiissmimivians
TaX IMALEIS ..eeeieieeerisieneerree s s e teessre e e e s s s e e s amsreanee s s e snamanes
Successors and ASSIZNS....ccuieaieruirieraiaiesrreeesireeesiee e e seaees
Announcements and Publications. ......ccc.couereveeciiniienisensnen
No Waiver....................... .......................................................
Validity. ..ooeeeceiraieciene e i SRR S R
Priority of DOCUIMENES. ...eeeierieerieiieeiiieeeinieeiae e senesraaaneees
Time Of ESSENCE. ... eiveueieieieneirtcetrr e n e s
HEAAINES. «.eeieteeirrierriesiretere st ea s s e eeseese e ae et ms e e sras shaennseesbesseasesaseneean
Binding Bfect. ..o uimuicmmsmsiiisimisimmissims b i ssisiamsses s sinas s bission smmsiesssss
Counterparts; Signature Pages. iswus-sassisisassmsssissisoiasissiess

Complete AGreement. ........cocccvorreiiermeeirnmnenierssivnmsisrssssneens

Definitions

System Services

Insurance

Sites and System Size

Annual Energy Production Evaluation

Rates for Additional Services

.................................

12
13
14
14
14
14
15
15
15
16
16
16
16

16

................................. 16

................................. 16



OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT

This Operation and Maintenance Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into as of

, between the Richmond Elementary School District, organized and

existing under the laws of the State of California (“Owner”) and SiteloglQ, Inc., a Delaware
corporation doing business as SiteloglQ, Inc ("Operator").

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Owner currently owns, or intends to construct, install, and
commission photovoltaic solar electric facilities (individually called System, together called
“Systems”).

WHEREAS, the Systems were constructed at various Owner sites (individually
called Site, together called Sites).

WHEREAS, the Systems and Sites are as provided in Exhibit D.

WHEREAS, Operator, in its capacity as operator hereunder, has agreed to operate
and maintain the Systems under the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties

hereby agree as follows:

SitelogiQ, Inc. 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 1



AGREEMENT
L. DEFINITIONS

Unless otherwise required by the context in which any term appears: (a) capitalized terms used in
this Agreement shall have the respective meanings set forth in Exhibit A; (b) the singular shall
include the plural and vice versa; (c) the word “including” shall mean “including, without
limitation”, {d) references to “Sections™ and “Exhibits” shall be to sections and exhibits hereof; (e)
the words “herein”, “hereof” and “hereunder” shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to
_any particular section or subsection hereof; and (f) references to this Agreement shall include a

reference to all Exhibits hereto, as the same may be amended, modified, supplemented or replaced
from time to time.

2. SERVICES

2.1. System Services

(a) Throughout the Term-of this Agreement, Operator shall provide System -
Services as set forth in Exhibit B for the Systems.

(b) Operator shall perform Annual energy production evaluations for each
System.

(c) System Services shall be performed in accordance with Industry
Standards and Applicable Law for photovoltaic solar projects in
California.

(d) All periodic maintenance and inspection services shall be performed at
regular intervals as described in Exhibit B

(e) All maintenance and inspection services shall be performed by qualified
technical personnel in accordance with the O&M manuals.

) Operator personnel and agents will check-in at offices during business
hours prior to beginning Work.

(g) Repair of damaged/vandalized Systems shall be performed by Operator,
as directed by Owner, at the rates specified in Exhibit F.

(h) Any other Owner requested services not defined in this Agreement shall
be billed at the rates specified in Exhibit F on a time and materials basis.

2.2. Annual Reports and Meeting

Throughout the Term, Operator shall furnish to Owner an Annual Report. Each period for the
Annual Report shall begin on the date of Final Completion of the System installation and end three
hundred and sixty-four (364) days later, except for leap years, where the period ends three hundred
and sixty-five (365) days later. The Annual Report shall be submitted within two (2) months from

SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O& M Agreement
Page 2



the period ending. The Annual Report shall include the following:

rER Mo e o

Summary of operations;

Weather and energy production data;

Calculation of Cumulative Annual Energy Production;
Reports of any environmental disturbances (e.g. Fires);
True-Up Refund, if any;

Safety/accident reports;

Summary of Additional Services, if any;

Maintenance and inspection logs; and

Proposal of actions required to be taken by Operator, if any.

2.3. Warranty on Repair or Replacement Work

(a) Subject to the limitations set forth in this Section 2.3, commencing on the
date the System was repaired or replaced, and for a period of one (1) year,
Operator warrants that such work will be free from defects in materials
and workmanship under normal operating conditions and shall conform
to the final System design. If the work has a defect that causes it to fail to
conform to any of the foregoing Warranties, Operator will, at its option,
either repair or replace the portion of the work that is defective at no cost
to the Owner.

(b)  This Warranty shall not cover any defects to the extent such defect is
caused by any of the following:

M

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

Poor workmanship by the original Installer, if Installer was not
Operator or Operator’s Subcontractors.

Alterations or repairs made to the System by anyone except for
Operator or Operator’s Subcontractors without Operator's prior
written approval;

Failure of the System to perform caused by legislative,
administrative, or executive regulation, order or requisition of the
government, local utility or public utilities commission, or any
state, provincial or municipal government or official;

Use of the System by anyone except for Operator or Operator’s
Subcontractors beyond the scope contemplated in its operating
manuals or technical specifications;

Damage to the System not caused directly or indirectly by
Operator or its Subcontractors under any agreement between
Operator and Owner;

SiteloglQ, Inc.

11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement

Page 3



©

(d)

(e)

(vi) Damage or property loss to the System caused by third parties
including, but not limited to, vandalism and theft.

(vii)  Manufacture defects or return merchandise authorization of
equipment.

(viiiy  Force Majeure Events; and

(ix) A change in usage of the Site, which may affect building or Site

" TPermitsand related requirements, without the writtén approval of
Operator, or a change in Ownership of building or property and
the new Owner has not signed an assumption agreement of the
terms and conditions herein.

Corrections, repairs, or replacement covering the equipment, materials,
and labor as a result of the defects above shall be billed at the rates
specified in Exhibit F,_on a time and materials basis

The Operator Warranty assumes that all Manufacturer Warranties have
been assigned to the Owner. Operator's obligations under the Operator
Warranty do not apply to defects in materials or equipment provided by
Manufacturer Warranty. Operator makes no representation or Warranty,
and Owner shall seek no recourse from Operator, regarding Manufacturer
Warranties, including without limitation, the power output of the PV
modules.

To the extent that Manufacturer Warranties cover replacement and/or
repair of any System equipment during the Term, it shall be Operator's
responsibility under this Agreement to use commercially reasonable
efforts to submit, process and pursue Warranty coverage; provided,
however, that, because Warranty claims may need to be submitted in the
name of Owner, Owner shall provide such full and complete cooperation
as Operator may reasonably require in connection with such submission,
processing and pursuit of Warranty coverage. Owner shall be responsible
for any differences in cost if an Manufacturer Warranty does not fully
cover labor or replacement cost.

Operator agrees to act as agent on behalf of Owner for purposes of Section
2.3(d). If, in the event the equipment manufacturer denies responsibility
for Warranty service and Operator is instructed by Owner to pursue action
against the equipment manufacturer, whether through litigation or
otherwise, Owner shall reimburse Operator for any of the costs, expenses,
or repairs incurred by Operator in this context, even if such attempt to
recover from the equipment manufacturer fails, provided that such failure
is not the result of errors or omissions by Operator. Such costs shall be

SiteloglQ, Inc.

11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement

Page 4



reimbursed by Owner to Operator within thirty (30) days of receipt of
invoice.

) This Warranty shall expire one (1) year after the repair has taken place.

(2) Except as expressly provided herein or in the Agreement, Operator
expressly disclaims any and all warranties of any kind, express, implied
or statutory, including without limitation any implied warranties of
merchantability and/or fitness for a particular purpose.

2.4. Insurance

Without limiting any of the obligations or liabilities of either of the Parties, each of the Parties
shall at all times throughout the Term of this Agreement and any renewal thereof, carry and
maintain, or cause to be carried and maintained, at its own expense, such insurances coverage in

Exhibit C.

2.5. General Obligations of Owner

Owner shall ensure that Operator and its authorized agents, employees or Subcontractors shall
have reasonable access to the Site in order to provide scheduled or unscheduled maintenance
activities, maintenance of the grounds, emergency services, or to conduct other System Services,
in all cases, to the extent that such activities and/or services are within the scope of this Agreement
and are provided in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. Except in the case of an
emergency, Operator shall give forty-eight (48) hours prior written notice to the appropriate Owner
Site administrator, whose name and contact information shall be provided to Operator, before any
entry onto the Site by Operator's employees, agents or contractors.

2.6. Permits

(a) Subject to Section 2.6(b), Owner shall be responsible for procuring,
obtaining, maintaining and complying with all Owner acquired Permits
applicable as of the date hereof. If any new Owner acquired Permits
become required for the operation of the System due to a change in the
Applicable Law after the date of this Agreement, Owner shall obtain such
Permits in a timely manner and at its sole cost and expense, except where
such additional Owner acquired Permits arise as a result of any omission,
neglect or default of Operator, in which case Operator shall reimburse
Owner for any costs or losses arising as a result of or in connection with
procuring, obtaining, maintaining and complying with such Owner
acquired Permits.

(b) To the extent that a Party is required to obtain any Applicable Permits, the
other Party agrees to cooperate with and assist that Party in obtaining the
same and the Party which is required to obtain such Applicable Permits
shall reimburse the other Party for its reasonable costs in providing such
assistance. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary,

SitelogiQ. Inc. 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O& M Agreement
Page 5



Operator shall be required to comply with Applicable Law as in effect on
the date of this Agreement at no additional charge to Owner. Following
the date of this Agreement, any costs incurred by Operator in performing
its obligations hereunder resulting from changes in Applicable Permit
conditions or requirements, or changes in Applicable Law, shall be borne
by Owner except to the extent it does not involve an increase in the scope
of System Services.

2.7. Telephone & Data Communication

Owner shall directly pay any utility or other third-party service provider invoices as become due
as may be required for Operator's remote access to telephone and/or data communications service
available at the Site to the extent necessary for the performance by Operator of System Services
under this Agreement. Owner will be responsible for all monthly service charges related to
telephone and data communications services.

2.8, Storage

To the extent Operator has established space on the Site and to the extent that any such use is
permitted under Applicable Law, Operator may use such space for storing parts and supplies
necessary for the performance of System Services. At Operator's option and upon the written
approval of Owner, additional storage sheds may be installed at the Site at Operator's expense.
Operator must seek and obtain building Permits and other local Permits and approvals required in
connection therewith (which shall be designated as Operator acquired Permits) and Owner shall
reasonably cooperate in obtaining such Permits and approvals. Operator shall maintain any space
utilized in accordance with this Agreement as if it were part of System Services and shall be
required (at its own cost), if requested by Owner, to remove any storage sheds installed at the Site
at the end of the Term.

2.9. Duty to Cooperate

Owner shall cooperate with Operator in taking all actions reasonably requested by Operator to
ensure that parties with whom Owner has agreements or relationships that are essential to System
Services are available and able to perform as contemplated in this Agreement. Owner shall be
directly responsible for all utility costs (water, communication, electricity) of the System except
to the extent that such costs arise resulting the omission, neglect or default of Operator.

3. TERM
3.1.  Term
(a) The term of this Agreement ("Term") includes the period during which
System Services are to be provided for the Systems and shall commence
the latter of when the first System has achieved Final Completion or the
date of this Agreement; and expire upon the Term as defined in the Cover
Page.
SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O& M Agreement
Page 6



(b) The Term shall be subject to the provisions of Section 3.2 (termination).

(©) Auto-Renewal. Upon expiration of the original Term This Agreement will
automatically renew on an annual basis, and continue to renew annually
until either Party elects to terminate per Section 3.2(d). Annual Auto-
Renewals will include economic price adjustments to match the annual
percent change shown on The Consumer Price Index for All Urban
Consumers (CPI-U); Western Region; All Items; not seasonally adjusted,
(https://www.bls.gov/regions/west/news-
release/consumerpriceindex_west.htm. ).

(d) Extension. Either Party may request, and Parties shall agree to negotiate
an extension in good faith and in a timely fashion prior to the expiration
of the Term, though neither Party shall be obligated to enter into an
extension and may terminate per Section 3.2.

3.2. Termination

(a) Owner may terminate this Agreement in the event of any of the following:
@) Operator becomes Insolvent; or

(ii) Failure by Operator to perform any of its material obligations
under this Agreement, which failure is not remedied within thirty
(30) calendar days of written notice of such failure from Owner
to Operator; notwithstanding, (1) such failure cannot reasonably
be remedied within such thirty (30) calendar day period, and (2)
Operator commences cure of such failure within the thirty (30)
calendar day period and thereafter diligently seeks to remedy
such failure, then Owner shall not be entitled to terminate this
Agreement until such time as Operator ceases all reasonable
endeavors to cure such failure unless such failure continues for a
period of a ninety (90) calendar days from the original written
notice from Owner; or

(iii) A Force Majeure Event occurs which prevents Operator from
providing a material part of System Services for a continuous
period of at least one hundred eighty (180) calendar days and
Owner reasonably concludes such prevention is not reasonably
likely to be remedied within a further period of one hundred
eighty (180) calendar days. Subject to Section 6.5, Owner shall
compensate Operator for all System Services completed prior to
the termination date.

(b) Operator may terminate this Agreement in the event of any of the
following:

SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 7



(©

(d)

(e)

¢y

Q) Owner fails to pay to Operator any amounts due under this
Agreement (other than any amounts which are the subject of a
good faith dispute) within fifteen (15) calendar days of written
notice of such failure from Operator to Owner, provided that
failure to pay shall not be on account of the negligence or willful
action or inaction of Operator; or

(ii) Material breach by Owner of any of its obligations under this
Agreement, which materially impairs Operator's ability to
perform its obligations under this Agreement, and which breach
is not remedied within thirty (30) calendar days of written notice
of such failure from Operator to Owner; notwithstanding, (1) (A)
if such failure cannot reasonably be remedied within the thirty
(30) calendar day period, and (B) Owner commences cure of such
failure within the thirty (30) calendar day period, and thereafter
diligently seeks to remedy such failure, then Operator shall not

ceases reasonable efforts to cure such failure unless such failure
continues for a period of ninety (90) calendar days from the
original written notice from Operator; and (2) failure of Owner to
perform its obligations is not on account of the negligence or
willful action or inaction of Owner; or

(iii) Owner becomes Insolvent.

Parties may terminate this Agreement, either partially or in whole, by
mutual written consent. Termination by mutual consent may be initiated
by either Party at any time by written means. Upon such termination,
Owner shall compensate Operator for all System Services completed prior
to the termination date.

End of Term. No later than one hundred eighty (180) calendar days prior
to the end of the original Term, or end of the Autorenewal Term, either
Party may request to terminate this Agreement upon written notice written
notice.

A notice of termination given pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this
Section 3.2 shall specify in reasonable detail the circumstances giving rise
to the Termination Notice. Except to the extent otherwise provided herein,
this Agreement shall terminate on the date specified in the Termination
Notice, which date shall not be earlier than the date upon which the
applicable Party is entitled to effect such termination as provided above.

Termination of this Agreement shall not affect any rights or obligations
as between the Parties which may have accrued prior to such termination
or which expressly or by implication are intended to survive termination

SiteloglQ, Inc.

11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement

Page 8

" be entitied to terminate this Agreement until such time as Owner ~



whether resulting from the event giving rise to termination or otherwise,
including, without limitation, Sections 6.7 and 6.8.

4. SERVICE FEES

4.1. Compensation

As compensation for provision of System Services by Operator, Owner shall pay Operator an
O&M Fee as provided on the Cover Page, and escalating at the Escalation Rate for each year
("Service Fees"). Service Fees are due within thirty (30) calendar days of Invoice Date. First annual
invoice will be submitted to the Owner upon execution of the Agreement. All subsequent invoices

will be submitted annually.

4.2. Late Payments

Overdue payment obligations of Owner hereunder shall bear interest from the date due until the
date paid at a rate per annum equal to the rate published by the Wall Street Journal as the "prime
rate" on the date on which such interest begins to accrue plus two percent (2%).

4.3, Disputed Payments

In the event that Owner disputes any portion of an invoice submitted by Operator, Owner shall pay
the undisputed portion thereof when due. All disputed payments shall be resolved in accordance

Section 6.5.

5. OPERATOR’S GUARANTEE

(a) Operator shall conduct and provide to Owner an evaluation each calendar
year during the effective Term of the Agreement to determine the
Cumulative Annual Energy Production from all the Systems combined.

(b) The Cumulative Annual Energy Production shall be measured for each
Annual Production Period. No evaluation will be performed for the first
partial period (Final Completion for all Systems to the first December 31
of the Term) and the final partial period evaluation will be prorated (Jan
1 of the Term to Term expiration).

() The Cumulative Annual Energy Production shall be compared to the
Expected Annual Energy Production calculated upon Final completion for
all the Systems combined to evaluate the performance of the Systems.

d Energy Production Guarantee: Operator hereby guarantees to Owner a
g p y g
minimum energy output for the aggregate of the Systems for each Annual

Production Period.

(e) The evaluation shall be conducted in accordance with the procedures
provided in Exhibit E.

SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 9



M

(@

(h)

0)

If the Systems fail to meet the Energy Production Guarantee, then within
ninety (90) calendar days after the failure is identified, the Operator shall
pay the Owner a True-Up Refund.

If the Cumulative Annual Energy Production is more than one hundred
five percent (105%) of the Expected Annual Energy Production, then the
Owner shall give a XWh credit to the Operator for every kWh between the
measured Cumulative Annual Energy Production and one hundred five
percent (105%) of the Expected Annual Energy Production for such

Annual Production Period. Operator shall be entitled to apply this credit
to any future Annual Production Period at the Operator’s sole discretion.

The Expected Annual Energy Production for the combined Systems shall
be reduced accordingly for the period of time any System is not in
operation in connection with (a) temporary removal of the System, a
movement to an alternate location, or a temporary shutdown of the System
or any-portion-thereof; (b) the occurrence of anevent of Force Majeure
has temporarily impaired or disabled the operation of any System or any
portion thereof; (c) Owner interferes with the System, refuses repair, or
recommended services; (d) vandalism or theft, (e) Utility caused outages,
or (f) any manufacturer defects that cause outages. Operator shall provide
and justify data verifying the loss of generation using the System Model
defined in Exhibit E.

Operator's Expected Annual Energy Production shall proportionately
terminate and be of no further force or effect if any System, or any portion
thereof, is subject to a permanent shutdown or an event of Force Majeure
occurs, the effect of which to permanently impair or interfere with the
operation of the System, or any portion thereof.

The Parties agree that Owner shall avoid activities that result in
overshadowing or shading of the Systems in a manner that would prevent
Operator from satisfying its Energy Production Guarantee. In the event
the Systems, or any portion thereof, is overshadowed or shaded in a
manner that prevents Operator from satisfying its Energy Production
Guarantee for any reason beyond the control of Operator, Owner agrees
that Operator's Expected Annual Energy Production shall be reduced
accordingly. Operator shall provide and justify data verifying the loss of
generation using the System Model of the System due to overshadowing
or shading.

6. MISCELLANEQOUS

6.1.

No Partnership

This Agreement is not intended, and shall not be construed, to create any association, joint venture,

SiteloglQ, Inc

11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O& M Agreement

Page 10



agency relationship or partnership between or among the Parties or to impose any such obligation
or liability upon any Party. No Party shall have any right, power or authority to enter into any
contract or undertaking for, or act as or be an agent or representative of, or otherwise bind, the
other Party or Parties.

6.2.

6.3.

Party Representatives

()

(b)

Owner Representative. Owner designates, and Operator agrees to accept,
Jeanette Goni. as " Owner Representative" for all matters relating to
Owner's performance under this Agreement. The actions taken by Owner
Representative regarding such performance shall be Owner the acts of
Owner and shall be fully binding on Owner. Owner may, upon written
notice to Operator, change the designated Owner Representative.

Operator Representative. Operator designates, and Owner agrees to
accept, Lesley Soekland, as "Operator Representative" for all matters
relating to Operator's performance under this Agreement. The actions
taken by Operator Representative shall be deemed the acts of Operator.
Operator may, upon written notice to Owner, change the designated
Operator Representative.

Notices and Demands.

Any notice, request, demand or other communication required or permitted under this Agreement,
shall be deemed to be properly given by the sender and received by the addressee if made in writing
and (a) if personally delivered; (b) three (3) days after deposit in the mail if mailed by certified or
registered air mail, post prepaid, with a return receipt requested; or (c) if sent by facsimile with
confirmation. Mailed notices and facsimile notices shall be addressed as follows to:

Owner:

Name:

Attention:

Address:

Phone:
Email:

Operator:
SiteloglQ Inc.

Attention: Solar Operations, West Energy
1651 Response Rd., Suite 300
Sacramento, CA 95815

Phone: (916) 914-1929

Email: westsolar@sitelogig.com

cc: legal@sitelogiq.com

Richmond Elementary School District
Jeanette Goni
700-585 Richmond Road, Susanville CA 96130

530-257-2338
jgoni@richmondelementary.com

SiteloglQ, Inc

11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement

Page 1]



6.4. Force Majeure Event

(a) Neither Party shall be considered to be in default of its obligations under
this Agreement when and to the extent that performance of such
obligations is prevented by any Force Majeure Event which arises after

the date of this Agreement.

(b)  Ifeither Party shall rely on the occurrence of a Force Majeure Eventasa

basis for being excused from the performance of its obligaﬁons under this
Agreement, then the Party relying on the event or condition shall (i)
provide prompt notice to the other Party of the occurrence of the Force
Majeure Event, giving an estimation of its expected duration and the
probable impact on the performance of its obligations hereunder; (ii)
exercise all commercially reasonable efforts to continue to perform its
obligations hereunder; (iii) expeditiously take any action within its
— —reasonable control to correct or cure the Force Majeure Event excusing
performance; (iv) exercise all commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate
or limit damages to the other Party to the extent such action will not
adversely affect its own interests; and (v) provide periodic notices to the
other Party with respect to its actions and plans for actions in accordance
with (ii), (iii) and (iv) above and promptly notify to the other Party of the
cessation of the event or condition giving rise to it being excused from
performance.

(c) In the event that Operator is prevented from providing all or part of
System Services as a result of a Force Majeure Event for a period of thirty
(30) consecutive days and it is reasonably expected that Operator will not
be able to resume full performance of System Services within an
additional thirty (30) days, Owner shall be entitled to require Operator to
reduce the scope of System Services commencing as of the date of such
notice by Owner until such time as Operator can demonstrate, to the
reasonable satisfaction of Owner, that Operator is able to resume full
performance of System Services. As from the date on which Owner
reduces System Services until the date on which Operator resumes full
performance of System Services, the obligation of Owner to pay the fee
pursuant to Section 4 shall be reduced proportionately to take account of
the level of System Services that Operator is actually performing.

(d) Operator shall document any Force Majeure Event and its consequences
so that costs which are directly attributable to such Force Majeure Event
may be claimed by Owner from any insurance carried by Owner.

6.5. Dispute Resolution

SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023
Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 12



(2)

(b)

©

(@)

Good faith negotiations. In the event of any Dispute , of which either Party
has notified the other, senior management personnel from both Operator
and Owner shall meet and diligently attempt in good faith to resolve the
Dispute for a period of thirty (30) days following one Party’s written
request to the other Party for such a meeting. If, however, either Party
refuses or fails to so meet, or the Dispute is not resolved by negotiation,
the provisions of Subsections (b). (c) and (d) of this Section shall apply to
the extent applicable to the Dispute.

Technical Dispute. Technical Disputes shall be resolved by an
independent expert. All Technical Disputes shall be resolved on an
accelerated basis by a nationally recognized professional expert mutually
agreed in writing by Operator and Owner. Parties will share equally in the
cost of the independent expert engaged to resolve Technical Disputes.

Non-Binding Mediation. If the Dispute remains unresolved, a Party may
require that a non-binding mediation take place with a mediator mutually
chosen by Owner and Operator. If Owner and Operator are unable to agree
on a mediator, then either may request that the American Arbitration
Association to appoint a mediator. The mediator’s fee and expenses shall
be paid one-half by Owner, and one-half by Operator. In any such
mediation, representatives of the Parties with authority to resolve the
dispute shall meet for at least three (3) hours with mediator. The
obligation to mediate shall not be binding upon any Party with respect to
(i) requests for preliminary injunctions, temporary restraining orders,
specific performance, or other procedures in a court of competent
jurisdiction to obtain interim relief deemed necessary by such court to
preserve the status quo or prevent irreparable injury pending resolution by
arbitration of the actual Dispute; (ii) actions to collect payments not
subject to bona fide Dispute; or (iii) claims involving third parties who
have not agreed to participate in the mediation of the Dispute. The
provisions of this Section 6.5 shall survive any termination of this

Agreement.

Attorneys’ Fees. The prevailing Party in any action brought to enforce the
terms of this Agreement or arising out of this Agreement may recover its
reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees expended in connection with such an
action from the other Party.

Indemnification.

The Parties hereto agree to defend, indemnify and hold one another harmless from and against any
and all liability, loss, expense, attorneys’ fees, or claims for injury and/or damages arising from or
in any way connected to the performance of this Agreement, but only in proportion to and to the
extent such liability, loss, expense, attorneys’ fees, or claims for injury or damages are caused by
or result from the negligent or intentional acts or omissions of the indemnifying Party, its officers,

SiteloglQ, Inc
Richmond Elementary School District Solar O& M Agreement

11/6/2023

Page 13



agents or employees.

6.7. Consequential Damauses.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, and to the fullest extent permitted by law,
neither the Owner nor Operator, their respective officers, directors, partners, employees,
contractors or subconsultants shall be liable to the other or shall make any claim for any incidental,
indirect or consequential damages arising out of or connected in any way to the project or to this
Agreement. This mutual waiver of consequential damages shall include, but is not limited to, loss
of use, loss of profit, loss of business, loss of income, loss of reputation or any other consequential
damages that either Party may have incurred from any cause of action including negligence, strict
liability, breach of contract and breach of strict or implied warranty.

6.8. Limit of Liability.

To the maximum extent permitted by law, Owner agrees to limit Operator’s liability for any and
all claims, losses, costs, damages of any nature whatsoever or claims expenses from any cause or
causes, including attorneys’ fees and costs and expert-witness fees and costs, so that the total
aggregate liability of Operator to the Owner shall not exceed the equivalent to one (1) year Service
Fee as calculated for the first twelve (12) months of the Agreement. It is intended that this
limitation apply to any and all liability or cause of action however alleged or arising, unless
otherwise prohibited by law. '

6.9. Governing Law.

The formation, interpretation and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California. In the event of any Dispute that
is not resolved pursuant to Section 6.5, the Parties hereto agree to submit to the jurisdiction of
any court of competent jurisdiction within Lassen County in which the Site is located and shall
comply with all requirements necessary to give such court jurisdiction.

6.10. Tax Matters

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein or in any other agreement to which the
parties hereto are parties or by which they are bound, the obligations of confidentiality contained
herein and therein, as they relate to the transactions described in and contemplated by such
agreements, shall not apply to the U.S. Federal tax structure or U.S. Federal tax treatment of the
System, and each of the parties hereto (and any employee, representative or agent of any Party
hereto) may disclose to any and all persons without limitation of any kind, the U.S. Federal tax
structure and U.S. Federal tax treatment of such transactions. The preceding sentence is intended
to cause the System or the interests in them pursuant to the agreements between the Parties not to
be treated as having been offered under conditions of confidentiality for purposes of section
1.6011-4(b)(3) (or any successor provision) of the Treasury Regulations promulgated under
Section 6011 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and shall be construed in a
manner consistent with such purpose. In addition, each of the Parties acknowledges that it has no
proprietary or exclusive rights to the tax structure of the transactions described in and contemplated

SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 14



by the agreements between the Parties or any tax matter or tax idea related to such transactions.

6.11. Successors and Assigns

(a) Except as set forth in this Agreement, no Party shall be entitled to assign
this Agreement or any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement,
nor shall it enter into any transaction as a result of which it may transfer,
assign, charge or dispose by any title of any of those rights and
obligations, without the prior written consent of the other Party, which
may be withheld in its sole and absolute discretion; provided that nothing
herein shall prohibit Owner's membership interests from being sold to an
Affiliate of Owner, or an entity which has, in whole or in part, common
ownership, directly or indirectly, with the ownership of Owner.

(b)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) Owner shall be entitled to assign its
right, title and interest in and to this Agreement (and, in particular, any
rights arising in relation to any insurance policy and any other right to
collect any amount from Operator) to any lenders by way of security for
the performance of obligations to such lenders without the consent of
Operator; and (ii) Operator shall be entitled to assign its right, obligation,
title and interest in and to this Agreement to any of its Affiliates or in
connection with a merger or acquisition of Operator. Parties shall provide
a written notice at least thirty (30) days prior to assigning the rights, title,
and interest in and to this Agreement.

6.12. Announcements and Publications.

Operator shall coordinate with Owner with respect to, and provide advance copies to Owner for
review of, the text of any proposed announcements or publications that include any non-public
information concerning the Work prior to the dissemination thereof to the public or to any Person
other than Subcontractors or advisors of Operator, in each case, who agree to keep such
information confidential. If Owner delivers written notice to Operator rejecting any such proposed
announcement or publication within two (2) Business Days after receiving such advance copies,
the Operator shall not make such public announcement or publication; provided, however, that
Operator may disseminate or release such information in response to requirements of
Governmental Authority.

6.13. No Waiver

No provision of this Agreement shall be considered waived by either Party except when such
waiver is made in writing. The failure of either Party to insist, on one or more occasions, upon
strict performance of any of the provisions of this Agreement or to take advantage of its rights
hereunder or the delay or failure in exercising totally or partially any right or remedy under this
Agreement, shall not be construed as a waiver of any such provisions or the relinquishment of any
such rights or any other rights for the future, but the same shall continue and remain in full force

and effect.

SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 15



6.14.  Validity.

The provisions contained in each section, subsection and clause of this Agreement shall be
enforceable independently of each of the others and their validity shall not be affected if any of
the others are invalid. If any of those provisions is void but would be valid if some part of the
provision were deleted, the provision in question shall apply with such modification as may be
necessary to make it valid. The Parties shall, if necessary, negotiate in good faith and make any
necessary amendments to ensure the enforceable terms of this Agreement reflect the true intent of
the Parties as of the date of execution of this Agreement.

6.15. Priority of Documents.

In the event of conflicting provisions in the Agreement, the provisions shall govern in the following
priority: first, duly executed amendments to this Agreement (to the extent not superseded by a
subsequent amendment), second, this Agreement, and third, Exhibits.

_ . _ 616, TimeofEssence, .. ..~ _ -

Time is expressly agreed to be of the essence of this Agreement and each, every and all of the
terms, conditions and provisions herein.

6.17. Headings.

The headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and the words contained
therein shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify or aid in the interpretation, construction
or meaning of the provisions of this Agreement.

6.18. Binding Effect.

This Agreement shall be binding on the Parties hereto and on their respective permitted successors,
heirs and assigns.

6.19. Counterparts: Signature Pages.

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts which, taken together, shall constitute a single
instrument. Facsimile and other electronically transmitted signature pages shall be effective to bind
a Party to this Agreement.

6.20. Complete Agreement.

(a) This Agreement together with the Exhibits hereto completely and
exclusively states the agreement of the Parties regarding its subject matter
and its terms govern, all prior proposals, agreements, or other
communications between the Parties, oral or written, regarding such
subject matter. No verbal, or written agreement nor conversation with any
officer or employee of either Party nor any or all prior proposals shall
affect or modify any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement. This

SiteloglQ, Inc 11/6/2023
Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 16



Agreement shall not be modified except by written amendment signed on
behalf of the Owner and Operator by their duly authorized representatives.
Any purported oral amendment to the Agreement shall have no effect.

(b) Each Party acknowledges that it has not relied on any representation,
warranty, collateral contract or other assurance made by or on behalf of
any other Party at any time before the signature of this Agreement. Each
Party waives all rights and remedies which, but for this clause (ii), might
otherwise be available to it in respect of any such representation,
warranty, collateral contract or other assurance.

[Signature page follows]

SiteloglQ. Inc. 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 17



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Operation and Maintenance Agreement

as of the date first above written.

Owner:

Richmond Elemeéntary School District
Name: Jeanette Goni
Title: Business Manager

Operator:

" SitelogIQ, Inc

Name: Lesley Soekland
Title: Director of Operations

SiteloglQ, Inc.
Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 18

11/6/2023



EXHIBIT A
TO
OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT

DEFINED TERMS

As used in the attached Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

Additional Services means any other services not defined in this Agreement which shall be billed
at the rates specified in Exhibit F on a time and materials basis.

Affiliate of a specified Person means any Person that directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified Person.
As used in this definition of Affiliate, the term "control" of a specified Person including, with
correlative meanings, the terms, "controlled by" and "under common control with," means (a) the
Ownership, directly or indirectly, of 50% or more of the equity interest in a Person or (b) the power
to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through
Ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

Agreement means this Operation and Maintenance Agreement as it may be amended and/or
restated from time to time.

Annual Energy Production Evaluation is an analysis which measures and compares the
Cumulative Annual Energy Production with the Energy Production Guarantee based on Exhibit E.

Annual Production Period is the period between January 1 and December 31.

Annual Reports or Annual Reports mean the annual maintenance/inspection report covering all
Systems for the twelve-month period described in Section 2.2.

Applicable Law shall mean, with respect to any Governmental Authority, any constitutional
provision, law, statute, rule, regulation, ordinance, treaty, order, decree, judgment, decision,
certificate, injunction, registration, license, permit, authorization, guideline, governmental
approval, consent or requirement of such Governmental Authority, as construed from time to time
by any Governmental Authority.

Applicable Permits shall mean, collectively, Operator acquired Permits and the Owner acquired
permits.

Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday, or State of California or federal
holidays) on which banks are generally open in California for normal business.

Cumulative Annual Energy Production means the actual alternating current (AC) electrical
output in kilowatt-hours (kWh) for the Annual Production Period as measured and recorded by all
the Systems revenue meters and adjusted for meter calibration error, if required.

Dispute means any question, dispute, difference or claim that arises out of or in connection with
this Agreement, including any question regarding its existence, validity, performance, or

SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 19



termination.

Energy Production Guarantee is the guaranteed energy production output calculated by
multiplying the Performance Guarantee percentage by the Expected Annual Energy Production,
subject to the adjustments in Sections 5(g) through 5(j).

Escalation Rate is the annual percentage rate increase applied to the O&M and True-Up Fees.
Provided on the Cover Page. Economic price adjustments will match the annual percent change
shown on The Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U); Western Region; All
~—Items; - mot- seasonally~ - -adjusted.” ~Available  -at - https://www.bls.cov/regions/
west/news-release/consumerpriceindex_west.htm.

Expected Annual Energy Production means the expected AC electrical output in kilowatt-hours
(kWh) for the Annual Production Period as calculated by the System Model that represents the
final design of the Systems and adjusted for Annual weather data and degradation.

Final Completion means the date that each PV System was installed and is fully operational.

Force Majeure Event shall mean, when used in connection with the performance of a Party's
obligations under this Agreement, any act or event (to the extent not caused by such Party or its
agents or employees) which is unforeseeable, or being foreseeable, unavoidable and outside the
control of the Party which invokes it, and which renders said Party unable to comply totally or
partially with its obligations under this Agreement. In particular, any of the following shall be
considered a Force Majeure Event:

(@) _ war (whether or not war is declared), hostilities, revolution, rebellion, insurrection
against any Governmental Authority, riot, terrorism, acts of a public enemy or other civil
disturbance;

(b) acts of God, including but not limited to, storms, floods, lightning, earthquakes,
hailstorms, ice storms, tornados, typhoons, hurricanes, landslides, volcanic eruptions, fires, winds
in excess of ninety (90) miles per hour, and objects striking the earth from space (such as
meteorites);

(© acts of sabotage or destruction by a third party (other than any Operator retained by
or on behalf of the Party) of facilities and equipment relating to the performance by the affected
Party of its obligations under this Agreement;

(d) regional or national strikes, walkouts, lockouts or similar industrial or labor actions
or disputes;

© acts of any Governmental Authority that materially restrict or limit a Party's
performance under this Agreement, including Operator's access to the Site or its activities at the
Site.

® labor or supply shortages and supply chain issues outside the control of the
Operator;

(2) plague, epidemic, pandemic, outbreaks of infectious disease or any other public
SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 20



health crisis, including quarantine or other restrictions; and

(h) explosion, fire, destruction of machines, equipment, factories and of any kind of
installation, prolonged break-down of transport, telecommunication or electric current.

Governmental Authority shall mean any national, autonomic, state, regional, province, town,
city, or municipal government, whether domestic or foreign, or other administrative, regulatory or

judicial body of any of the foregoing.

Industry Standards shall mean those standards of care and diligence normally practiced by small-
scale solar engineering, construction and installation firms in performing services of a similar
nature in jurisdictions in which System Services will be performed and in accordance with good
engineering design practices, Applicable Laws, Applicable Permits, and other standards
established for such Work. Industry Standards are not intended to be limited to optimum practice
or methods to the exclusion of all others, but rather to be a spectrum of reasonable and prudent
practices and methods that must take the conditions specific to any given facility into

consideration.

Insolvent means (a) a Party shall file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or shall be adjudicated as
bankrupt or insolvent, or shall file any petition or answer or consent seeking any reorganization,
arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief for itself under
the present or future applicable federal, state or other statute or law relative to bankruptcy,
insolvency or other relief for debtors, or shall seek or consent to or acquiesce in the appointment
of any trustee, receiver, conservator or liquidator of such Party or of all or any Final part of its
properties (the term "acquiesce", as used in this definition, includes the failure to file a petition or
motion to vacate or discharge any order, judgment or decree within fifteen (15) days after entry of
such order, judgment or decree); (b) a court of competent jurisdiction shall enter an order,
judgment or decree approving a petition filed against a Party seeking a reorganization,
arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under the present
or any future Federal bankruptcy act, or any other present or future applicable Federal, state or
other statute or law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or other relief for debtors, and such Party
shall acquiesce and such decree shall remain unvacated and unstayed for an aggregate of sixty (60)
days (whether or not consecutive) from the date of entry thereof, or a trustee, receiver, conservator
or liquidator of such Party shall be appointed with the consent or acquiescence of such Party and
such appointment shall remain unvacated and unstayed for an aggregate of sixty (60) days, whether
or not consecutive; (c) a Party shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts as they mature;
(d) a Party shall give notice to any Governmental Authority of insolvency or pending insolvency,
or suspension or pending suspension of operations; or (€) a Party shall make an assignment for the
benefit of creditors or take any other similar action for the protection or benefit of creditors.

Installer shall mean the contractor responsible for the procurement, installation, startup, and
testing of the System under separate contract with the Owner.

Manufacturer Warranty or Manufacturer Warranties shall mean all warranties provided by
the equipment manufacturers and assigned to Owner by the Installer.

O&M Fees shall mean the annual base fee for Operator provided services.

SiteloglQ, Inc 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 21



O&M Manuals means the set of System operational and maintenance documents provided by the
Installer to the Owner and by the Owner to the Operator for the purpose of instruction in the
operation and maintenance needs of the System and its components.

Operator has the meaning given in the preamble to this Agreement.

Operator Represeniative shall mean the representative of Operator appointed pursuant to

Section 6.2(b).

Owner has the meaning given in the preamble of this Agreement.

Owner Representative shall mean the representative of Operator appointed pursuant to Section

6.2(a).

Party or Parties means either Operator or Owner.

Performance Guaraniee shall mean the percentage applied to the Expected Annual Production

to determine the Energy production Guarantee. The Value is provided on the Cover Page.
Permits shall mean Operator acquired Permits or the Owner acquired Permits.

Person means any natural person, corporation, general partnership, limited partnership, limited
liability company, proprietorship, other business organization, trust, union, association, or
Governmental Authority.

PV means photovoltaic.
Service Fees has the meaning given in Section 4.1.
Site has the meaning given in the Recitals of this Agreement.

Subcontractor means any Person to whom Operator subcontracts any of its obligations under
this Agreement pursuant to a Subcontract, including the Suppliers and any Person to whom such
obligations are further subcontracted of any tier.

System has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

System Services means, collectively, the services set forth in Exhibit B.

Technical Dispute means a Dispute regarding whether the System conforms to the Industry
Standards related to operation and maintenance.

Term has the value given on the Cover Page and meaning given in Section 3.1(a).

Termination Notice has the meaning given in Section 3.2(c) and requires the contents specified
in_Section 3.2 (e).

SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O& M Agreement
Page 22



True-Up Refund is the difference between the Cumulative Annual Energy Production and the
Energy Production Guarantee for a period where the Systems fail to meet the Energy Production
Guarantee multiplied by the True-Up Fee

True-Up Fee is defined as the approximate value of the electricity being offset by the system. It
has the initial value as defined in the Cover Page, for the first year of the Term and is subject to

the Escalation Rate thereafter.

Warranty or Warranties have the meaning given in Section 2.3.

SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 23



EXHIBIT B
TO
OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT

INSPECTION SERVICES

Annual Inspection Services

Complete - inspection, System maintenance, and recommissioning services Annually per the
Agreement Term as detailed below. Report inspection finding, required repairs, and repair
recommendations, including estimated costs for each maintenance visit. As part of our Operator’s
System maintenance, the following services will be completed and reported to the Owner during
the report period.

a) Visual Inspection

a.

b.
c.

g.
h.

Visually inspect structures, arrays, and enclosures for excessive wear, damage, defects,
rust/corrosion, etc.

Verify new and/or existing shade concerns for the photovoltaic array.

Verify module cleanliness and/or soiling issues; perform washing for an additional fee if
requested by the Owner

Verify that all signage and placards are firmly attached and legible.

Verify condition of all wall & pad mounted switchgear, meters and inverters for corrosion
and security of attachment to wall/structure/pad, etc. Note any new access issues.

Verify condition of ac and dc disconnect(s).

Confirm that the System is online and that the output is at the expected level.

Confirm that the monitoring system is in service and functioning properly.

b) Photo Documentation

a.
b.

Take digital photos of all major System components
Submit digital images along with checklist and other documentation following visit.

¢) Array— Structure & Modules

a. Complete inspection of array.
b. Inspect and tighten structure ground bonding straps/fasteners.
c. Verify secure module attachment by random torque testing or visual test.
d. Verify condition of racking hardware connections, splices, etc.
e. Verify condition of inter-module array wiring for aging and corrosion.
f. Inspect visible random sampling of wiring connections.
g. Inspect visible conduit system.
d) Electrical Connection — Inverters & Combiner Box
a. Verify condition of inverters.
b. Note condition of all circuit boards and electrical components.
c. Check Voc & Isc of all strings (if required).
SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement

Page 24



TATIE@R Mo A

m.
n

Verify that all manufacturer updates and service bulletins have been performed.
Coordinate inverter manufacturer service, if necessary.

Perform all electrical connection torque tests.

Inspect and clean heatsink, if applicable.

Inspect and clean inverter exhaust fan a vents.

Inspect and tighten connectors and lugs (inverter, transformer, disconnects).
Oil and lubricate disconnects.

Check all fuses for cleared fuse and replace any cleared fuses.

Verify condition of wire transition junction boxes for weatherproofing, corrosion, and
security of internal wiring connections.

Verify condition of all DC and AC conduits and connections.

Verify interior and exterior condition of DC combiner box(es).

e) Data Acquisition System (DAS)

oaeop

Clean all instrumentation and sensors and lubricate moving parts.

Inspect and tighten connections.

Check input signals.

Confirm that pyranometer/sensor is aligned with the plane of the PV array.

Log kWh readings from Inverters to meters, and compare data in a twenty-four (24) hour
increment to monitoring system to verify proper calibration of meters and monitoring
system.

Check calibration of the weather station instruments, as necessary.

Inspection Services Not Included

Weed abatement, mowing, or any other landscaping around array and immediate vicinity.

a.

b. Repair of fencing.

c. Repair, replacement, or cleaning due to vandalism, theft, or accidental damage.

d. Repair or replacement of light bulbs or lighting fixtures.

e. Repairs not explicitly defined in this Exhibit B.

f. Any services not included in this Agreement.

g. Repairs not stated in the Agreement (Installer Warranty) are considered Additional
Services and shall be billed on a time and materials basis per the rates in Exhibit F.

h. Panel washing (Operator will advise Owner on panel washing frequency as needed
maintain performance — Panel washing costs will be quoted as needed)

i. Renewal of DAS subscription services, including cellular card and plan. If renewal is
requested by Owner, Owner shall be billed on a time and materials basis per the rates in
Exhibit F.

SiteloglQ, Inc 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O& M Agreement

Page 25



EXHIBIT C
TO
OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT
INSURANCE

Operator Iinsurance Requirements

1. Required Coverages. Operator shall carry and maintain with carriers or self-insurance, as a
minimum, the following insurance coverages:

1. Workers Compensation Insurance and Employers Liability. In accordance with
the laws of the state of where work may be done with limits for employer’s
liability in the minimum amount of one million dollars ($1,000,000) for each
occurrence and one million dollars ($1,000,000) for each occurrence of disease
on a per employee basis;

ii. Commercial General Liability. One million dollars ($1,000,000) per
occurrence/two million dollars ($2,000,000) in the aggregate for bodily injury,
personal injury and property damage, products and completed operations:

iti. Commercial Automobile Liability. Any Auto. One million dollars ($1,000,000)
per accident including owned, non-owned, and hired automobiles.

iv. Excess coverage of four million dollars ($4,000,000) per occurrence and
aggregate, or any other equivalent, available insurance coverage of the Operator.

2. Policy Endorsements. Insurance coverages required to be maintained by Operator under this
Agreement shall:

i. provide a severability of interests or cross liability clause for Commercial General
Liability Insurance;

ii. except in the case of worker’s compensation insurance and other statutory
insurances where it would be inappropriate, name Owner and others as may be
reasonably required by Owner, as additional insured’s; and to the extent
permissible in accordance with the policy, include a waiver of subrogation by the
insurers in favor of Owner and each of its respective assignees, Affiliates, agents,
officers, directors, employees, insurers or policy issuers and a waiver of any right
of the insurers to any set-off or counterclaim, whether by endorsement or
otherwise, in respect of any type of liability of any of the Persons insured under
any such policies.

3. Certificates. Operator shall throughout the Agreement Term provide certificate(s) and/or
memoranda of insurance evidencing the coverage’s specified in this Attachment C to Owner
upon Owner’s reasonable request.

SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023
Richmond Elementary School District Solar O& M Agreement
Page 26



Owner Insurance Requirements

1. Required Coverages. Owner shall carry and maintain with carriers or self insurance, as a
minimum, the following insurance coverages:

ii.

iii.

iv.

Workers Compensation Insurance and Employers Liability. In accordance with
the laws of the state of where work may be done with limits for employers liability
in the minimum amount of one million dollars ($1,000,000) for each occurrence
and one million dollars ($1,000,000) for each occurrence of disease on a per
employee basis;

Commercial _General Liability. One million dollars ($1,000,000) per
occurrence/two million dollars ($2,000,000) in the aggregate for bodily injury,
personal injury and property damage, products and completed operations:

Commercial Automobile Liability. Any Auto. One million dollars ($1,000,000)
per accident including owned, non-owned, and hired automobiles.

Property Risk Insurance. Amount equal to the replacement value of the Systems
for loss or damage to the System by fire and lightning, vandalism, theft, malicious
mischief, and extended coverage endorsement for all risks of physical loss.

Excess coverage of four million ($4,000,000) per occurrence and aggregate, or
any other equivalent, available insurance coverage of the Operator.

2. Policy Endorsements. Insurance coverages required to be maintained by Owner under this
Agreement shall provide a severability of interests or cross liability clause for Commercial
General Liability Insurance;

3. Certificates. Owner shall throughout the Agreement Term provide certificate(s) and/or
memoranda of insurance evidencing the coverage’s specified in this Attachment C to Operator
upon Operator’s reasonable request.

SiteloglQ, Inc

11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O& M Agreement

Page 27



EXHIBIT D
TO
OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT

SITES & SYSTEM SIZES

Richmond Elementary School (78.00 kW DC)
700-585 Richmond Road, Susanville CA 96130

SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023
Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 28



EXHIBIT E
TO
OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT

Annual Energy Production Evaluation

A. Cumulative Annual Energy Production Measurement

The Cumulative Annual Energy Production is the actual AC electrical output in kilowatt-hours
(kWh) for the Annual Production Period as measured and recorded by all of the Systems revenue
meter(s) and adjusted for meter calibration error, if required.

B. Expected Annual Energy Production Calculation

At the completion of each Annual Production Period, the Operator shall update the software model
of the Systems to calculate the Expected Annual Energy Production of the Systems for that period
for comparison with the Cumulative Annual Energy Production of the same period. The model
shall use the actual meteorological data and/or reference cell data from the performance monitoring
system at the Site.

The input values used in the System Model shall include the following parameters based on the
final installed System:

e Albedo
e Module orientation
e Shading

e Equipment models and configuration

e Module thermal parameters

e Ohmic losses

e Module quality and mismatch losses

e Soiling losses, adjusted for calendar month and washing frequency
e JAM losses

Hidden parameters and preferences within the model shall remain at default values unless noted
and justified. All input parameter values and assumptions shall be provided with the model for
review, and shall remain consistent from year to year.

The following factors shall be adjusted in the System Model each year of operation:

e Actual weather data for the Annual Production Period
e Smoke, dust, and other air pollutants
e Manufacturer Module degradation factors (Manufacturer Module Power Output Warranty)

e Adjustments per Section 5(g), 5(h), 5(i), and 5(j)

The final model calculation shall detail the Expected Annual Energy Production on an hourly basis

SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 29



(8760 hours per year) in addition to a total output value in kilowatt-hours (kWh).

C. Annual Energy Production Evaluation

The measured Cumulative Annual Energy Production value for the System shall be compared with
the calculated Expected Annual Energy Production value and evaluated as described in Section 5,
Operator’s Guarantee, of this Agreement.

D. Modeled Annual Energy Production Calculation

The temperature-derate model used by Operator to determine the modeled level of production a
System. The System losses, DC system size, CEC inverter efficiency, and the panel temperature
coefficient is the accumulation of losses, degradation rates, and efficiencies which are evaluated
on an annual basis. These losses are initially calculated upon project commissioning and will only
be re-calculated if components fail, degrade, or are changed. Cell temperature and POA irradiance
are real-time calculations based on measurements from a reference cell.

-~ -~ ——Our-Operator’s-System modelis-a combination of System specifications; estimated soiling; shade ———————-
expectations, degradation expectations. This model is calculated by using the single line as-built
plans and a production summary report from HelioScope and are re-evaluated for accuracy on an
Annual basis. The Modeled Energy equation is:

Modeled Energy(kW AC) = 0 X (1 —5) X XP xX(1+4+y x(T—-25))

1000
Where:

T = Cell Temperature

S = System Model Loss

1 = POA Irradiance

P = DC System Size

o = CEC Inverter Efficiency

y = Temperature Coefficient of the Panel

This modeled production will be compared to actual measured production to calculate operational
performance of the System. Unplanned System outages and soiling above expectations will be
evaluated and included in System losses.

SiteloglQ, Inc. 11/6/2023
Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 30



Other Costs

EXHIBIT F

TO

OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT

RATES FOR ADDITIONAL SERVICES

2023 RATE SCHEDULE

Maintenance Services

Journeyman Electrician/Technician 5185
' Electrician/Technician 3170
Field Engineer/Inspector $175
Professional and Technical Services
Project Manager/Principal Engineer $220
Associate Engineer 5160
Project Assistant $95
! Supplemental Services
Module Cleaning As Quoted )
Cellular/Communication/Monitoring As Quoted

1. Cost per truck roll for services above and beyond this Agreement to be invoiced at time
and materials (T&M) rate listed above and dispatched per Owner’s request.
2. Daily/Saturday Overtime will be billed at 1.5 times the hourly rates. Sunday/Holiday
Overtime will be billed at 2 times the rates.

o N D A

Direct Expenses and Module Cleaning (non-equipment) will be billed at cost plus 15%.
Mileage will be billed at the published IRS mileage rates in effect.
Travel time (o and from Owner Sites will be billed at hourly rates shown above.
Federal published per diem rates (GSA) will apply if applicable.
Subcontractors will be billed at invoice price plus 15%.

Rates will escalate at Escalation Rate.

SiteloglQ, Inc.

Richmond Elementary School District Solar O&M Agreement
Page 31

11/6/2023






b4

STEPHEN ROATCH ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION

Certified Public Accountants Stephen Roalch - President
Habbas Nassar - Vice President

December 29, 2023

Management and Governing Board of
Richmond School District

700-585 Richmond Road E.
Susanville, CA 96130

Year 2 of 3-year contract

This letter confirms that Richmond School District has requested our firm to perform only the audit services
described in this letter and has not requested our firm to provide any specific internal control review or
fraud audit service. This letter also confirms our understanding of the terms and objectives of our audit
engagement and the nature and limitations of the services we will provide.

We are pleased to confirm our understanding of the services we are to provide Richmond School District
for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024.

Audit Scope and Objectives

We will audit the financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information, and the disclosures, which collectively comprise the basic financial statements
of Richmond School District as of and for the year ending June 30, 2024. Accounting standards generally
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) provide for certain required supplementary information
(RSI), such as management's discussion and analysis (MD&A), to supplement Richmond School District's
basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is
required by the Government Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. As part of our engagement, we will apply certain limited procedures to Richmond Schoal
District's RSI in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAS). These limited procedures will consist of inquiries of management regarding the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to
our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We will not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because
the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance. The following RS! is required by GAAP and will be subjected to certain limited

procedures, but will not be audited:

1. Management’s discussion and analysis
2. Budgetary comparison information
3. Schedules of the proportionate share of the net pension liabilities

4. Schedules of contributions

We have also been engaged to report on supplementary information other than RSI that accompanies
Richmond School District's financial statements. We will subject the following supplementary information
(combining nonmajor fund financial statements, reconciliation of annual financial and budget report with
audited financial statements, and supporting schedules) to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of
the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements
or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS, and
we will provide an opinion on it in relation to the financial statements as a whole, in a report combined with
our auditor’s report on the financial statements.




Management and Governing Board of
Richmond Schooi District

December 29, 2023

Page Two of Nine

Audit Scope and Objectives (Concluded)

The Schedule of Financial Trends and Analysis will not be subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
our audit of the financial statements, and our auditor’s report will not provide an opinion or any assurance

on that other information.

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion about whether your financial statements are fairly presented, in all material
respects, in conformity with GAAP, and report on the fairness of the supplementary information referred
to in the fourth paragraph when considered in relation to the financial statements as a whole. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Govemment Auditing Standards will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements, including omissions, can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they
would influence the judgment of a reasonable user made based on the financial statements.

The objectives also include reporting on internal control over financial reporting and compliance with
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and award agreements, noncompliance with which could have
a material effect on the financial statements in accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

We will conduct our audit in accordance with GAAS and the standards for financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, and the
2023-24 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Educational Agencies and State Compliance Reporting,
prescribed in the California Code of Regulations, Title 5, section 19810 and following, and will include
tests of your accounting records and other procedures we consider necessary to enable us to express
such opinions. As part of an audit in accordance with GAAS and Govemment Auditing Standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

We will evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management. We will also evaluate the overall presentation of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and determine whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. We will plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether from (1) errors, (2) fraudulent financial reporting, (3) misappropriation of assets, or
(4) violations of laws or governmental regulations that are attributable to the District or to acts by
management or employees acting on behalf of the District. Because the determination of waste and
abuse is subjective, Government Auditing Standards do not expect auditors to perform specific
procedures to detect waste or abuse in financial audits nor do they expect auditors to provide reasonable

assurance of detecting waste or abuse.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, combined with the inherent limitations of internal control,
and because we will not perform a detailed examination of all transactions, there is an unavoidable risk
that some material misstatements may not be detected by us, even though the audit is properly planned
and performed in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards.



Management and Governing Board of
Richmond School District

December 29, 2023

Page Three of Nine

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Concluded)

In addition, an audit is not designed to detect immaterial misstatements or violations of laws or
governmental regulations that do not have a direct and material effect on the financial statements.
However, we will inform the appropriate level of management of any material errors, any fraudulent
financial reporting, or misappropriation of assets that come to our attention. We will also inform the
appropriate level of management of any violations of laws or governmental regulations that come to our
attention, unless clearly inconsequential. Our responsibility as auditors is limited to the period covered by
our audit and does not extend to any later periods for which we are not engaged as auditors.

We will also conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether there are conditions or events
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a going

concern for a reasonable period of time.

Our procedures will include tests of documentary evidence supporting the transactions recorded in the
accounts, tests of the physical existence of inventories, and direct confirmation of receivables and certain
assets and liabilities by correspondence with selected individuals, funding sources, creditors, and
financial institutions, as applicable. We will also request written representations from your attorneys as
part of the engagement, and they may bill you for responding to this inquiry.

The anticipated significant risks of material misstatement are based on areas identified in the prior year’s
audit, which may be modified once the planning for the current year's audit is completed, are:
1) management override of controls, 2) revenue recognition (accounts receivable), and 3) accounts

payable.

Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you of your responsibilities.

Audit Procedures - Internal Control

We will obtain an understanding of the District and its environment, including the system of internal control,
sufficient to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to error or fraud, and to design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks and obtain evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentation, or the override of internal control. Tests of
controls may be performed to test the effectiveness of certain controls that we consider relevant to
preventing and detecting errors and fraud that are material to the financial statements and to preventing
and detecting misstatements resulting from illegal acts and other noncompliance matters that have a direct
and material effect on the financial statements. Our tests, if performed, will be less in scope than would be
necessary to render an opinion on internal control and, accordingly, no opinion will be expressed in our
report on internal control issued pursuant to Government Auditing Standards.

An audit is not designed to provide assurance on internal control or to identify significant deficiencies or
material weaknesses. Accordingly, we will express no such opinion. However, during the audit, we will
communicate to management and those charged with governance internal control related matters that
are required to be communicated under AICPA professional standards and Government Auditing

Standards.



Management and Governing Board of
Richmond School District

December 29, 2023

Page Four of Nine

Audit Procedures - Compliance

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, we will perform tests of Richmond School District's compliance with the provisions of
applicable laws, regulations, contracts, agreements, and grants. However, the objective of our audit will
not be to provide an opinion on overall compliance, and we will not express such an opinion in our report
on compliance issued pursuant to Government Auditing Standards.

Other Services

We will also assist in preparing the financial statements and related notes, management's discussion and
analysis, budgetary comparison information, depreciation schedule, schedules of the proportionate share
of the net pension liabilities, schedules of contributions, and supplementary schedules and information
(nonaudit services), as applicable, of Richmond School District in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America based on information provided by you. These
nonaudit services do not constitute an audit under Government Auditing Standards and such services will
not be conducted in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. We will perform the services in
accordance with applicable professional standards. The other services are limited to the financial
statement services previously defined. We, in our sole professional judgment, reserve the right to refuse
to perform any procedure or take any action that could be construed as assuming management

responsibilities.

You agree to assume all management responsibilities relating to the financial statements and related
notes and any other nonaudit services (management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison
information, depreciation schedule, schedules of the proportionate share of the net pension liabilities,
schedules of contributions, and supplementary schedules and information, as applicable) we provide.
You will be required to acknowledge in the management representation letter our assistance with
preparation of the financial statements and related notes and any other nonaudit services we provided
and that you have reviewed and approved the financial statements and related notes and any other
nonaudit services we provided prior to their issuance and have accepted responsibility for them. Further,
you agree to oversee the nonaudit services by designating an individual, preferably from senior
management, with suitable skill, knowledge, or experience; evaluate the adequacy and results of those

services; and accept responsibility for them.
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Our audit will be conducted on the basis that you acknowledge and understand your responsibility for
designing, implementing, establishing, and maintaining effective internal controls relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and for evaluating and monitoring ongoing activities to help ensure that appropriate goals and
objectives are met; following laws and regulations; and ensuring that management and financial information
is reliable and properly reported. Management is also responsible for implementing systems designed to
achieve compliance with applicable laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements.



Management and Governing Board of
Richmond School District

December 29, 2023

Page Five of Nine

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements (Continued)

You are also responsible for the selection and application of accounting principles, for the preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements and all accompanying information in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for compliance with applicable laws and
regulations and the provisions of contracts and grant agreements.

Management is responsible for making drafts of financial statements, all financial records, and related
information available to us and for the accuracy and completeness of that information (including information
from outside of the general and subsidiary ledgers). You are also responsible for providing us with (1)
access to all information of which you are aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements, such as records, documentation, identification of all related parties and all related-
party relationships and transactions, and other matters; (2) additional information that we may request for the
purpose of the audit, and (3) unrestricted access to persons within the District from whom we determine it
necessary to obtain audit evidence. At the conclusion of our audit, we will require certain written
representations from you about your responsibilities for the financial statements; compliance with laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements; and other responsibilities required by GAAS and Government

Auditing Standards.

Your responsibilities include adjusting the financial statements to correct material misstatements and for
confirming to us in the written representation letter that the effects of any uncorrected misstatements
aggregated by us during the current engagement and pertaining to the latest period presented are
immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements of each opinion unit taken
as a whole. As part of our engagement, we may propose standard, adjusting, or correcting journal entries
to your financial statements. You are responsible for reviewing the entries and understanding the nature
of any proposed entries and the impact they have on the financial statements.

You are responsible for the design and implementation of programs and controls to prevent and detect
fraud, and for informing us about all known or suspected fraud affecting the District involving (1)
management, (2) employees who have significant roles in internal control, and (3) others where the fraud
could have a material effect on the financial statements. Your responsibilities include informing us of
your knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the District received in
communications from employees, former employees, grantors, regulators, or others. In addition, you are
responsible for identifying and ensuring that the District complies with applicable laws, regulations,
contracts, agreements, and grants and for taking timely and appropriate steps to remedy fraud and
noncompliance with provisions of laws, regulations, or contracts or grant agreements that we report.

You are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information, which we have been engaged
to report on, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAP). You agree to include our report on the supplementary information in any document that
contains, and indicates that we have reported on, the supplementary information. You also agree to
include the audited financial statements with any presentation of the supplementary information that
includes our report thereon. Your responsibilities include acknowledging to us in the written
representation letter that (1) you are responsible for presentation of the supplementary information in
accordance with GAAP; (2) you believe the supplementary information, including its form and content, is
fairly presented in accordance with GAAP; (3) the methods of measurement or presentation have not
changed from those used in the prior period; and (4) you have disclosed to us any significant
assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement or presentation of the supplementary

information.



Management and Governing Board of
Richmond School District

December 29, 2023

Page Six of Nine

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements (Concluded)

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining a process for tracking the status of audit
findings and recommendations. Management is also responsible for identifying and providing report
copies of previous financial audits, attestation engagements, performance audits, or other studies related
to the objectives discussed in the Audit Scope and Objectives section of this letter. This responsibility
includes relaying to us corrective actions taken to address significant findings and recommendations
resulting from those audits, attestation engagements, performance audits, or other studies. You are also
responsible for providing management's views on our current findings, conclusions, and
recommendations, as well as your planned corrective actions, for the report, and for the timing and format

for providing that information.
Engagement Administration, Fees, and Other

We will schedule the engagement based in part on deadlines, working conditions, and the availability of
your key personnel. We will plan the engagement based on the assumption that your personnel will
cooperate and provide assistance by performing tasks such as preparing requested schedules, retrieving
supporting documents, and preparing confirmations. If for whatever reason your personnel are
unavailable to provide the necessary assistance in a timely manner, it may substantially increase the
work we have to do to complete the engagement within the established deadlines, resulting in an
increase in fees over our original fee estimate.

You may request that we perform additional services not addressed in this engagement letter. If this
occurs, we will communicate with you regarding the scope of the additional services and the estimated
fees. We also may issue a separate engagement letter covering the additional services. In the absence
of any other written communication from us documenting such additional services, our services will

continue to be governed by the terms of this engagement letter.

In accordance with Education Code 41020, audit reports will be filed with the County Superintendent of
Schools, the California Department of Education, and the State Controller's Office by December 15"
following the close of the fiscal year. Unless restricted by law or regulation, or containing privileged and
confidential information, copies of our reports are to be made available for public inspection.

The audit documentation for this engagement is the property of Stephen Roatch Accountancy
Corporation and constitutes confidential information. However, subject to applicable laws and regulations,
audit documentation and appropriate individuals will be made available upon request and in a timely
manner to the State Controller's Office or its designee, Department of Education, a federal agency
providing direct or indirect funding, or the U.S. Government Accountability Office for purposes of a quality
review of the audit, to resolve audit findings, or to carry out oversight responsibilities. We will notify you
of any such request. If requested, access to such audit documentation will be provided under the
supervision of Stephen Roatch Accountancy Corporation personnel. Furthermore, upon request, we may
provide copies of selected audit documentation to the aforementioned parties. These parties may intend
or decide to distribute the copies or information contained therein to others, including other governmental

agencies.

The audit documentation for this engagement will be retained for a minimum of seven years after the
report release date or for any additional period requested by the State Controller's Office. If we are aware
that a federal awarding agency or auditee is contesting an audit finding, we will contact the party(ies)
contesting the audit finding for guidance prior to destroying the audit documentation.



Management and Governing Board of
Richmond School District

December 29, 2023

Page Seven of Nine

Engagement Administration, Fees, and Other (Concluded)

Stephen Roatch, Certified Public Accountant (CPA) is the engagement partner and is responsible for
supervising the engagement and signing the reports or authorizing another individual to sign them. Our
fee for these services will be at our standard hourly rates plus out-of-pocket costs. Our standard hourly
rates vary according to the degree of responsibility involved and the experience level of the personnel
assigned to your audit. Our invoices for these fees will be rendered each month as work progresses and
are payable on presentation. We agree that our all-inclusive fee will be $14,595 for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2024. The above fee is based on anticipated cooperation from your personnel and the
assumption that unexpected circumstances will not be encountered during the audit. If significant
additional time is necessary, we will discuss it with you and arrive at a new fee estimate before we incur
the additional costs. An additional fee will be charged for attending meetings with the District's Board, if

deemed appropriate.

Either party may terminate this agreement at any time for any reason, providing 30 days written notice is
given to the other party. It is understood that payment shall be made for services rendered to the point of

termination.

It is agreed that the District will withhold ten (10) percent of the audit fee until the State Controller certifies
that the report conforms to the reporting provisions of the 2023-24 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local

Educational Agencies and State Compliance Reporting.

In accordance with Education Code Section 14505, it is further agreed that the District will withhold fifty
(50) percent of the audit fee for any subsequent year of a multi-year contract if the prior year's audit
report was not certified as conforming to reporting provisions of the 2023-24 Guide for Annual Audits of
K-12 Local Educational Agencies and State Compliance Reporting.

The State Controller of California has required that all Districts and auditors contracting for multi-year
engagements include a stipulation that the contract is null and void if the auditor is declared ineligible to

perform LEA audits.

In the event that the GASB, FASB, AICPA, GAO, OMB, or the Education Audit Appeals Panel's Office
issues additional standards or audit procedures that require additional work during the audit period, we
will discuss these requirements with you before proceeding further. Before starting the additional work,
we will prepare an estimate of the time necessary, as well as the fee for performing the additional work.
Our fee for addressing the additional requirements will be our standard hourly rates for each person

involved in the additional work.

In connection with this engagement, we may communicate with you or others via email transmission. As
emails can be intercepted and read, disclosed, or otherwise used or communicated by an unintended
third party, or may not be delivered to each of the parties to whom they are directed and only to such
parties, we cannot guarantee or warrant that emails from us will be properly delivered and read only by
the addressee. Therefore, we specifically disclaim and waive any liability or responsibility whatsoever for
interception or unintentional disclosure of emails transmitted by us in connection with the performance of
this engagement. In that regard, you agree that we shall have no liability for any loss or damage to any
person or entity resulting from the use of email transmissions, including any consequential, incidental,
direct, indirect, or special damages, such as loss of revenues or anticipated profits, or disclosure or
communication of confidential or proprietary information.



Management and Governing Board of
Richmond School District

December 29, 2023

Page Eight of Nine

With regard to publishing the financial statements on your website, you understand that websites are a
means of distributing information and, therefore, we are not required to read the information contained in
these sites or to consider the consistency of other information on the website with the original document.

In the event we are required to respond to a subpoena, court order or other legal process for the
production of documents and/or testimony relative to information we obtained and/or prepared during the
course of this engagement, you agree to compensate us at our applicable hourly rates, for the time we
expend in connection with such response, and to reimburse us for all of our out-of-pocket costs incurred

in that regard.

In the event that we are or may be obligated to pay any cost, settlement, judgment, fine, penalty, or
similar award or sanction as a result of a claim, investigation, or other proceeding instituted by any third
party, then to the extent that such obligation is or may be a direct or indirect result of your intentional or
knowing misrepresentation or provision to us of inaccurate or incomplete information in connection with
this engagement, and not any failure on our part to comply with professional standards, you agree to
indemnify us, defend us, and hold us harmless as against such obligations.

Government Auditing Standards require that we provide you with a copy of our most recent external peer
review report and any subsequent reports received during the contract period, if requested. Please
contact us if you would like us to provide you with a copy of our most recent external peer review report
and any subsequent reports received during the contract period.

This engagement letter is contractual in nature and includes all of the relevant terms that will govern the
engagement for which it has been prepared. The terms of this letter supersede any prior oral or written
representations or commitments by or between the parties. Our audit engagement ends on delivery of
our audit report. Any follow-up services that might be required will be a separate, new engagement. The
terms and conditions of that new engagement will be governed by a new, specific engagement letter for
that service. In the absence of any other written communication from us documenting such additional
services, our services will continue to be governed by the terms of this engagement letter.

Reporting

We will issue a written report upon completion of our audit of Richmond School District's financial
statements. Our report will be addressed to the Governing Board of Richmond School District.
Circumstances may arise in which our report may differ from its expected form and content based on the
results of our audit. Depending on the nature of these circumstances, it may be necessary for us to
modify our opinions, add a separate section, or add an emphasis-of-matter or other-matter paragraph to
our auditor's report, or if necessary, withdraw from this engagement. If our opinions are other than
unmodified, we will discuss the reasons with you in advance. If circumstances occur related to the
condition of your records, the availability of sufficient, appropriate audit evidence, or the existence of a
significant risk of material misstatement of the financial statements caused by error, fraudulent financial
reporting, or misappropriation of assets, which in our professional judgment prevent us from completing
the audit or forming an opinion on the financial statements, we retain the right to take any course of
action permitted by professional standards, including declining to express an opinion or issue a report, or
withdrawing from the engagement.



Management and Governing Board of
Richmond School District

December 29, 2023

Page Nine of Nine

Reporting (Concluded)

We will also provide a report (that does not include an opinion) on internal control related to the financial
statements and compliance with the provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements,
noncompliance with which could have a material effect on the financial statements as required by
Govemnment Auditing Standards. The report on internal control and on compliance and other matters will
state (1) that the purpose of the report is solely to describe the scope of testing of internal control and
compliance, and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control on compliance and (2) that the report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Govemment Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. The report will also state that the report is not suitable for any other purpose. If during our
audit we become aware that Richmond School District is subject to an audit requirement that is not
encompassed in the terms of this engagement, we will communicate to management and those charged
with governance that an audit in accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing standards and the
standards for financial audits contained in Govermnment Auditing Standards may not satisfy the relevant

legal, regulatory, or contractual requirements.

We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to Richmond School District and believe this letter
accurately summarizes the significant terms of our engagement. If, after full consideration, you agree that
the foregoing terms shall govern this engagement, please sign this letter in the spaces provided and
return the original signed letter to our office, keeping a fully-executed copy for your records.

Sincereiy,

STEPHEN ROATCH ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION

Stzf&m Roatch

Stephen Roatch, Certified Public Accountant
President

RESPONSE:

This letter correctly sets forth the understanding of Richmond School District.

Management - Approved by: Governing Board - Acknowledaged by:
Name:
Title: Board President

Date:




1/5/24, 8:08 AM 2023-24 Title |I, Part A LEA Allocations Data Entry (CARS) (CA Dept of Education) b -5-

X

I:.'.- CO I i fO rn i a Deparimant of

EDUCATION

CONSOLIDATED APPLICATION AND REPORTING SYSTEM (CARS)
Richmond Elementary (18 64170 0000000)

Home Data Entry Forms [ Certification Preview ” Certify Data l Reports l Users Contacts ” FAQs I

Program Information Data Entry Instructions
2023-24 Title 1l, Part A LEA Allocations

The purpose of this data collection is to calculate the total allocation amount available to the local educational agency (LEA)
for Title Il, Part A Supporting Effective Instruction.

Required fields are denoted with an asterisk (*).

Data saved successfully as a draft.

2023-24 Title 1, Part A allocation: $2,129
* Transferred-in amount: 0
*ATotaI funds transferred out of Title Il, Part 0
202324 Total allocation: $2,129
* Administrative and indirect costs: 0
* Reservation for equitable services for 0

nonprofit private schools:

202324 Title Il, Part A adjusted allocation: $2,129 | Recalculate ]
Last Saved: Jeanette Goni (jagoni), 1/5/2024 8:08 AM, Draft

[S_gm Return to List

Alice Ng (Fiscal), Division Support Office | ANg@cde.ca.gov | 916-323-4636
Lisa Fassett (Program), Professional Learning Support & Monitoring Office | LFassett@cde.ca.gov | 916-323-4963
General CARS Questions: Consolidated Application Support Desk | conappsupport@cde.ca.gov | 916-319-0297

California Department of Education
1430 N Street Web Palicy
Sacramento, CA 95814

https://www3.cde.ca.gov/cars/app/DataCollection/TitlelIPartA/LEAAllocations.aspx 11



1/5/24, 8:06 AM 2023—-24 Federal Transferability Data Entry (CARS) (CA Dept of Education)

-I;"‘ CO I iforn iC] Department ot

EDUCATION

CONSOLIDATED APPLICATION AND REPORTING SYSTEM (CARS)
Richmond Elementary (18 64170 0000000)

I Certification Preview { Certify Data ” Reports IrUsers H ,Contacts “ FAQs

Program Information Data Entry Instructions
2023-24 Federal Transferability

Federal transferability of funds is governed by Title V in ESSA Section 5102. An LEA may transfer Title Il, Part A and/or Title
IV, Part A program funds to other allowable programs. This transferability is not the same as Title V, Part B Alternative Fund
Use Authority (AFUA) governed by ESEA Section 5211.

Note: Funds utilized under Title V, Part B AFUA are not to be included on this form.
Required fields are denoted with an asterisk (*).

Data saved successfully as a draft.

Title If, Part A Transfers

202324 Title I, Part A allocation: $2,129

Transferred to Title |, Part A: 0

Transferred to Title I, Part C: 0

Transferred to Titie |, Part D: 0

Transferred to Title Il English Learner: 0

Transferred to Title Il Immigrant: 0

Transferred to Title V, Part B, Subpart 1 0

Small, Rural School Achievement Grant:

Transferred to Title V, Part B, Subpart 2 0

Rural and Low-Income Grant:

Total amount of Title 1l, Part A funds $0 |Recalculate ]
transferred out:

2023-24 Title i, Part A allocation after $2,129 |Recalculate

transfers out:

Last Saved: Jeanette Goni (jagoni), 1/5/2024 8:06 AM, Draft

Save [Return to List

Lisa Fassett, Professional Learning Support & Monitoring Office | LFassett@cde.ca.gov | 916-323-4963
Kevin Donnelly, Rural Education and Student Support Office | TitleIV@cde.ca.qov | 916-319-0942
General CARS Questions: Consolidated Application Support Desk | conappsupport@cde.ca.qov | 916-319-0297

California Department of Education
1430 N Street Web Policy
Sacramento, CA 95814

https://www3.cde.ca.gov/cars/app/DataCollection/General/Federal Transferability_V4.aspx 1M



1/5/24, 8:09 AM

2023-24 Consolidation of Administrative Funds Data Entry (CARS) (CA Dept of Education)

. --"". CO'iforniO Department of

CONSOLIDATED APPLICATION AND REPORTING SYSTEM (CARS)

EDUCATION

Richmond Elementary (18 64170 0000000)

m Data Entry Forms [ Certification Preview H Certify Data ] Reports ” Users (Conlads ” FAQs

Program Information Data Entry Instructions

2023—-24 Consolidation of Administrative Funds

This is a request by the local educational agency (LEA) to consolidate administrative funds for specific programs.

Required fields are denoted with an asterisk (*).

Data saved successfully as a draft.

Title I, Part A Basic:
SACS Code 3010

Title |, Part C Migrant Education:
SACS Code 3060

Title I, Part D Delinquent:
SACS Code 3025

Title Il, Part A Supporting Effective
Instruction:
SACS Code 4035

O g O

a

Title 11l English Learner Students - 2% O

maximum:
SACS Code 4203

Title 11l Immigrant Students:
SACS Code 4201

Title 1V, Part A Student Support - 2%
maximum:
SACS Code 4127

a

Title IV, Part B 21st Century Community (]

Learning Centers:
SACS Code 4124

California Department of Education
1430 N Street
Sacramento, CA 95814

Last Saved: Jeanette Goni (jagoni), 1/5/2024 8:09 AM, Draft

|Save | IReturn to List ]

Hilary Thomson, Fiscal Oversight and Support Office | HThomson@cde.ca.gov | 916-323-0765
General CARS Questions: Consolidated Application Support Desk | conappsupport@cde.ca.gov | 916-319-0297

Web Policy

https://www3.cde.ca.gov/cars/app/DataCollection/DataCollection.aspx 11



1/5/24, 8:04 AM 2021-22 Title II, Part A Fiscal Year Expenditure Report, Closeout 27 Months Data Entry (CARS) (CA Dept of Education)

..-TT:' CG ' i fornio Departmant of

% EDUCATION

CONSOLIDATED APPLICATION AND REPORTING SYSTEM (CARS)
Richmond Elementary (18 64170 0000000)

m Data Entry Forms I Certification Preview ” Certify Data IrRaports ” Users ” Contacts “ FAQs l

Program Information Data Entry Instructions

2021-22 Title 11, Part A Fiscal Year Expenditure Report, Closeout 27 Months

A report of year-to-date expenditures by activity. Activity period covered is July 1, 2021 through September 30, 2023.

Required fields are denoted with an asterisk (*).

Data saved successfully as a draft.

2021-22 Title |l, Part A allocation: $1,270
2021-22 Title 1l, Part A total apportionment $1,270
issued:

* Transferred—in amount: 0
* Transferred—out amount: 0

2021-22 Total allocation: $1,270 [Recalculate |

Professional Development Expenditures

* Professional development for teachers: 1270
* Professional development for 0
administrators:

* Consulting/Professional services: 0
* Induction programs: 0
* Books and other supplies: 0
* Dues and membership: 0
* Travel and conferences: 0

Personnel and Other Authorized Activities

* Certificated personnel salaries: 0
* Classified personnel salaries: 0
* Employee benefits: 0
* Developing or improving an evaluation 0
system:

* Recruitment activities: 0
* Retention activities: 0
* Class size reduction: 0

Program Expenditures

* Direct administrative costs: 0

https://www3.cde.ca.gov/cars/app/DataCollection/TitlelIPartA/Expenditures.aspx 1/2



1/5/24, 8:04 AM 2021-22 Title Il, Part A Fiscal Year Expenditure Report, Closeout 27 Months Data Entry (CARS) (CA Dept of Education)

* Indirect costs: 0
* Equitable services for nonprofit private 0
schools:

Total expenditures: $1,270
2021-22 Unspent funds: $0

Note: CDE will invoice the LEA for the
unspent 2021-22 total allocation

Last Saved: Jeanette Goni (jagoni), 1/5/2024 8:04 AM, Draft

rSave ] [Return to List |

Alice Ng (Fiscal), Division Support Office | ANg@cde.ca.gov | 916-323-4636
Lisa Fassett (Program), Professional Learning Support & Monitoring Office | LFassstt@cde.ca.gov | 916-323-4963
General CARS Questions: Consolidated Application Support Desk | conappsupport@cde.ca.gov | 916-319-0297

California Department of Education
1430 N Street Web Policy
Sacramento, CA 95814

https:/iwww3.cde.ca.gov/cars/app/DataCollection/TitlelIPartA/Expenditures.aspx 2/2



CALL TO ORDER

4.1

RICHMOND SCHOOL BOARD OF TRUSTEES
REGULAR MEETING
December 14, 2023
MINUTES

The meeting was called to order at 6:01 p.m. Led the flag salute.

MEMBERS PRESENT Sadie Albonico, Adam Runyan, Nick McBride, Tracy Langslet

MEMBERS ABSENT Daniel Bertotti

OTHERS PRESENT  Brian Boyer, Jeanette Goni, Shaun Giese, Jessica Solomon, Amy Matchniff

PUBLIC COMMENT

No Public Comment

ANNUAL BOARD ORGANIZATION

ELECTION OF
PRESIDENT 31
ELECTION OF

CLERK 3.2
SIGNATURES 3.3
BOARD REP LASSEN

CO COMMITTEE 34

SECRETARY TO

BOARD 3.5
BOARD BYLAW

9100 3.6
BOARD BYLAW

9320 3.7
2024 MEETING
CALENDAR 3.8
2024 AGENDA
CALENDAR 3.9
SELPA REP 3.10

MSCU (Runyan/Langslet) to elect Sadie Albonico as Board President.

MSCU (Runyan/Langslet) to elect Nick McBride as Clerk of the Board.

MSCU (McBride/Runyan) approved the verification of authorized
signatures.

MSCU (Runyan/McBride) approved Tracy Langslet as the Board
Representative to elect members to the Lassen County Committee on
School District Organization.

MSCU (Langslet/McBride) appointed Brian Boyer as Secretary to the
Board.

The Board reviewed Board Bylaw 9100 Organization. There were no
changes.

The Board reviewed Board Bylaw 9320, Meetings and Notices. There
were no changes.

MSCU (McBride/Langslet) approved the Board Meeting Calendar for
2024.

MSCU (Langslet/Runyan) approved the Board Agenda Calendar for 2024.

MSCU (Runyan/McBride) designated Brian Boyer as representative to the
Lassen County SELPA



Minutes (Cont.) Page 2 December 14, 2023

AGENDA
APPROVAL MSCU (Runyan/McBride) approved the agenda.
RCA
RCA REPORT 51.1 No Report
Superintendent Report
SCHOOL
UPDATES 52.1 The Superintendent updated the Board on the following:
- PLC’s every other Wednesday going well
- ELOP (3 non-instructional days during Winter Break)
- Girls Basketball season has ended
7% grade girls team placed 1% at the Janesville Tournament
- Christmas Program scheduled for December 20®
- ELOP during Thanksgiving Break (3 days)
- Rebel News Report Online (Videography)
- P.E. Testing
CA HEALTHY KIDS
SURVEY 522 The Superintendent reported that 5™ and 7 grades are the minimum
grades required to complete the survey. Grades 5 through 8 took the
survey.

Director of Buildings and Grounds

BLDG & GROUNDS

REPORT 53.1 Shaun Giese, Facility Manager, reported that the new custodian, Dylan
Langston, was doing well. The storage containers have been organized.
The shop is currently being cleaned up and organized. There was
discussion regarding the condition of the modular ramps; specifically the
classrooms for grades 6 through 8.

KING CONSULTING

PRESENTATION 53.2 April Thompson with King Consulting joined via Zoom to provide a
presentation regarding funding for facilities. The State School Facility
Program was the focus of the presentation. Ms. Thompson discussed
processing timelines, calculating eligibility, processing and reporting, and
reviewed the district’s current Facility Master Plan 2020. Ms. Thompson
recommended that the district should revisit the master plan.

Certificated Staff and Classified Staff Report

CERTIFICATED

STAFF 54.1 Jessica Solomon provided an update of academics and activities in grades
TK/K through 8.

CLASSIFIED

STAFF 54.2 No Report



Minutes (Cont.)

Page 3 December 14, 2023

Curriculum/Student Performance

No Report
Business
BOARD BYLAW
9320 71 Reviewed and discussed in Annual Board Organization of meeting.
15T INTERIM
BUDGET 72 Jeanette Goni reviewed the 1% Interim Budget for the 2023-24 school year.
RESOLUTION
23/24-5 73  MSCU (Runyan/Langslet) approved Resolution 23/24-5 - Approving
Budget Revisions.
CLASSIFIED

SUNSHINE 24/25 74

KITCHEN CABINETS
PURCHASES 75
HIRE SPECIAL ED
TEACHER 7.6
Minutes

8.1
Policy

9.1

(Langslet/Runyan) to approve the Richmond Classified Sunshine Letter
regarding 24/25 negotiations.

Ayes - McBride, Runyan, Langslet
Abstain - Albonico

Shaun provided quotes for the Board to review from Gold Run Cabinet &
Door and Home Depot. He recommended going with Gold Run Cabinet
& Door.

MSCU (McBride/Langslet) approved the purchase of Kitchen Cabinets up
to $20,000 with Gold Run Cabinet & Door.

MSCU (Langslet/Albonico) approved to hire a Special Ed Teacher,
Christina Blackburn, on a Short-Term Waiver.

MSCU (Runyan/McBride) approved the minutes of the regular meeting on
November 9, 2023.

MSCU (Runyan/Langslet) adopted Final Reading of Board Policy 2023

Updates
E 1113-E(2)  District and School Websites
BP 1160 Political Processes
BP 1330 Use of School Facilities
AR 1330 Use of School Facilities
AR 3311 Bids
BP 3312 Contracts
BP 3460 Financial Reports and Accountability
BP 3551 Food Service Operations/Cafeteria Fund



Minutes (Cont.) Page 4 December 14, 2023

AR 3551 Food Service Operations/Cafeteria Fund

BP 4112.2  Certification

AR 4112.2  Certification

BP 4140 Bargaining Units

BP 4240 Bargaining Units

BP 4340 Bargaining Units

BP 4151 Employee Compensation

BP 4251 Employee Compensation

BP 4351 Employee Compensation

AR 4217.3 Layoff/Rehire

AR 4261.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave

AR 4161.2 DPersonal Leaves

AR 4261.2 Personal Leaves

AR 4361.2 Personal Leaves

AR 4161.8 Family Care and Medical Leave

AR 4261.8 Family Care and Medical Leave

AR 4361.8 Family Care and Medical Leave

BP 5141.5  Mental Health

BP 5145.6  Parent/Guardian Notifications

E 5145.6-E(2) Parent/Guardian Notifications

BP 6159.2  Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School and Agency Services
for Special Education

AR 7140 Architectural and Engineering Services

BB 9124 Attorney

BB 9322 Agenda/Meeting Materials

Warrants
10.1  MSCU(McBride/Runyan) approved the warrant list(s) for December
General: $ 42,313.51
Cafeteria: 6.404.49
$ 48,718.00
Correspondence

No Correspondence

Information: Comments from Board Members

No Comments from Board Members



Minutes (Cont.) Page 5 December 14, 2023
Closed Session

131 The Board met in Closed Session regarding Board Consideration of
Appeal — Uniform Complaint (Board Policy/Administrative Regulation
1312.3)

The Board will hear and vote on whether to grant the appeal of Complaint
regarding a Superintendent Level Response to a Confidential Uniform
Complaint

132 Pursuant to Government Code Section 54954.5, the Board met regarding
Public Employee Evaluation of Performance
- Superintendent/Principal

Reconvene Open Session

141 No Action Take in Closed Session

ADJOURNMENT
Having no further business, the regular meeting adjourned at 8:35 p.m.



RICHMOND SCHOOL BOARD MEETING

January 11, 2023

BILL WARRANT TOTALS

DECEMBER Bills - Batch #17

q.1

FUND 01 GENERAL $ 28,758.45
FUND 13 CAFETERIA $ 4,196.51
FUND 14 DEFERRED MAINTENANCE $ 0.00
FUND 25 DEVELOPER FEES $ 0.00
FUND 40 CAPITAL OUTLAY $ 0.00
TOTAL MONEY PAID $ 32,954.96
TOTAL MONEY PAID $32,954.96




00'L8%'S x 00°L8PD'S LNIOWY INIWAY] TY.LOL
0s"EpL'E 0S E%L'Z 4 NN 00-000-0TTL-0000-0085-0-0000-T0 2 SADIAYAS FAILVOILSIHANI 0TE€S €Z0Z/S0/ZT 20TO%Z-0d ZOTO%Z
0S°€E¥L'C 0S"€E%L'2 4 NN 00-000-00TL-0000-0085-0-0000-T0 T SOAS FAILVDILSHANI 0ZES €20Z2/S0/2T Z0T0¥Z-0d 20T0%2Z

SZ8596 VWD 'OLNAWYIOVYS
00Z HALINS
ANNFAY ALISAYIAINO €E€E
dTT YIAADONL 3 SNIAILS 'SAIYMAT  00/E€FTTOT

00°'0LT * 00°0LT INNOWY INTWAYL TYIOL
00°0LT NN 00-000-00T8-0000-0085-0-0ST8-T0 LASTY WYV DAS - $8GL% ANI €202/8T/ZT 98T0%Z-ad
22196 WO 'YIOLNO4
ayo¥ ATIZZI¥D TE0S
WIYIY 3 OINIDATH INTNND  00/Tv000T
00°000'T %+ 00°000°'T INNOWY INFWAYd TYIOL
00°000'T 00°000°T d NN 00-000-00ZL-0000-0085-0-0000-T0 T SEDIANES JIS-1I00 $€69T ANI €20Z/TE€/0T TOTO¥Z-0d TOTO0%Z
Z9LS6 WO ‘STIIH Oawdod ‘I
80%% Xod '0°'d
'ONI ‘WSO 00/TSLOOT
78616 x ¥8°6T6 INOOWY INIWAYE TYLOL
$8°616 8Z°LT6 d NN 00-000-000T-0TTT-00T%-0-00€9-T0 T TYLIDIA SYEAI 9I9 98LETOEB €Z0T/6Z/TT L600¥T-0Od L600%C
€PLI-E6TTE VWD 'VINVILY
EPLIEE X0d "0°'d
ONINYYAT HOVONID  00/TOTIOT
6L'00T + 6L°00T INOOWY INAWAYd TYLOL
6L°00T NN 00-000-000T-0TTT-00€%-0-0092-T0 SHITAINS dOTd - dWd €202/6T/TT 88T0PZ-Ad
0€ET96 YD 'TTIIANYSAS
ayod aNOWHOI¥ 0ST-ZL¥
JAINHOIYW AWNY  00/%%0T0T
junowy 38N 3wy b SdWel Aad-yos-oung-1eod-3[qo-x-083y-pa uoT3idraosaa 23eg  9dusxazSY bey
IBNYIXF-A wIs I -o SH A" unua JunodOHyY wnu yay w&u ua.mOnwwD wnu JgI XeL ueu JTWIY .HU@4\.HOUG®>
aNnd TYEEINID 0 puna
<< uado >> LT# STIIE DIA LTO0 *HOIVE

T IOVd 8€:60 €2/02/2T 22°00°'71 00SA4Y LSITANd ITHYAVd SINOODOY LTBT6L IDIULSIA TOOHOS WATH GNOWHOIN $10



00°989°¢€ * 00°989°'¢€ INQOWVY ILNHWAVd TTVIOL
00" €P8'T 00" €E¥8'T d AN 00-000-0TTL-0000-008S-0-0000-T0 € SEDIA¥ES TYOAT ID0 LSLTE €20Z/0Z/2T SOTOHZ-Od SOTO%HZ
00°€E%8'T 00°€%8'T d AN 00-000-00TL-0000-0085-0-0000-T0 T SHOIAMHES T¥OAT IDO LSLTE €20Z/T€/0T SO0TOHZ-Od SOTO®HT

0€956 YO 'WOSTO4

09T# ALIOS

dAT¥A AODJITO0O 009
477 QUYO0d AFTSONIN 00/%€500T

PT SLL'T x PTSLL'E LINOOWY INHWAVE TYIOL
18°21T 18°2T d NN 00-000-0028-0000-00€%-0-0000-T0 T SIITddNS TYIAOLSND T62TBOT €202/90/2ZT 90T0¥Z-0d 90T0VZ
$1°S22 ARE-t44 d NN 00-000-0028-0000-00€%-0-0000-T0 T SAITAANS TYIAOLSND 0SLZBOT €20Z/90/2T 90T0%Z-0d 90TOVZ
66 FLE'T 66 HLE'T d NN 00-000-00Z28-0000-00€%-0-0000-T0 I SAITddNS TYIAOLSAD 852C80T €Z0Z/ST/TIT 90T0¥Z-Od 90TO®Z
0T°29T'T 0Z'29T'T d NN 00-000-0028-0000-00€%-0-0000~-T0 T SHITAANS TYIAOLSND S26280T €202/90/ZT 90T0¥Z-0d 90T0O¥T
0TS68 AN 'ONHY
8%00T XO€ Od
ONI ANVAWOD ATIddNS ANVINI  00/T€000T
0T 9€E x 0T°9€E INQOWY INTWAYE TYLOL
0T’ 9€EE 0T " 9€€ 4 NN 00-000-002%-0TTT-00€%-0-0000-T0 T STIVELENSYE SAOH 00E6EENI £20Z2/€T/2ZT 6600%2-0d 6600%C
$E9G-58PSS NW ‘SITOIYANNNIW
0S%T X0d 04
P E9SMN
INOdS ¥HAHJOD  00/92TT00T
00°60T x 00°60T INOOWY INAWAV TYLOL
00 €€ 00" €€ d NN 00-000-00T8-0000-0085-0-0ST8-T0 T ONILSEL ¥ALYM VZTI86LE €Z0Z/ET/ZT ZEOO0%T-Od Z€00%2
00°9L 00°9L d NN 00-000-00T8-0Q00-0085-0-0ST8-T0 T ONILSEL ¥ILYM VIT86LE €Z0Z/E€T/ZT 2€00%Z-0d Z£00%2
090€6 VWD 'YINVd YINVS
IATYLS NOLLWMOJUOD €S58
TYININNONTIANE TOd  00/LZ800T
junowy 33N Juy bt SAW6L dQ-YoS-doung-Teon-3[qo-&-0say-pd uotadraosaqa 93®eQ sousaxazay bey
I9NPIXT-H wasI-d Sd 49 uwnu Jumnoddy Uunu ¥aYy w&\ﬂu u._”mOnme wnu I Xeg JWBeU JTuay Hﬂﬁ4\H0@Cm>
aNQd TYIENTD 10 ¢ pung
<< uadp >> LTH# STIIE DEA LTI0O ‘HOIVH

4 FOV¥d 8€:60 €2/0T/TT 22°00°1T 00SXd¥ LSITHId HTEYAYd SINNODDY LT8T6L IOI™ULSIA TOOHDS WHTH ONOWHDIY %TO



00°SZ¥ * 00°5CV% INOOWY INEWANYd TYLOL

00°SZ¥% 00°52Z% d NN 00-000-00TL-0000-00£5-0-0000-T0 T dIHSYAGWRIW ¥ASS $2-€2 €202/0Z/2T £0T0%Z-0d €0T0%C
$T8S6 WO 'OLNHWWEOVS
00ZT ALINS
LATILS T SZ6
¥ass  00/€0300T
00°009°'€ « 00°009°€E INONOWY INAWAYd TYLOL
00°009°'€ 00°009°¢ d NN 00-000-000T-0TTT-0085-0-0000-T0 T OUYS ® SOAS AOD ¥Z-€£Z €202/0Z/2T %0T0%Z-Od $0T0%Z
9T86-LLTE9 OW 'SINOT IS
OLPTLL X08 "0°d
FTEYATADTY SLNOODOY
¥RIS  00/8€LOOT
L1081 + LT708T INNOWY INAWAYd TYIOL
LT 08T NN 00-000-0TTT-09L5-00€%-0-0059-T0 SHITIANS WOONSSYID - TG9E6T9E €202/6T/2T 6810%2-Ad
0090-T0T6T VW4 ‘VIHdTHAVIIHA
009LE X0d€ "0°d
NOILWEOd¥0D TTIIN0  00/Z€900T
S6°%9 » S6°%9 INNOWY INHWAYd TYIOL
S6°%9 S6°%9 d NN 00-000-002L-0000-0065-0-0000-T0 T ANVEaYOodda DHd €20Z/0€/TT 2000%Z-0d 2000%2
LG0T-22T96 WO '¥IOLIOd
LSOT X0€ "0°d
WODHTAL W¥IAIS-SYWATd  00/0Z0T0T
SL" 8T * SL°8C INOOWY INAWAYd TYLOL
SL'8C NN 00-000-000T-0TTI-00E€EP-0-00€9-TO SAITAdNS WOOASSYID - €EW¥ £202/TT/2T L8TO%Z-Ad
0€T96 VYO 'TTIIANYSAS
Yo A¥HHONY d10 0S0-00L
ATIT-VEY VANIT  00/2%600T
JUNoOuy 3SN Juy bt SdW6L aQ-yods-oung-ieon-3Lqo-i-os9d-pd uotidraosaa 83eq opuazagey bay
FOUIAXH-3F wrsg-=a SH dd unu Junoddy unu ydy Onw\mu u._.nmonmwﬂ unu gl Xern SWRU JTway Hﬂ@i\NOUEm\w
aNQd TYIENAD 10 ¢ pung
<< uadp >> LT# STIIE DHA LTOO0 :HOIVE

€ FOVd BE:60 €2/02/ZT 2Z°00°1T 00SAdvY LSITMId HTEYAYd SINNODIY LIBT6L IDIYLSIA TOOHDS WATH ANOWHOIM ¥T0



S¥°85L°82Z

$1°926'T
L5296
LS"'Z96

LS Z96
LS 296

66'0%S'S
08°98T
v6°08
86°L6T
00°00¢€
00°SL
9" T9%
€8'S

zz gTs'e
T9°60L

zzrees'e
T9°60L

[ =)

T0°S0T‘2
TV €98
09°192'1

17 €98
09°192'T

LS P0€E
0E"BET
LY 6T
96" LCT
v8°8T

EE

EEEEEEEEE

EEEEZ

«x SP°8GL'8BEC

+ PT1°G26°T
00-000-000T-0TTT-00€H-0-00€3-TO
00-000-000T-0TTT-00€%-0-0092~-10

% 66°095'S
00-000-0028-0000-00€%-0-0000-T0
00-000-000T-0TTT-00€¥%-0-0092-T0O
00-000-00T8-0000-00EP-0-0ST8-TO
00-000-00T8-0000-008S-0-0ST8-TO
00-000-0TTT-09L5-00€%-0-0059-T0O
00-000-00T78~0000-00€£%-0-0ST8-TO
00-000-00T8-0000-00€%-0-0ST8-T0
00-000-00L€E-0000-00%%-0-ZE0L-TO
00-000-00T8-0000-00€%-0-0ST8-TO

x T0°G0T'2

» LS'P0E
00-000-00T8-0000-00€%-0-05T8-T0
00-000-00T8-0000-00E%-0-0ST8-T0
00-000-00T8B-0000-00€%-0-0ST8-T0O
00-000-00TB-0000-00€%-0-0STB-TOQ

LNANAYd

Z

T

d NN 00-000-00Z28-0000-0€55-0-0000-T0 T
d NN 00-000-00Z8-0000-0€55-0-0000-T0 T

pungd TYLOL

LNNOWY LNAWAYd TYLOL

MO¥d 2T HSVA LTOZTINOM £€20Z/%1/¢T 00TO0HZ-Od 00102
MO¥d 2T HSYQ LTOZTINOM €202/%T/ZT 00T0HZ-Od 00TO0%C

LNOOWY LNIWAYd TYLOL

doT1da

ONI

SHITAANS FDIAIO €202/22/TT
d0A SADYNS - ODISOD €202/2Z/11T
SHITddNS €202/22/11

TYINTY dILSAWNA QIYA 0€ £202/22/TT

ILNOOWY LNAWAYd TYIOL

INNOWY LNIWAYd TYLOL

WOTNDIINAD HIVW qads €z0zZ/zzZ/1T
SAITddNS €202/22Z/TT

SHITA4NS €202/2Z/TT

YINRIYM 004 NIAHOLIN €202/2Z/TT
¥00d DINWd €202/2Z/1T

82%0-6LTES
82706L XOH
INEWAYd JLVE04U0D MNNVH

ANVd0dd 96F0TTOT €Z0Z/ET/ZT
ANVYdOodd L6FOTTOT €20Z/eT/2T

'dOHSNUOM YAANOM

00/S%TTOT

T0Z0%2-Ad
00Z0%Z-Ad
66T0PZT-Ad
LETO¥Z-Ad
96T0%Z-Ad
S6T0PZ-Ad
Y6T10vZ-Ad
¥800%Z-0d $800%C
T800%Z-0d T800%C

OW 'SINOT IS

‘0°d

‘s'n 00/L%L00T

9L00%2-0d SL00%C
9.00%Z-0d 9L00%Z

6€€0~-T09L6 WO 'STIVA HIVWYIA
88% XO€ "0O°d

junowy 3aN  Jwy btT
FoUIXH-3 wWISL-¥ ST FI

4

gOvd 8€:60 €2/02/2T TZ'00°11

aa-yos-osund-Teon-3Lqo-x1-0894-pd
wunu JUneoooy wnu yYay

aANQd TYYENID

<< uadp >>

00SAavY LSITHEd

LT# S'TIIE DAQ LTOO

adA3 aTtsodag wnu aI

10 pung

‘HOLVE

ATHYAYd SINOODOY

gd 'suog % gnels 00/9€000T
SAITddNS - 8€LTZS €20Z/6T/2T €6TO0%Z-Ad
SHITAdAS - 99€TZS £€20Z/50/2T ZT6TOPZ-Ad
SAITAdNS - SE€0TZS €202/TZ/TIT T6TO0¥Z-Ad
53I1ddNS - TZOTZS €20Z/0Z/IT 06T0%Z-Ad
9%926 WO 'HOVIE NOILONILNOH
AONIAY SWYAY SP06
TIYM@IYH 30V HTIIANVYSAS 00/€T000T
uotadiaosag a3eq sousaagay bay
xel, sweu JTWSY IPPY/IOpusa

LT8T6L IDI™LSIA TOOHDS WATI ONOWHOIY %10



96° %56

TS 96T

08°TOL
08°TOE

I8° €66
T8 €66

(A 2-]]
ze ess

£9°08L
08°%%2Z
EL'TPHT
6% '¥vEC
19769

S6°9¢€2
08°66
ST LET

4 00°0 xxx 96°%56°CE

'y #x TS'96T'¥F

+ 08°70€
NN 00-000-00LE-0000-00L%-0-0TES-ET

x 18°€66'T
NN 00-000-00L€-0000-00L%~-0-0TES-ET

‘T
‘T

* TE'EDS
NN 00-000-00LE-0000-00L%-0-0TES-ET

+ £9°08L
NN 00-000-00L€-0000-00L%-0-0TES-ET
NN 00-000-00L€-0000-00€EP-0-0TES-ET
NN 00-000-00LE-0000-00L%-0-0TES-€T
NN 00-000-00LE-0000-00€%-0-0TES-€T

x S6°9€C
NN 00-000-00L£-0000-00L%-0-0TES-ET
NN 00-000-00L€-0000-004%-0-0TES-ET

LNIWAYD

LNAWAYd HOLVE TYLOL
pung TYLOL
INOOWY INZWAYd TYELOL
aood - ODILSOD £20Z/2Z/1T 8610%Z-Ad
OW ’'SINOT I8

8Z%06L X0d "0O°4
INHWAYd HLYEO4YOD ANVd "S°Q

82%0-6LTE9

00/L¥%L00T

LNOOWY INFWAYd TYLOL

daood - TTO6SLTIEH ANI €Z0Z/%0/ZT SBTIOHZ-Ad
YO OLNIWYIOVS
LOOBET X0d '0°'d

SDOAS Q004 ODSAS

L008-£18%96

OLNAWYADYS A0 00/06600T

INOQOWY LNAWAYd TVIOL

aood - LZTZT ANI €202/%0/ZT ¥8T0%Z-Ad
71196 YO 'ATIIASANYL
L80T XO€ "0°d
A¥OLOYA ¥ZZId  00/%T1S00T
INNOWY INFWAYd TYLOL
aood - 80%96€ ANI €Z0Z/€T/TT €8T0%Z-Ad
SAITAINS - B0PIGE ANI €Z0Z/ET/ZT €8T0PZ-Ad
aood - 6€€£96€ ANI €Z0T/90/2T Z8T0%Z-Ad
SEITIANS - 6EE96€ ANI €20Z/90/ZT Z8T0%Z-Ad
0€T96 VO 'ETIIANYSAS
68T XO€ 0d
ONI A¥OTO ONINJOW  00/SS000T

LNOOWY INHWAYd TVIOL
Qood - 6Z9TBIE ANI €20Z/%T/ZT T8TIO0¥Z-Ad
aood - 6T66L9E ANI €20Z/L0/ZT 08T0¥Z-Ad
TEV68 AN SNUYdS
709 X0"€ "0°'d

0D HONAO¥d VZNYNOH 00/%0600T

Junowy
IRNAIXE

S

=N Juy bty SdW6L aa-yds-oung-Teod-31Lqo-x-0898-pa

uotidraossa a3%eq aousixsgay bay

-¥ wIaL-A SH BH WNU JUNCOOY  WnU YEY adAy 31sodag wnu QI xel sweu 3TwSY IPPY/IOPUSA
YIVALAICD €T ¢ pung
<< uadp >> LT# STII9 DEA LTIOO ‘HOIVE

gOVd 8E€:60 €2/0Z/2T 22°00°'11 00SXav LSITAa¥d

ATEYAYd SINNODOY LTBT6L ILDOIWILSIA TOOHDS WETH ANOWHOIM ¥TO



96" ¥56°2Z¢E "BMOTJISAO nis 03 8Np SPToA BUTIUNOD 30U ‘€ ipejutad aq 03 SYOIYD JO IaqunN

96°%S6°Z¢ 00°0 xxxx 96°%56'C€ PSILOIMLSIA TTIVY ¥0d TNLIOL
96°'¥56‘'2¢ 00°0 *nxx 96°956°2€ LNHNAYE IDI¥LSIA TYLOL
Junowy 38N Juy bro SdAW6L Ad-Yos-oung-1eod-3[qo-i-0894-pd uoT3idransag ?3eq  sousxsley baw
JONIXT-T WADL-7 ST HHE uNu JUNODOY  WNU YEY adA3 3tesodeg wnu @I xesg Sweu 3ITWIY IPPY/IOPUsSA
YINALIITD €T ¢ pung
<< uadp >> LTH# STITIE DEAA LTO0 FHOLVE

9 gOYd 8€:60 €2/02/2T ZZ'00°1T 00SA4Y LSITHId JTIYAYd SLNNODOY LT8T6L LDOIMLSIA TOOHDS WHTIH QNOWHOIN %10



